
 
 

 
 

 
NOTIFICATION TO ATTEND MEETING OF THE SOUTH EAST AREA COMMITTEE 

 
TO BE HELD REMOTELY ON ZOOM  

 
ON MONDAY 14 JUNE 2021 AT 2.30 PM 

 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

MONDAY 14 JUNE 2021
  PAGE 
 
1   Presentation on Strategic Housing Development SHD0010/21: Location: 

Maxol Filling Station and a vacant motor sales/service garage (formerly 
Michael Grant Motors), Beach Road, Dublin 4. 
 
SHD0010/21 Location: Maxol Filling Station and a vacant motor sales/service 
garage (formerly Michael Grant Motors), Beach Road, Dublin 4. 
Description: Residential Development – Demolition of all existing buildings and 

construction of 112 no. apartments and communal space including gym, lounge, 

work space, bookable room, office and parcel store and associated site works. 

The last date for observations/submissions on this application, if validated, is 

Thursday, 24th June 2021. 

 
 

7 - 34 

2   Presentation regarding D12 Bike Bus   
 

35 - 42 

3   Minutes of the South East Area Committee Meeting held on 10th May 2021   
 

43 - 88 

4   Minutes of the Special Meeting of the South East Area Committee held on 
25th May 2021   

89 - 90 

WEBCASTING NOTICE 
 
This meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the Council’s website. At the start of the meeting the Chair will confirm 
if all or part of the meeting is being filmed. 
 
You should be aware that the Council is subject to the Freedom of Information Act 2014, the Data Protection Act 1988 and 2018, 
General Data Protection Regulations (EU) 2016/679 and the Defamation Act 2009. Data collected during this webcast will be retained 
in accordance with the legislation. 
 
Therefore, by entering the Council Chamber/Meeting Room and using the seats around the meeting tables, public gallery etc., you are 
consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting. 
 
If you have any queries regarding this, please contact the Chief Executives Department on Extn. 2101 or DD (01) 222 2100. 

 



 

 
5   Environment and Transportation Department Matters 

 
i. Minutes of the Traffic Advisory Group Meeting held on 25th May 2021. 

 
ii. Verbal update on Traffic Matters by Brendan O’Brien. 

 

91 - 96 

6   Planning and Property Development Department Matters 
 

i. Report on proposed disposal: Grant of licence plot adjacent to 1 Strand 
Terrace, Milltown. 
 

ii. Report on proposed disposal: Grant of licence all-weather pitch Brickfields 
Park, Drimnagh to St. John Bosco FC. 
 

iii. Report on proposal to initiate the process to add 152 Harold’s Cross Road, 
Dublin 6W to the Record of Protected Structures. 
 

iv. Report on proposal to initiate the process to add Garland House, 28 – 30 
Rathmines Park, Rathmines, Dublin 6 to the Record of Protected 
Structures. 

 

97 - 142 

7   South East Area Office Matters 
 

i. Nominate a member to replace Cllr. Patrick Costello on the Dodder 
Greenway Steering Committee. 
 
The councillors nominated to the Dodder Greenway Steering Group in 
2019 were: 
  
DCC  
Cllrs. Patrick Costello, James Geoghegan and Dermot Lacey  
  
DLRCC  
Cllrs. Shay Brennan, Eva Elizabeth Dowling and Peter O’Brien  
  
SDCC 
Cllrs. Mick Duff, Mary Seery Kearney and Emma Murphy 
 

ii. Report of the Director of Services South City. 
 

143 - 
160 

8   Culture Recreation and Economic Services Department Matters 
 

i. Report on South East Area Trees and Planting in 2021. 
 

ii. Report on Ringsend Park Playground 
 

161 - 
172 

9   Motions 
 
Motion 1 from Councillor Dermot Lacey 
This committee requests that a working group be established to review future use 
of the former School of Music building now vacated by the CDETB which could 
include cultural use such as artists’ studios, exhibition space, music celebration 
and much more and requests the Chief Executive to ensure that no proposal for a 
disposal of this building be brought to council prior to such a working group 
making a recommendation to council. 
 

 



 

Motion 2 from Councillor Paddy McCartan 
That the South East Area Committee welcome the proposed Ringsend District 
Heating System which will use hot water produced by the incinerator to pump 
heat directly to homes. Given that the incinerator has the potential to heat 60% 
more homes than originally proposed, that Sandymount and its environs be added 
to the areas already included of Poolbeg, Ringsend, Irishtown and Docklands.  
 
Motion 3 from Councillor Mary Freehill 
That the Traffic Department examines the pedestrian crossing beside Harold’s 
Cross Park.  The new school on Harold’s Cross Road has considerably increased 
the child pedestrian traffic to the park, so the positioning of the crossing along with 
the issue of traffic emerging from the slip road at the top of the park coming from 
Lower Kimmage Road adds to safety issues and raises the question of whether 
the current crossing is fit for purpose. 
 
Motion 4 from Councillor Mary Freehill 
That we receive a report on grass cutting practices.  Since grass cutting has been 
contracted out, it seems that grass is cut with a machine that cannot deal with 
edges corners.  It is agreed therefore by this committee that DCC revisits its 
maintenance standards in this regard which will bring about an improvement in 
grass maintenance. 
 
Motion 5 from Councillor Mary Freehill 
I refer to a motion I tabled to this committee over a year ago asking that the public 
seating be updated at the Swan Leisure Centre.  So far nothing has been done 
furthermore it is important that the current seating is positioned in a way that it 
allows for tables and chairs outside the Leisure Centre, especially in the current 
climate.  It is again agreed that the council act on our already agreed motion in 
this regard. 
 
Motion 6 from Councillor Mary Freehill 
That this committee agrees to offer Kimmage Rathmines as a pilot area for Wi-Fi 
to be installed in all public parks (HX Park already agreed) and public areas i.e. 
the Swan Plaza and that we work with Smart Cities to install notice boards that 
can update residents of services and events.  It may be necessary to set up a 
working group to monitor the process of this pilot. 
 
Motion 7 from Councillors Anne Feeney, Carolyn Moore, Pat Dunne and 
Tara Deacy 
That this Committee requires the Head of Traffic and Transport and the Head of 
Parks to provide Councillors representing the Kimmage Rathmines LEA, to 
present clear parking and traffic management options for trialling in Rathdown, 
Terenure, as a matter of urgency.   
 
This issue has been raised on numerous occasions with the Traffic Department 
by Councillors and local residents and a meeting took place on 3rd February with 
DCC traffic engineers, with no further meaningful engagement or 
recommendations since then.  A motion was passed at the SEAC meeting on 
10th May where a commitment was given that the traffic engineers would present 
their findings back to Councillors by 21/5/21, following which a consultation 
meeting would be arranged with residents. This has still not happened and the 
delay is unacceptable.   
 
Motion 8 from Councillors Anne Feeney, Carolyn Moore and Tara Deacy 
That this Committee requests that Dublin City Council commence an assessment 
and review of ongoing drainage issues at the laneway and lands at the rear of 
Brighton Square East and Garville Avenue, Rathgar.  This review should happen 



 

as soon as possible, with a view to having this long standing issue resolved prior 
to any new significant planning applications being approved in the vicinity of the 
lane. 
 
Motion 9 from Councillors Anne Feeney, Carolyn Moore, Pat Dunne and 
Tara Deacy 
That this Committee calls on the City Parks Superintendent to implement 
temporary/permanent public toilet facilities in Bushy Park for the summer months 
of June, July and August.  The padel and tennis courts have toilets, but they are 
only open to customers, not the general public using the park.  There are two 
football changing room buildings with toilets, but they too, are not available to the 
public.  DCC’s provision of toilets at Terenure Library is not adequate, given the 
library is some distance away.   Tymon Park, Marlay Park, St. Enda’s Park and 
other parks in adjacent council areas are well catered for with public toilet 
facilities, but this is not the case in our beautiful parks in the Dublin City Council 
area.   
 
Motion 10 from Councillor Danny Byrne 
That this area committee would seek to fit all our parks and playgrounds with 
wheelchair swings. These swings would increase inclusiveness for children using 
wheelchairs and would bring them great joy.  
 
Motion 11 from Councillor Carolyn Moore 
This committee will undertake to demonstrate its commitment to making our parks 
more welcoming, inclusive and enjoyable to all by identifying a suitable accessible 
playground in each of the South East Area’s local electoral areas for the 
installation of ability swings which can be enjoyed by children who use 
wheelchairs.  
 
Motion 12 from Councillor Mary Freehill 
Aware that a considerable number of people in the Rathmines area suffered 
severe isolation due to Covid shutdown; that the council facilitate through the 
library or any other venue an opportunity for people to express their experience 
and observations through various artistic media i.e. visual art, stories etc.  Also 
that this work is done in collaboration with local organisations such as Gateway. 
 
Motion 13 from Councillors James Geoghegan and Anne Feeney 
That the South East Area Committee agrees that an underground car park should 
form part of the Gulistan Depot Site Development Plans.  
 
Motion 14 from Councillors James Geoghegan  
That the South East Area Committee requests that additional bike parking be 
installed in Bushy Park as a matter of priority.  
 
Motion 15 from Councillor James Geoghegan  
That the South East Area Committee agrees that the waste department and the 
parks department would set out in writing to the committee exactly what additional 
resources they believe their departments require to meet the demands of 
intermittent increases in outdoor activity in parks and public spaces on good 
weather days and weekends. 
 
Motion 16 from Councillor Tara Deacy  
That this committee agree to establish a sub group to begin the work and 
discussion needed for the implementation of a sensory garden for the 
Crumlin/Kimmage area as was agreed last year.  
 
Motion 17 from Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 



 

That this Area Committee agrees to write to local off licences and request the 
cessation of alcohol sales after 9 pm as a means of curbing anti-social behaviour. 
 
Motion 18 from Councillor Claire Byrne 
That this Area Committee agrees to write to the Minister for Housing, Local 
Government & Heritage confirming our support for real time water 
quality monitoring and systematic sampling testing of 10 locations in Dublin 
Bay 365 days of the year for a period of at least 24 months. We also support the 
implementation of the continual operation of the Ultraviolet (UV) treatment facility 
in the Dublin Waste Water Treatment Facility in Ringsend throughout the year. 
We ask that these measures be actively pursued as means to improve 
water quality for marine life and real t ime information for recreational 
users.  
 
Motion 19 from Councillor Pat Dunne 
This committee requests the Area Manager to have our Transport Advisory Group 
put in place pedestrian and cycling safety measures such as pedestrian crossings 
in the vicinity of the post office at the corner of Old County Road and Clonard 
Road, Dublin 12. 
 
Constant traffic and poor parking makes access to the post office dangerous for 
pedestrians, particularly elderly people.  
 
Motion 20 from Councillor Pat Dunne 
This committee requests the Area Manager to have our Transport Advisory Group 
put in place traffic calming, cycling and pedestrian safety measures on Herberton 
Road, Dublin 12. 
 
Motion 21 from Councillor Pat Dunne 
This committee requests the Area Manager to seek to have future Development 
Levies from the proposed SHDs in Drimnagh ring fenced as a funding source for 
community infrastructure in the Local area.  
 
In the meantime to begin taking actions as outlined in the Drimnagh Area Plan as 
presented in April 2021 and to work in unison with the Dublin South Central Area 
Committee to achieve its implementation. 
 

10   Questions for the Chief Executive 14th June 2021   
 

173 - 
182 

 





STRATEGIC HOUSING 
DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION

Maxol Filling Station and former Michael Grant 
Motors

Beach Road, Dublin 4

(Site of 0.385 hectares)P
age 7



Summary of Strategic Housing 
Development (SHD) Process

• Applications for development in excess of 100 dwellings or 
200 student accommodation bedspaces are made directly 
to An Bord Pleanala

• Pre-application consultations take place with the planning 
authority and An Bord Pleanala prior to lodgement

• An Bord Pleanala give an opinion on whether the proposal 
constitutes a reasonable basis for an application

• Application is lodged

• Presentation made to elected members

• A Chief Executive’s Report is forwarded from Dublin City 
Council to An Bord Pleanala within eight weeks of 
lodgement of the application. This includes a summary of 
views expressed by elected members

P
age 8



Application Details
Planning Authority Reg. Ref: SHD0010/21

An Bord Pleanala Reference: ABP-310299-21

Applicant: Maxol Property Ltd

Location: Maxol Filling Station and former Michael Grant Motors, Beach 
Road, Dublin 4

Site Area: 0.385hectares 

Zoning: Z1 – ‘to protect, provide and improve residential amenities’.

Existing Uses on Site: Petrol station with ancillary retail unit, car 
showroom (vacant)

Brief Description: 112 apartments with communal spaces, in a six-storey 
building over a basement level with 79 car spaces and 224 bicycle spaces

Total gross floor area: 12,273m2 including basement and single storey 
25m2 ESB substation/switchroom 

P
age 9



Consultations with Dublin City Council 

1 April 2020

2 July 2020 

Consultation with An Bord Pleanala

16 December 2020

Opinion received from An Bord Pleanala

Application Lodged 

21 May 2021

Prescribed bodies notified

Website address https://beachroadshd.ie

Last date for observations: 

24 June 2021 

P
age 10

https://beachroadshd.ie/


Documentation submitted includes:
• Application form

• Planning Report

• Statement of Consistency

• Material Contravention Statement

• Statement of Response to An Bord Pleanala Opinion

• Part V drawings

• Traffic/Transportation Impact Assessment and Travel Plan

• Car Parking Management Plan

• Mobility Management Plan

• Environmental Impact Assessment Screening, AA Screening and Natura Impact Statement

• Childcare Demand Audit

• Site Specific Flood Risk Assessment

• Landscape Report

• Daylight Assessment

• Social infrastructure Audit

• Housing Quality Assessment

• Architectural Design Statement

P
age 11



Site Location Map

P
age 12



Existing Site Layout

P
age 13



Zoning
Z1 – ‘to protect, provide and improve residential amenities’

P
age 14



Planning History
2001/18

Permission granted for a five-storey building over basement

90 residential units proposed; permission granted for 83 
residential units

P
age 15



Development Permitted on Site 
(Live Permission)

P
age 16



Proposed Development

Demolish and remove all structures on site (total 1,311 m2) 

Construct a six-storey building (with set-backs at third, fourth 
and fifth floor levels) with 112 apartments (56 one-

bedroomed and 56 two-bedroomed) 

297m2 of communal space including a gym, lounge, work 
space, bookable room, office and parcel store

Single basement level (2,679m2) with 79 car parking spaces 
(including 2 car club spaces), 4 motorcycle spaces, 224 bicycle 

spaces and ancillary areas

Total gross floor area of the proposed development is 
12,273m2 including basement and single storey detached ESB 

substation/ switchroom

P
age 17



Proposed development also includes
Vehicular and pedestrian access from Beach Road with 

additional pedestrian access via Church Avenue

Private open space -balconies and terraces on the Beach Road 
and Church Avenue frontages and on the northwestern, 

southeastern and southwestern facades to the rear of the 
building

Semi-private and public open space at ground level

Hard and soft landscaping including boundary treatments, 
changes in levels, plant, PV panels, SUDs' measures including a 
green roof, 10 bicycle spaces at ground level, waste collection 

area, site excavation and development works

P
age 18



Key Statistics

• Site Area 3,850m2 (0.385ha)

• Gross floor area including basement: 12,237m2

• Plot Ratio 2.5

• Site Coverage 44%

• Residential Density – 291 dwellings per hectare

• Car Parking – 79 spaces

• Bicycle Parking – 224 at basement level and 10 at surface level

• Height – 6 storeys

• Residential Units - 112

• Residential Mix - 56 x one-bedroom , 56 x two-bedroom

• Dual Aspect - 50%

• Communal Open Space 700m2

• Public Open Space 392m2

P
age 19



Proposed Layout

P
age 20



Ground Floor Layout

P
age 21



Ground Floor Layout
Part V units outlined in yellow

P
age 22



Fifth Floor Layout

P
age 23



Proposed Elevations
Outline of permitted development shown in blue

P
age 24



Aerial View of Site

P
age 25



Proposed

P
age 26



Existing

P
age 27



Proposed

P
age 28



Existing

P
age 29



Proposed

P
age 30



Existing

P
age 31



Proposed

P
age 32



Existing

P
age 33



Proposed

P
age 34



D12BikeBus
Safe cycling in 
Dublin 12

Dublin City Council
South East Area
Committee Meeting

14th June 2021

P
age 35



Introduction

● D12 parents banding together to cycle with their children to school.

● Bike Bus enables and encourages people to cycle as a normal everyday 
activity

● Gives returning adults and children the skill and confidence to go and cycle 
independently

● We are also lobbying for better cycling infrastructure so our routes are safer 
and easier

P
age 36



Old Bike Bus New Bike Bus

P
age 37



The Experience

Audrey experience 
of lone child 

cycling to school

Geraldine and 
Joseph joining 

from Crumlin as 
new cyclists

Ciara cycling 
through the 

Walkinstown 
Roundabout with 5 

children

Eoin as parent of three  
and participant

Michelle as 
volunteer marshal 

on the bike bus 
giving her time 

freely

Hilary as parent of 
three and 

participant of the 
bike bus

Dwayne as parent 
and participant

P
age 38



We cannot think this is fine.

Our lived experience is that it is:

- Not safe
- Not lovely
- It is aggressive

- We are vulnerable road users and we feel threatened
- No space provided on roads
- Roads are not safe for cyclists

P
age 39



● Adapt the public space to make fair and equitable for all users

● Create transport initiatives

The Solution

We will know that a solution has been found when bike buses are no longer necessary

● Make the public space safe for all users

● Be smart on access in local areas

● Community engagement

P
age 40



Timeline

- Short Term (now)
- Temporary interventions 

- Longer Term (6-18 months)
- Permanent interventions

- Medium Term (3-6 months)
- Improvements to interventions

P
age 41



Questions?P
age 42



 
 

 
MINUTES OF THE SOUTH EAST AREA COMMITTEE MEETING 

 
HELD REMOTELY ON ZOOM ON MONDAY 10 MAY 2021 

 
 

 
The committee extended its condolences to the family, friends and colleagues of the late 
Cora Roche, formerly of the South Central Area Office of Dublin City Council. 
The committee extended its condolences to the McDermott family on the death of Enda 
McDermott. 
1   Minutes of the Special Meeting of the South East Area Committee held on 

6th April 2021 
Order: Agreed. 
 

 

2   Minutes of the South East Area Committee Meeting held on 12th April 2021 
Order: Agreed. 
 

 

3   Environment and Transportation Department Matters 
 

i. Report on D12 bike bus. 
Order: Deferred. 
 

ii. Minutes of the Traffic Advisory Group Meeting held on 27th April, 2021 
taken with motions 4, 6, 8 and 19. 
Order: Noted. 
 

iii. Verbal update from Brendan O’Brien. 
Order: Deferred. 

 

 

4   Planning and Property Management Department Matters 
 

i. Report on proposed disposal: 133 Upper Rathmines Road to HAIL 
Housing Association. 
Order: Deferred. 
 

ii. Report on proposed disposal grant of lease of lands at Donnybrook Road, 
Dublin 4 to the IRFU Leinster Branch in connection with the Dodder 
Greenway Cycle Route. 
Order: Agreed to recommend to City Council. 

 
iii. Report on proposed disposal: grant of further licence Tea rooms at Herbert 

Park to Lolly and Cook. 
Order: Agreed to recommend to City Council.  

 

 

Page 43



5   Culture, Recreation and Economic Services Department Matters 
 

i. Report on proposed container café and public toilet at Sean Moore Park. 
Order: Noted. 

 

 

6   South East Area Office Matters 
 

i. Report of the Director of Services, South City. 
Order: Noted. 

 

 

7   Motions 
 
Motion 1 from Councillor Mary Freehill 
In relation to the development of the Gulistan site, it is agreed that 1% (1% for Art 
scheme on publicly funded capital contracts since 1997) of the contract sums of all 
construction and development on the Gulistan site be devoted to public art which 
would be located on the civic space on the Gulistan site.  Furthermore that the 
council encourages discussion locally on how this art will be created.  
Order: Report to Councillor. 
 
Motion 2 from Councillor Mannix Flynn 
That this committee of DCC call on the Governors and those responsible for St. 
Bartholomew’s Church on Clyde Road, Ballsbridge to immediately address the 
issue of noise pollution from the ringing of their bells every hour throughout the 
night.  This issue was raised some time back and since then it has become an 
ongoing issue over the past year I have received many complaints from residents 
in the area that they cannot sleep and are being constantly woken up from the noise 
from the bells throughout the night. 
In recent years Ballsbridge area has had an influx of new residents and the ringing 
of these bells in the middle of the night is now tantamount to unacceptable social 
behaviour and is a major noise nuisance in the area.  
I am aware of the heritage issues here with these bells as are many residents and 
the manner in which these bells are constructed but this is no excuse in this day 
and age for the kind of disturbance the ringing of the bells causes. The residents in 
this area are a mix of very elderly and families and I call on my fellow councillors to 
support this motion and find solutions to enable this quiet neighbourhood to get a 
good night’s sleep.  
 
It is important to note that this sleep disturbance has a really negative impact on 
peoples´’ mental health and overall health and because of the consistent ringing of 
the bell it could be construed as a form of torture. What’s needed here is a bit of 
Christianity. 
Order: Report to Councillor. 
 
Motion 3 from Councillor Claire Byrne 
That this Area Committee calls on the Area Manager to take immediate action to 
solve the following on going issues in Glovers Court: 
 

 Rat infestation - traps, baiting 
 Build a secure bin enclosure 
 Cut back the greenery where the rats are nesting   
 Replace the old windows 
 Deal with the ongoing damp issues 
 Cut back the greenery where the rats are nesting 
 Address the drainage issues 

 

Page 44



 Address the bad odours each flat experiences when using the washing 
machines 

 Address the low water pressure in the mornings  
 Prune the trees 
 Actively pursue funding to either deep retrofit and renovate or rebuild 

Glovers Court 
Order: Report to Councillor. 

 
Motion 4 from Councillor Anne Feeney taken with Item 3.ii, Motions 6, 18 and 
19 
To ask the Manager to provide an update to this committee on options for relieving 
the traffic congestion in Rathdown, particularly at weekends given the popularity of 
Bushy Park, a park with no parking for visitors.  A meeting took place on 3/2/21 at 
which the traffic engineers undertook to get back to councillors and residents with 
options.  With an increase in activity in the park and longer brighter evenings, the 
situation has worsened and is a cause for concern with residents, Gardaí and local 
councillors.  A resolution to this issue (which is outstanding for a number of years) 
needs to be recommended and implemented by the traffic engineers as a matter of 
urgency. 
Order: Report to Councillor. 
 
Motion 5 from Councillor Anne Feeney taken with Motions 7, 8 and 17 
While we welcome the opening of public toilets in libraries and other city centre 
locations, we ask the city recovery team to urgently make available more public 
toilets for longer than 4pm at weekends and 8pm weekdays.  The lack of public 
toilets in our city, particularly during Covid lockdown has resulted in areas of the 
city having to endure the filth and stink of defecation and urination and this cannot 
be allowed to continue. Rathmines and Portobello and other areas where crowds 
are gathering outdoors in urban villages and needing to use toilet facilities, are 
becoming completely intolerable for residents and putting unreasonable demands 
on our waste management staff.  Temporary toilets need to be installed and 
maintained in certain locations and/or premises selling take away drinks allowed 
and requested to provide access to the toilets on their premises. 
Order: Report to Councillor. 
 
Motion 6 from Councillors Anne Feeney, Tara Deacy, Pat Dunne, Carolyn 
Moore and Deirdre Conroy taken with Item 3.ii, Motions 4, 18 and 19 
That this Committee calls on the Assistant Chief Executive & City Engineer with 
responsibility for Environment and Transportation to write to the NTA requesting 
the following in relation to the four Bus Corridors proposed for the Kimmage 
Rathmines area (9, 10, 11, 12).   
 
(A) agree that Bus Corridor applications for the Kimmage Rathmines area will be 
submitted to ABP together to facilitate a comprehensive assessment of the benefits, 
impacts and conditions which ABP need to consider in their decision making 
process. 
 
(B) a commitment to review (before the application goes to ABP) the need 
for 24/7 Bus Gates for Lower Kimmage Road, Templeogue Road and Crumlin 
Road based on traffic volumes (buses and other traffic) and on the significance of 
the time savings that would be achieved outside of peak commuting times. 
 
(C) a commitment to providing integrated traffic modelling data to DCC Traffic 
Department, local Councillors, local residents associations and local business 
associations by middle of May 2021. 

Page 45

x-apple-data-detectors://3/


 
(D) a commitment to distribute to every house in the Kimmage Rathmines area a 
leaflet outlining (i) the proposals for the four bus corridors in the Kimmage 
Rathmines LEA; (I) plans in relation to diverted traffic and proposals to mitigate 
congestion on the diverted residential roads; (iii) planned public realm 
enhancements; (iv) clarity on the timing and process for making free submissions 
to ABP.  This is necessary as many people were not aware of the NTA’s third phase 
of consultation during Covid 19 (end of 2020)” 
Order: Agreed. 
 
Motion 7 from Councillor Tara Deacy taken with Motions 5, 8 and 17 

That this committee agrees to review the extent of public toilet provision in the 
Kimmage/Rathmines ward.  With the summer months fast approaching, all our 
public parks/spaces will be under considerable pressure and the lack of public 
toilets will add to this.  Can we agree that those that are in place are opened as 
soon as possible and that we look at potential new facilities if only for the summer 
months? 
Order: Report to Councillor. 
 
Motion 8 from Councillor Pat Dunne taken with Motions 5, 7 and 17 
This Area Committee in recognition of the Government’s policy that outdoors will 
be the theme of the summer, calls upon all the relevant sections of this council to 
work together to provide the necessary services to ensure the safe and enjoyable 
usage of our local amenities. In particular we need to install public toilets and litter 
bins along the canal, in our parks, beaches and other popular locations. These 
facilities require constant maintenance and our staff should be rostered to work 
weekends and evenings to attend to these. Savings made from the budgets of 
major events such as the St. Patrick’s Festival and the now cancelled Euro 2020 
soccer tournament should be used to pay the extra overtime and shift allowances 
and other related costs. 
Order: Report to Councillor. 
 
Motion 9 from Councillor Pat Dunne 
This Area Committee calls for the provision of summer three tier flower planters 
once again in Crumlin Village and environs and for an expansion of the scheme 
this year to include Kimmage Village and environs. 
Order: Report to Councillor. 
 
Motion 10 from Councillors Mary Freehill and Anne Feeney 

That the area office engage with all DCC appropriate departments to find a way of 
providing a Wi Fi public connection to Harold’s Cross Park.  It’s an important service 
that should be rolled out by the Parks Dept. and requires the full support and help 
from all the council’s departments.  Installing Wi-Fi in Harold’s Park will enable 
dramatic improvements in communications through the installation of electronic 
public notice boards for use by the council and community as envisaged by the 
local Age Friendly Village and Vision 2025 groups. 
Order: Report to Councillor. 
 
Motion 11 from Councillor Mary Freehill 
Because of the acute shortage of public playing fields in the Dublin 6 area, this 
committee calls on the council to open discussions with St Mary’s College to ask if 
they would be prepared to share their playing fields in Kenilworth Square with the 
council’s Sports Section.  Furthermore that the council investigate the possibility of 
sharing space with any other privately owned playing fields in the area and that the 
Council gives a report on the response to my earlier motion requesting the Dept. of 

Page 46



Sports to implement a condition that privately owned clubs who are in receipt of a 
grant shares their facilities with local groups. 
Order: Report to Councillor. 
 
Motion 12 from Councillor Mary Freehill 
This country has the worst housing crisis since the Land War days in the late 1800’s 
and because of the huge increase in foreign investment in private rented apartment 
block sector, to bring us in line with other EU countries who many decades ago 
enacted legislation setting fair rent and security of tenure.  This council calls on the 
Government to urgently enact legislation to protect tenants by setting fair rent and 
security of tenure to protect people who are destined to live out their lives in 
privately owned apartments and who are at the mercy of the market economy.  
Order: Agreed and agreed to refer the matter to the Housing SPC. 
 
Motion 13 from Councillors Pat Dunne and Mary Freehill 

This Area Committee requests that the Director of Services South City and the Area 
Manager Kimmage/Rathmines arrange a further meeting with the Harold’s Cross 
Village Community Council representatives to discuss the proposals for the “taking 
back into charge” a portion of the lane way at Shamrock Villas.  This request follows 
the still unresolved issues arising from the correspondence to the HXVCC, dated 
8th April 2021.  It is also requested that local councillors would be invited to this 
meeting. 
Order: Report to Councillor. 

 
Motion 14 from Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 
That Dublin City Council, having raised these matters in the past and being 
unsatisfied with lacklustre arrangements to stem pollution of Dublin Bay, 
encourages Irish Water to devise a short term engineering solution to address 
ongoing issues relating to the discharge of raw sewage into Dublin Bay from the 
Wastewater Treatment Plant. 
Further, that the City Council is of the view that an audit should be undertaken of 
heavy industry discharging wastewater into Dublin Bay and that a taskforce be set 
up to ensure that the water quality is being maintained to the highest possible 
standards. 
Order: Report to Councillor. 
 
Motion 15 from Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 
That this Area Committee resolves to write to the Ministers for Finance, Tourism, 
and Local Government regarding the need for public toilets at hotspots across the 
capital to seek that they consider providing additional funding into the summer 
months to address the lack of public facilities which inconveniences families trying 
to enjoy public spaces. 
Further, to write to the Minister for Justice to stress the severe discomfort and fear 
in local communities, particularly along the grand canal, given the extreme surge in 
anti-social behaviour in the area, and set out the need for her intervention to 
address on-going anti-social behaviour; and to stress that this intervention may take 
the form of additional Garda resources in the south inner city and that if no 
additional resources are forthcoming that her Department should provide additional 
funding along with the aforementioned Departments for alternative measures such 
as toilets for tackling anti-social behaviour.  
Order: Agreed. 
 
Motion 16 from Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 
That this Area Committee: 
Notes: 

Page 47



- the proposed sale of the YMCA Claremont Road site as a vacant possession, 
advertised as a residential development opportunity, 
- the treatment and proposed eviction of the successful and ambitious Cricket Club, 
- the potential for great and detrimental loss of amenity due to the consequent 
closure of the club, and the loss this poses for not only the South East Area and 
the City, but on Leinster and Irish sporting and community involvement potential. 
Schools, Colleges, and Pensioners are all currently served by the facilities at YMCA 
Claremont Road and they have great plans to enhance this. 
- the generous state funding for the YMCA and investment in the grants offered to 
the facility regarding its redevelopment. 
Affirms: 
- its commitment to maintaining the current Z9 zoning of the greenfield site, 
- its intention to re-examine the Z1 zoning on part of the site, to ensure the 
continuation of the current amenities provided for on the site, and 
Resolves: 
- to fully support the Cricket Club in its hopes for retaining access to the site, 
- to aid, insofar as it may, the Cricket Club in widening access to and advancing 
sporting success as the home of women’s international cricket and one of only 4 
grounds capable of hosting international cricket in Dublin South East coupled with 
the widening of community activity. 
- to write to the Board of the YMCA to outline our disappointment, concerns for the 
loss of amenity, and intentions to support the current tenant, and request that the 
YMCA justify to this Committee its treatment of the Club,  
- to write to the Minister for Sport to request that they intervene and ensure the 
protection of this amenity, 
- that the City Council should examine, in conjunction with the Minister for Sport, 
the options available to them for ensuring the retention and protection of this 
amenity. 
Order: Agreed. 
 
Motion 17 from Councillor Carolyn Moore taken with Motions 5, 7 and 8  

This committee notes the dramatic intensification in the use of our parks and public 
spaces in recent weeks; the change in use of public spaces to places where people 
gather to eat and drink; and the huge potential for outdoor gatherings to lead to 
anti-social behaviour such as littering and public urination where insufficient 
facilities are available. In noting this, this committee commits to producing individual 
management plans for the south east area’s parks and plazas, with a view to 
implementing pro-social solutions to curb or prevent the potential for anti-social 
behaviour, including the urgent provision of temporary public toilets, the urgent 
provision or distribution of temporary bins / council refuse sacks at peak social 
hours, increased frequency of litter collection and visibility of wardens, provision of 
staff to adequately manage parks and public spaces, including after hours, and 
increased visibility and patrols by Gardaí.    
Order: Report to Councillor. 
 
Motion 18 from Councillor Carolyn Moore taken with taken with Item 3.ii, 
Motions 4, 6 and 19 
This committee will undertake a consultation on the design and delivery of a South 
Dublin Quietway with a view to engaging with the National Transport Authority to 
seek funding for the planning, design and implementation of the scheme. 
Order: Report to Councillor. 
 
Motion 19 from Councillor Carolyn Moore taken with Item 3.ii, Motions 4, 6, 
and 18  

Page 48



This committee agrees to install a pedestrian crossing, filter light, or other 
appropriate traffic mechanism to facilitate the safe cross of pedestrians at the 
dangerous junction of Kimmage Road Lower and Ravensdale.  
Order: Report to Councillor. 
 
Motion 20 from Councillor Claire Byrne 
That this Area Committee calls on the Area Manager to improve the public realm at 
the triangular space at the junction Peters Row and Aungier Street as part of the 
outdoor summer plans. This space could be greatly improved with some 
replacement planting of the felled trees and some public seating. 
Order: Report to Councillor. 
 
Motion 21 from Councillor Claire Byrne 
That this area Committee calls on the Area Manager to consider path build outs on 
Upper Dame Street to facilitate outdoor dining for the hospitality businesses along 
that stretch. 
Order: Report to Councillor. 
 
 

8   Questions to the Chief Executive 10th May 2021 
Order: Noted. 
 

 

 
Councillor Dermot Lacey 
Chairperson 
Monday 10 May 2021 
 
 
 
Attendance: 
 
Members: Members: Members: 
Dermot Lacey (Chairperson)   
Claire Byrne Danny Byrne Hazel Chu 
Deirdre Conroy Daniel Céitinn Tara Deacy 
Kevin Donoghue Pat Dunne Anne Feeney 
Mannix Flynn Mary Freehill James Geoghegan 
Paddy McCartan Carolyn Moore Claire O'Connor 

 
Officers   
Brian Hanney Leah Johnston Brian Kirk 
John MacEvilly 
Mary Taylor 
Les Moore 
Christina Todd 
 

Neil O’Donoghue 
Jennifer Wall 
Laura Dowdall 

Karima McKeller 
Gerald McEntaggart 
Claire French 

 
Apologies:    

   
 
Non-Members:    
   

 
  

Page 49



 
Question to the Chief Executive    South East Area Committee  
        Meeting 10th May 2021 
 
Q.1 Councillor Anne Feeney 

To ask the Manager to install Sheffield bike stands on Upper Rathmines Road on the 
Post Office side of the road where there is a real need for cyclists to securely lock their 
bikes while using the Post Office, Bar, Takeaway and other retail premises at this end 
of Rathmines.  Many of these premises also have CCTV which adds to the secure 
location for parking bikes.  While there are some Sheffield bike stands on Rathmines 
Avenue, they are not easily seen. 

 
Reply: 
The requested location at Upper Rathmines Road, will be examined and if deemed 
appropriate, cycle parking will be installed in a future batch of the On-Street Cycle 
Parking. 
 

Q.2 Councillor Pat Dunne  
Can the Area Manager ensure that our Covid Mobility section engages with the 
schools, parent associations, and local environment groups such as Crumlin 
Community Clean-up, regarding the permanent horticultural plans for the Safe School 
Zone at Scoil Una Aoife and Scoil Colm on Armagh Road?  This request is made 
following the recent installation of temporary planters at this location. 

 
Reply: 
The planters installed are a temporary measure. We have engaged with the school 
and local environmental groups directly and via the area office in regards to these 
measures. 
 

Q.3 Councillor Dermot Lacey 
To ask the Manager if he can provide a comprehensive response to the serious 
drainage problems referenced in the letter submitted with this question. 
 
Reply: 
Following a number of floods in the St. Alban’s Park area and particularly the national 
record thunderstorm flooding of 11th June 1963, which is estimated to have been in 
excess of a 1,000 year flood event in this area, Dublin Corporation built a pumping 
station to collect some excess rainwater and a 300mm (12”) diameter rising pipeline to 
the beach. This significantly reduced flooding in the area.    
 
Following further appeals from residents, Dublin City Council constructed an additional 
450mm (18”) rising main in 2013, augmenting the existing 300mm rising main and 
which facilitates a substantial increase in pumping discharge rates from 270l/s up to 
450l/s (1,600m3/hr) during flood events. This 450mm rising pipeline runs parallel to 
the existing rising pipeline and outfalls to the beach as shown in your letter. To prevent 
sea water and waves getting into the pipeline and corroding it, a flap valve was 
attached to the pipeline on its seaward side as shown in the photos, attached to the 
query. There is a small amount of sand against this at the moment which is no way 
reduces its function as proven numerous times since its installation. This work was 
completed together with improvements in pumping station control and monitoring 
systems. We have no reports of building flooding in the area since its installation in 
2013 or in fact since October 2011. 
 
The level of the outlet is the optimum for the peak discharge rate 750mm (2 foot 6 
inches) below ground level in the park. Raising it would reduce the maximum pumping 

Page 50



capacity along the sealed rising pipeline from the pumping station. It also avoids all 
existing service utilities on its route to the sea. The single block construction does not 
hamper its performance.  
 
The lowest road level in St. Alban’s Park is 0.5m Malin Head which is 1.2m (4 foot) 
below the spring tide levels of 1.71m Malin Head. House floor levels are generally 
above this level up to a level of 4m Malin Head beside Strand Road. There are road 
levels elsewhere in Dublin City below 0.5m Malin Head. 
 
The concrete block apron at the outlet of the rising main is to reduce sand build up at 
the outlet and make it easier to maintain the outlet. As can be seen from the photos 
the sand level is approximately the same beside inside the concrete blocks as outside 
it as sand run up to the flap has been reduced. The water pressure from pumping can 
easily clear this amount of sand. The sand level is checked on a regular basis. There 
has been no problem with operation during rainfall events over the last 8 years. 
 
Possibly more information should have been given to the public and property owners 
in the area regarding this new improved drainage system, but our priority was to get it 
installed as quickly as possible and monitor its operation. If you or other local property 
owners require any further information on this matter please get in touch with the 
contact below. 
 
With regard to flood insurance the City Council has carried out this and other flood 
alleviation works in this area and are happy to share knowledge of them with you for 
your insurance broker or company.    
 

Q.4 Councillor Dermot Lacey 

To ask the Manager if he could supply the clarifications and updates arising from the 
reply to question number 3 below at the March 2021 meeting as sought in the email 
supplied with this question. 

 
“Sorry for the late reply. I appreciate your efforts and look forward to seeing if any 
progress is made in relation to the carpark entrance issue. 
Unfortunately in their haste to answer the question you posed the respondent seems 
to have failed to read or understand the question correctly. 
At no time did I raise any issue relating to the area in front of the cottages at Strand 
Terrace as from experience I know that this area is not in charge of the Parks Services 
as they are so eager to point out. My issue is in relation to the embankment that 
separates Strand Terrace from the Dublin City Council operated carpark. Am I to 
understand that this area is not under their charge either, even the area on the carpark 
side of that embankment?? I am now curious to know what the situation is so that I can 
find out who is responsible for it. Maybe you yourself might be able to shed some light 
on this for me Dermot. 
 
You may be able to advise me in relation to another matter also. How would I find out 
where the water mains shut off is for these cottages. 
No one living here know where they are located and I even had a DCC worker ask me 
recently if I knew their location. This is something I would like to know as it raises 
issues anytime any plumbing works need to be carried out and we have to have our 
bathroom redone soon and I know I will be asked about this once again.” 
 
Question to the Chief Executive    South East Area Q.3
 Councillor Dermot Lacey 

To ask the Manager if he will arrange to have a further look to see what 
measures ( perhaps a new direct from footpath pedestrian entrance) can be 

Page 51



taken to improve safety for all at the Dublin City Council car park at Milltown, 
Dublin 6. 
 
Reply: 
The Transport Advisory Group will liaise with the Parks Department and a 
report on the matter will be issued in the coming weeks. 
 
Contact: 
Gerald McEntagart, South East Area Engineer, email: 
gerald.mcentagart@dublincity.ie 

 
Reply: 
This request for pedestrian entrance into Milltown Road Carpark is with the Area 
Engineer for Assessment and report.    
 
The Milltown Road carpark is in the charge of the Environment & Traffic Department 
and the Area Engineer will assess a suitable safe pedestrian entrance from the 
Milltown Road footpath into the carpark. 
 
The embankment is not in the charge of the Environment & Traffic Department so the 
Area Engineer is not going to make any changes to the rear of the carpark. 

 
As the water mains shut off location issue is a matter for Irish Water it should be 
referred directly to Irish Water.  
 
Please call the Lo-Call telephone number 1890 278 278 and identify yourself as an 
Elected Representative. You will be put through to the Local Representative Support 
Desk in Irish Water’s Customer Contact Centre who will deal with you directly. 
Alternatively, there is a specific e-mail address at Irish Water for Councillors: 
LocalRepSupport@water.ie. 
 
The Local Representative Support Desk at Irish Water operates from 9.00am – 
5.30pm, Monday to Friday. 
 
The following are the contact details for Irish Water: 
 
Telephone:  1890 278 278 (Lo-Call) 
Web:   www.water.ie  
Twitter:   @IrishWater 
Postal Address: Irish Water, PO Box 860, South City Delivery Office, Cork 
City. 
 

Q.5 Councillor Dermot Lacey 

To ask the Manager if there is any update on the request to upgrade and repair Wilfield 
Road, Sandymount as requested in June 2020. 
 
As you can see from the photos the section of road between house 60 and 64 is 
dangerously damaged. It has been like this since the big snow fall of 2018. I am a 
cyclist and have always been careful of this patch. My concern about this now as there 
are a considerable amount of children from 3 upwards with their parents from the road 
cycling presently and yesterday I witnessed a child taking a fall here.  
I am writing to you as I hope that you may be able to contact the relevant department 
and get this dangerous section of the road repaired.  
 
This would be an ideal time to get work done as there is very little car activity presently.  

Page 52

mailto:gerald.mcentagart@dublincity.ie
mailto:LocalRepSupport@water.ie
http://www.water.ie/


 
Thanking you in advance 
 

 
Reply: 
This defect has been logged in our asset management system for repair works to be 
carried out. 

 
Q.6 Councillor Dermot Lacey 

To ask the Manager if he will arrange for the proposals contained in the email 
submitted with this question to be examined.  Essentially the resident is asking that the 
parking bay at the top of the road be switched to the opposite side of the road to create 
a chicane type barrier to reduce speeding on what is otherwise a lengthy strip of road 
in a small residential street.  This occurs on a parallel road and works very effectively. 

 
Sandymount Castle Drive, Sandymount, Dublin 4. 
Double yellow lines go from top to bottom on one side, on Castle Drive, so traffic 
volume and speeds are unhindered along that side of the road.  Castle Road has a 
different layout (quick visit would be helpful) which slows and deters the movement of 
traffic there. On the completion of the new houses/apartments it is obvious where 
safety issues are going to be a problem for the community. 
 
Reply: 
This matter has been referred to the Area Engineer who will conduct a site inspection 
of the Sandymount Castle Drive Pay & Display and Permit parking arrangement.  At 
the completion of the assessment, the Area Engineer will advise if further changes are 
required. 

 
Q.7 Councillor Dermot Lacey 

To ask the Manager if he will arrange for at least one bin to be installed inside the 
Mountpleasant Square Park to complement the one outside. 
 
Reply: 
This historic park, the only Georgian Square located outside the canals, is now almost 
exclusively used by dog walkers during the Covid pandemic. 
 
This has resulted in the bulk of the waste comprising of dog poo and coffee cups. The 
vast majority of those using the park do bring their waste home with them for disposal 
and or use the litter bin located outside one of the park entrances. 
 
The park is litter picked in the mornings by park staff and is inspected regularly and 
normally found to be litter free.  There is some evidence of night time drinking which 
the local Gardaí are aware and there is very little evidence of large scale littering as in 
the case of many other parks throughout the city. 

Page 53



 
Considering the unhygienic nature of dog poo, it is difficult for staff to collect and 
dispose of, and this is especially true when it constitutes the bulk of the waste. 
Therefore, it is not proposed to install an additional bin to service this park as 
requested. 
 

Q.8 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager write to the owners of a derelict site at the bottom of Liberty Lane at 
the Kevin’s street end (Photos attached) with regards the ongoing anti-social behaviour 
on the site, continuous dumping and rat infestation? The small laneway beside this 
vacant site needs to be gated and the public right of way extinguished as this site has 
become dangerous with many people loitering here and harassing passer-byes.  A site 
levy needs to be imposed on this site to ensure that this site is properly maintained.   
The whole of Liberty Lane has become an absolute mess and an area that nobody in 
the neighbourhood will use as a result of the anti-social behaviour and the personal 
safety threat. 
 
Reply: 
The laneway known as Pump Alley Lane (off Liberty Lane) is “in charge” of Dublin City 
Council which means that a public right of way exists over it.  In order that it may be 
closed by any means, the public right of way would have to be extinguished. There is 
a legal procedure involved (under Section 73 of the Roads Act 1993), which includes 
a formal written application being submitted to Dublin City Council requesting that the 
City Council consider extinguishing the public right of way at the location in 
question.  To date no application has been received to extinguish the public right of 
way over Pump Alley Lane.  
 
The Derelict Sites Unit does not have an active file on this site and will arrange for an 
inspection of the site and will take action as appropriate following the assessment of 
its condition. A full report on the findings of the inspection will issue to the Councillor. 

 
Q.9 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager issue a full report with regards outbreaks of Covid 19 in the past year 
at the Bow Lane Depot and also outbreaks that took place in Homeless Emergency 
accommodation within a mile radius of this depot? 
 
Reply: 
The DRHE has requested this data from the HSE. A reply will issue to the Councillor 
within 10 days of meeting. 
 
In the past year, three technical outbreaks of COVID-19 occurred within Waste 
Management and were effectively managed by the City Council in line with HSE and 
HSPC protocols. 
 

Q.10 Councillor Mannix Flynn 
Can the manager put in place a proper cleaning schedule for Leinster Square, 
Rathmines?  This area is fast becoming a dumping ground and the residents group 
regularly complain of a lack of cleaning and engagement by DCC.  In relation to this, 
a new residents’ committee has been set up to address the issues of parking, anti-
social behaviour and littering.  Can I ask that DCC make contact with the group and 
arrange for these issues to be addressed for the betterment of the community at 
Leinster Square, Rathmines?  
 
Reply: 

Page 54



Waste Management Services have Leinster Square cleaned at least three days a week 
by a handcart man. We have dumped rubbish removed from there when necessary to 
do so. The new residents group there can contact us at 
waste.management@dublincity.ie with any litter concerns. 
 
If the residents’ committee can set out the parking and anti-social behaviour issues to 
southeast@dublincity.ie I will arrange for these matters to be examined. 
 

Q.11 Councillor Mannix Flynn 
Can the manager as a matter of urgency liaise with the residents and residents’ 
committee at Ffrench Mullen House in relation to issues of personal safety, anti-social 
behaviour?  The residents at Ffrench Mullen have in recent times erected a gate from 
plastic roadside barriers (see photos) in order to stop their homes and apartment 
complex from being invaded by hordes of drinkers from the canal. The safety of this 
community and its people must be addressed and a gate should be installed in the 
same way we installed gates on the likes of Glovers Court, that can be closed over in 
the evening in order to give the residents here some measure of peace of mind and 
security. 
 
Reply: 
In 2010 the Health and Safety Authority (HAS) issued a safety alert relating to the risk 
to pedestrians from crushing hazards on electrically powered gates. This risk was 
highlighted by the deaths of two children in the United Kingdom.  A further safety alert 
was issued by the HAS in 2015 because of fatality in Ireland where a person was 
trapped and fatally injured by a powered gate. Extensive experience with these gates 
also shows that they require significant and costly repairs. The time they are not 
operational allied to H&S concerns means DCC does not recommend then as a 
response to anti-social Behaviour. However we have also contacted Pearse Street 
Garda station and brought the security concerns to their attention and follow up on anti 
–social behaviour complaints. 
 
The Charlemont Square Development where Ffrench Mullen House is located is a 
private development which is not fully completed as yet. The access between Ffrench 
Mullen House and number 33 Charlemont Street was agreed with Dublin City Council 
planners as part of a masterplan that featured access street linkages throughout as 
set out below. 

Page 55

mailto:waste.management@dublincity.ie
mailto:southeast@dublincity.ie


 
This particular street is open to a number of residential occupiers along Charlemont 
Mall. The developers, “anticipate that as residents take occupation in the new 
Charlemont Square buildings later this year, this will create more activity around these 
streets and should discourage anti-social activity. A planning application would need 
to be compiled and lodged in order to seek permission for a gate along this access 
route.”  
The Assistant Chief Fire Officer has also said, “It is essential that the fire access and 
egress route as shown on the plans are kept clear to allow fire appliances and 
ambulance’s immediate access to the apartment blocks. This route is also a means of 
escape for inhabitants and should not be restricted in any way.” 
The South East Area Office met a number of residents from Ffrench Mullen House 
together with Councillors and An Garda Siochána on the 29th April to discuss anti-
social behaviour in the vicinity of Ffrench Mullen House. After this meeting, we 
undertook to continue to liaise with both the Developers of Charlemont Square and An 
Garda Siochána and to revert to the residents on this issue. 
 
It should be noted that gates were not erected in Glovers Court because of concerns 
raised by the residents and also because we improved the CCTV which had a 
significant impact in reducing anti-social behaviour. 
 

Q.12 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager address the issue of the sewage blockage that is now a regular 
occurrence in Peters Place, off Charlemont Street? 
 
Reply: 

The public sewers at this location were inspected and found to be unobstructed and 
flowing freely.  The problem is located on the drain to the rear of the houses.  As this 
drain serves a number of DCC tenants the matter was referred to the DCC Housing 
Choke Car. 
 

Q.13 Councillor Mannix Flynn 
Can the manager, as a matter of urgency, install security cameras at O Carroll Villas?  
This area has now become a drug dealing den as a result of the cameras being very 
effective at the York Street/Mercer Street end. The drug dealers have now moved to 

Page 56



O ‘Carroll Villas.  This has resulted in a continuous threat to the residents here.  Many 
who live here are very elderly and also many very young families.  
 
Reply: 
We are currently installing CCTV in a number of housing complexes in the South East 
Area with funding provided by this year’s Discretionary Fund. Unfortunately O’Carroll 
Villas is not on this programme.  However, Dublin City Council will review this in the 
context of next year’s budget. I spoke to An Garda Siochána and they have assured 
me that they are dealing with this matter. Our Project Estate Officer visits O’Carroll 
Villas on a weekly basis and will deal with any issues raised by the tenants. 
 

Q.14 Councillor Mannix Flynn 
Can the manager please address the issue of the ongoing pitching of tents along the 
canal?  Many tents are now installed along the canal on a regular basis.  This is a 
major health and security problem and is simply adding to the ongoing chaos and non- 
management of the entire area around Portobello, Baggot Street and Grand Canal 
area.  
 
Reply: 

The Dublin Region Homeless Executive (DRHE) strongly believes that there is no need 
for any individual who experiences homelessness to live in a tent, nor does the DRHE 
provide funding to services that distribute tents to people who are homeless.   
Dublin Outreach is a street outreach service delivered by Dublin Simon Community, 
on behalf of the Dublin Region Homeless Executive (DRHE), that provides on-street 
support for people who are sleeping rough. These teams are on the streets 365 days 
a year from early morning to late each night, working proactively to engage with people 
sleeping rough and to help them avail of emergency accommodation. In the majority 
of cases, the outreach team are successful in supporting people to access emergency 
accommodation and other services within a short time frame but this process can take 
multiple contacts and engagements. The Outreach team work closely with Placement 
Service and the HSE funded SafetyNet service to provide outreach services, street 
level healthcare and accommodation options to people rough sleeping in the Dublin 
region. Our Outreach Team are focusing on the Grand Canal Area, from Portobello 
Bridge to Grand Canal Bridge on a consistent basis.  
 
Tents are observed in this area on a regular basis and the team continue to target this 
area and are there most evenings to monitor and seek to engage with any person 
sleeping rough in the area.  The DRHE has also requested the assistance of the Dublin 
City Council Public Domain Office and Waterways Ireland who are actively working 
with us in the area. 
 
We would encourage all members of the public to alert us if they see anyone sleeping 
rough. This can be done via the DRHE website www.homelessdublin.ie/homeless/i-
am-rough-sleeping/report-rough-sleeper or via the Dublin Rough Sleeper Alerts App. 
This allows for greater accuracy when it comes to new alerts from the public, enabling 
our outreach teams to reach people in need that much faster 
 

Q.15 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager initiate the process for the order of protected structure and listed 
building for the unique apartment buildings Wilton Court and Wilton Terrace?  These 
fine apartments were constructed and built in the 1940s and they are a fine example 
of early apartment building in Dublin.  They complement the area and lend to the whole 
idea of a residential living city, while all around them there is an orgy of office block 
building. 
 

Page 57

http://www.homelessdublin.ie/homeless/i-am-rough-sleeping/report-rough-sleeper
http://www.homelessdublin.ie/homeless/i-am-rough-sleeping/report-rough-sleeper


Reply: 
The City Council’s Record of Protected Structures (RPS) comprises more than 8,750 
structures.   
 
However, there remains a large number of nominated additions to the RPS, consisting 
of c. 220 proposals requested by Elected Representatives and members of the public, 
since 2006, and more than 1,250 statutory recommendations for additions to the RPS 
made by Minister since 2014, under Section 53 of the Planning and Development Act, 
2000 (as amended). The Minister’s recommendations arise from a survey of Dublin 
City (mainly within the canals) by the National Inventory for Architectural Heritage 
(NIAH), which has been ongoing since 2012.  It is understood that further Ministerial 
recommendations are likely to be issued during the coming year. .        
 
The Wilton Place area has been surveyed by the NIAH, the national agency with 
statutory responsibility for architectural heritage assessment.  According to the 
records available, the NIAH do not consider the apartment building known as ‘Court 
Apartments’ on Wilton Place to be of ‘Regional’ significance or higher and, therefore, 
the building is not recommended for addition to Dublin City’s RPS.   
 
Given the large number of requested additions and Ministerial recommendations, and 
the need to prioritise these it is not intended to consider the proposed addition of the 
Court Apartments, Wilton Place, Dublin 2, to the City Council’s Record of Protected 
Structures.   
 

Q.16 Councillor Mannix Flynn 
Can the manager address the issue of horse droppings that is taking place in the south 
east area that has been littering the streets for quite some time?  All horse and 
carriages who are licensed by DCC must ensure that there is a clean- up and that the 
horse is fitted with bag to collect the droppings.  
 
Reply: 
DCC cannot enforce the Dublin City Council Horse Drawn Carriage Bye-Laws 2010 
since it was discovered that the council wasn’t in a position to make them in the first 
place under the Local Government Act 2001. An Garda Siochána are still responsible 
for enforcing their own 1946 bye laws made under the Dublin Carriage Acts 1853-
1855.  
The City Council advised the Department of Transport, Tourism and Sport, who are 
responsible for legislation in this area, of the legal lacuna and the department has 
indicated that they are trying to amend/revoke legislation to enable the council regulate 
the area of horse and carriage operations. The council is currently seeking counsel’s 
advice on the legality of the department’s proposals. Should the council be in a position 
to regulate horse and carriage operations, the issue of littering caused by horse 
droppings will be examined in the context of any future regulation. 
 

Q.17 Councillor Mannix Flynn 
Can the manager now urgently address the issue that is all too often a regular 
occurrence, of a massive rat infestation in and around the York Street flat complex?  
Many residents are reporting rats running around the balconies, running around the 
play yard area and basically taking over the flats. This issue has been ongoing in the 
city for quite some time.  Suffice to say, it is unacceptable that the local authority has 
not properly addressed this issue with other agencies such as the HSE, bearing in 
mind the summer which is now upon us and that many people will be outdoors in the 
flat complexes.  Can we please address this issue?  If we have to use our discretionary 
fund to address this, so be it.  
 

Page 58



Reply: 
Dublin City Council Housing Maintenance Division have baited both the York Street 
Flat Complex and Glovers Court. All bins are bunged and the bin chamber and bin 
areas are power hosed and baited.  All drains were checked and any repairs needed 
were carried out.  A leaflet drop outlining how to dispose of waste in the proper manner 
has been issued to all tenants in both complexes.  In relation to Glovers Court Housing 
Maintenance Division have identified a derelict site that the rats may be coming from. 
This site backs on to Glovers Court and is overgrown with shrubbery which could act 
as harbourage for pests. Dublin City Council have baited the area and will carry out 
works to eradicate the burrows. I have being in contact with the site owners and they 
have engaged their own pest control contractor. The Project Estate Office and I are 
meeting with our Area Maintenance Officer to inspect and discuss any remedial works 
within the communal area in York Street Flats to address the rat infestation. 
 

Q.18 Councillor Paddy McCartan 

To ask the manager to arrange for a replacement street name plate on Shrewsbury 
Road at its junction with Ailesbury Road. See pic. 

 
 

Reply: 

Arrangements will be made to have this nameplate replaced. 
 

Q.19 Councillor Paddy McCartan 
To ask the manager to address the issue of part v acquisitions off site from the Tara 
Towers development.  Where will the units be located and what are the costs 
involved?  
 
Reply: 

The Housing Department is currently in negotiations with the developer regarding an 
off-site acquisition for the Tara Towers development. Negotiations are at an advanced 
stage.  However, as the Part V agreement is not concluded, the definitive cost and 
location of the units has not been finalised.  
 

Q.20 Councillor Paddy McCartan 
To ask the manager to reply to the following issue from a constituent in relation to The 
Graving Docks. 
He writes: 
"If they are sold in the future DCC should provide an alternative location in the 
Docklands for the wonderful street artists that work on the hoarding down there. It is 
one of the few genuine pieces of authentic art & culture in the Docklands and should 
be maintained in some fashion." 
 
Reply: 
The Arts Office is actively seeking new sites for street art in the city in consultation with 
street artists and the planning department. The Arts Office has also prepared a report 
for the SPC in May on Street Art and will make contact with artists currently using this 
site, including the Mná Collective, to include them in future opportunities.   
 

Q.21 Councillor Paddy McCartan 

To ask the manager to deal with the following issue from a constituent. 

Page 59



He writes: 
"The East Link Bridge is in dire need of resurfacing, there is an accident waiting to 
happen on that bridge between bike users, pedestrians and articulated lorries 
navigating huge pot holes. Perhaps the operators could invest some of the toll fares in 
the upkeep of the road.” 

 
Reply: 

Toll Bridge Road from the Toll Booth to Sean Moore Roundabout was resurfaced in 
2020. 
 
Toll Bridge Road from the Toll Booth to the Point Depot Roundabout will be considered 
for inclusion in our 2022 Programme. In the interim, defects will be logged for repair in 
our asset management system. 

 
Q.22 Councillor Paddy McCartan 

To ask the manager to deal with an issue on Sandymount Green from a constituent. 
 
He writes: 
 
“I’m writing to you in the hope that you raise the issue of the lack of refuse bins in the 
park on Sandymount Green.  If it wasn’t for one particular resident who each day puts 
out refuse bags on the park railings the place would look like a tip and overrun with 
rats. This lady moves the full refuse bags to a waste bin area to be picked up by DCC 
but I have observed the operative emptying the bin but leaving the bags it’s obviously 
a “ it’s not my job” mentality. 
I also draw your attention to the fact that DCC totally removing the waste bin from the 
bus terminus at the junction of Park Ave and St John’s Road with the result that people 
getting in or off the bus together with other individuals are just leaving rubbish on the 
ground.  I contacted DCC who told me that the bin was removed at it was always full 
and overflowing onto the ground. So instead of putting in one of the “Big Belly” bins to 
cope with the rubbish the brains in DCC decided that the best way to deal with the 
issue is to remove the bin totally and the rubbish would vanish. Perhaps they might 
listen to you as they’ve no regards for the residents of the area as evidenced by the 
proposed cycle way.” 
 
Reply: 
The installation and servicing of bins in the park on Sandymount Green is a matter for 
the Parks Division. 
 
Waste Management Services will replace the damaged bin which was located at the 
bus terminus at the junction of Park Avenue and St John’s Road. We are awaiting a 
delivery of new bins and this bin will be back in place by the middle of May 2021. 
 

Parks have installed two large volume bins at Sandymount Green in the last week. 
 

Q.23 Councillor Paddy McCartan 
To ask the manager to respond to the issues and concerns raised in the following email 
from a constituent re Sean Moore Park and Grand Canal Dock. 
She writes: 
"Increasingly there have been a group of teenagers who are causing trouble. They are 
picking on the kids and have no fear of the parents.  Last week there was a terrible 
incident where one father was playing with his two kids (11 and 6) and the teenagers 
tried to attack the kids, steal his bike and then tried to attack the father!  These kids 
have no fear or respect for anyone. Lots of the parents at the school are very 
concerned about this dangerous behaviour. I have only just started to give my 11 & 9 

Page 60



year old sons the independence to go there by themselves and now I am afraid that it 
isn’t safe.  There are lots of stories going around now about gangs of teenagers who 
are terrorising innocent people in the area. This evening I was in Grand Canal Dock 
and a group of teenagers passed by. A guy in his 30’s passed them by and they threw 
a raw egg at him. He was just minding his own business walking along. They then 
headed over to the old ship wreck and were running all over it.  They seem to have 
gotten out of control over the last few months as every day I hear new stories". 
 
Reply: 
Anti-social behaviour in Sean Moore Park and the Grand Canal Dock Area is a matter 
for An Garda Siochána and the South East Area Office and the Docklands Office liaise 
proactively with the Gardaí regarding these matters. 
 

Q.24 Councillor Paddy McCartan 
To ask the manager to deal with the following issues from a constituent in Ballsbridge 
concerning clean-up efforts in Herbert Park. 
 
He writes: 
"A clean-up effort was arranged in Herbert Park on Good Friday and about 30 
Anglesea Road residents helped to fill many bags of waste. However that does not 
address the fundamental problem of litter being created due to a shortage of bins in 
the park.  I know that DCC are concerned that more bins will result in more deposits of 
domestic waste and I am also aware that one of the solar-powered bins was vandalised 
shortly after it was installed in the park.  Clearly that is regrettable but I would suggest 
that the solution is not to have an insufficient number of bins to meet reasonable 
requirements of park users even in 'normal' times, let alone during current 
circumstances.  
My purpose in contacting you is not to criticize DCC's Parks Dept. who do a great job 
but to advocate for an increase in the number of bins. In asking for this, please also let 
us know what sort of reciprocal actions from the residents’ associations, the Tidy 
Towns committees (and others) would be most helpful. For example, if finance is the 
stumbling block, we could organize a 'go fund me' campaign. 
In addition to more bins, perhaps some signage to remind people not to litter and to 
take their rubbish home if bins are full might have some deterrent effect." 

 
Reply: 
Parks have installed a number of large volume bins at Herbert Park over the last week 
in an effort to address the increased footfall and litter being generated during the 
pandemic.  Parks do not find signage effective in bringing about behavioural change. 
 

Q.25 Councillor Paddy McCartan 
To ask the manager to have the lines repainted at the corner of Mace supermarket 
Sandymount as this is a seriously dangerous junction with roads coming from many 
directions and, having observed, and been involved in, quite a few ‘near misses’ as 
folks drive straight through onto Seafort Avenue misled because the road goes straight 
on and drivers coming the other way have had many skirmishes all because one very 
important white line is not visible! 
 
Reply: 
The location will be inspected in the coming days. Areas that require repainting, will be 
tasked within 30 working days of the SEAC meeting of the 10/05/21.   
 

Q.26 Councillor Paddy McCartan 

Page 61



Could the manager arrange for an inspection of trees on Shrewsbury Road 
Ballsbridge?  Concerns have been expressed about the condition of some of the trees, 
particularly one adjacent to number 5 Shrewsbury Road. 

 
Reply: 
Parks will arrange for an inspection of the trees in the above mentioned road and revert 
with any findings. 
 

Q.27 Councillor Paddy McCartan 
To ask the manager to inform the area committee of an opening date for the resurfaced 
bowling green in Herbert Park as members are looking forward resuming bowling 
activities. 

 
Reply: 
The contractor for installing the bowling green in Herbert Park has completed the 
installation of the green. The next step is for the green to be certified and receive World 
Bowls Green Certification. Unfortunately, the company that can carry out the 
certification is not based in Ireland and due to Covid restrictions the testing of the green 
is being delayed. Once this certification has been carried out successfully the bowling 
green will be opened. 
 

Q.28 Councillor Anne Feeney  
To ask the Traffic Manager to approve double yellow lines on the first corner of road 
inside Mount Argus Estate (see photos attached).  This request has been made many 
times over the last few years and the response is that there is no need for double 
yellows on corners as it is illegal to park on them.  However, I would ask the Manager 
to treat this as an exception given there is an ongoing issue of parking on this corner 
making it a blind spot for motorists and young children at this main bend in this very 
busy estate.  Double yellow lines have been placed on the corner of other roads in the 
Kimmage Rathmines area recently and this one should also be treated as an exception 
given the dangers. 

 
 
Reply: 

The Area engineer will carry out a site visit at this location and the Area engineer will 
assess the issues raised by Cllr. Feeney. 
 

Q.29 Councillor Anne Feeney  

To ask the Manager to address the ongoing problem of illegal parking on Swanville 
Place, Rathmines.  This is a narrow cul de sac with a number of houses on it and 
double yellow lines. There is an ongoing issue of delivery vehicles from shops and 
restaurants on Rathmines Road lower using this small lane to park illegally while they 
are making deliveries.   
 
Reply: 
Dublin Street Parking Services will be asked to enforce against illegal parking at 
Swanville Place Rathmines. A Parking Enforcement Inspector will visit to review the 
issue also. 

Page 62



 
Q.30 Councillor Anne Feeney  

To ask the Manager to increase the number of public bins in the Rathmines area 
(including Mount Pleasant Square) from now until end of summer given the significant 
increase in footfall in this area and resultant increase in litter.   
 
Reply: 

Dublin City Council has currently over 3,200 bins in the City Council area with an 
additional 70 barrel bins in place at litter hotspots to assist with the extra demand with 
30 additional big belly bin being installed in the first half of the year. Frontline street 
cleaning staff are working around the clock in an effort to deal with all of the litter that 
is being left behind. 
 
Waste Management has a bin at Mount Pleasant Park on Ranelagh Road. Parks 
control all internal bin provisions.  

 
Mount Pleasant Park is a small historic park that is almost exclusively used by dog 
walkers during Covid. This has resulted in the bulk of the waste comprising of dog 
waste and coffee cups. The vast majority of those using the park do bring their waste 
home and or use the litter bin located on the street outside the park. The park is litter 
picked in the morning by park staff and inspected regularly and staff have found that 
the park is does not attract the large scale littering that has been seen in other parks. 
Considering the unhygienic nature of dog poo it is difficult for staff to collect and 
dispose of, which is especially true when it constitutes the bulk of the waste. Therefore 
it is not proposed to install an additional bin to service this park as requested. 

 
Q.31 Councillor Anne Feeney  

To ask the Manager to provide an update in relation to the following housing application 
case (details supplied). 
 
Reply: 

The above applicant is on the Housing Transfer List and in receipt of homeless HAP, 
with an application date of 22/04/2013, and the applicant holds the following positions 
on this list: 

 

Area  Bedsize Position 

Area 
K 

1 23 

Area 
L 

1 59 

Area 
M 

1 54 

 
The applicant will be considered for offer when accommodation to meet his household 
need becomes available and according to his position on the list. The applicant’s 
interest in Orwell Road and 4 Rathmines Road has been noted on his file.  
Dublin City Council allocates properties based on time on the list and currently there 
are applicants of longer standing who have to be considered as suitable vacancies 
arise. It is not possible to indicate accurately the prospect of an offer for any applicant. 
The number of vacancies arising will be a determining factor in the length of time 
applicants could expect to be on the waiting list.  
It is noted that the applicant has previously applied for a Medical Priority which was 
unsuccessful, should the applicant wish to appeal this most recent decision they can 

Page 63



do so by submitting new supporting medical evidence outlining the change in 
circumstances since the most recent decision.   
 

Q.32 Councillor Pat Dunne  
Can the Area Manager arrange for our Road Maintenance section to inspect the 
footpaths in Lavarna Grove, Terenure and carry out necessary repairs following the 
inspection? 

 
Reply: 
Footpaths in Lavarna Grove will be inspected and any defects found will be logged in 
our asset management system for repairs to be carried out 
 

Q.33 Councillor Anne Feeney  
To ask the Manager to initiate a review of the parking on Leinster Square as there is 
an ongoing problem of double parking and congestion as a result of being opposite the 
Swan Centre shops and there is an opportunity to enhance this square/road in 
Rathmines.  Some suggestions from local residents which could be considered 
include: 

 Short term: reduce available parking to make it less attractive to shoppers or 
make resident only parking. This could be done by using council provided 
planters which would also improve biodiversity and appearance. 

 Public space - parklets - use planters to create public space for residents and 
wider public to enjoy. 

 Long Term: Make it a greener space to help sustainability, biodiversity and 
improve the public environment for the enjoyment of all. Reduce parking, plant 
trees/plants, install seating etc. Seating etc. could be managed by the residents 
to minimise anti-social behaviour akin to Clonakilty's system where businesses 
bring the loose seating in at night. Leinster Square could once again be a 
Square with emphasis on the human instead of the car. 

 There are other measures that could be taken not listed in the above. 
 

Reply: 
Dublin Street Parking Services will be asked to enforce against illegal parking on 
Leinster Square, D6. 
 

There is a pay and display and permit parking scheme in place on Leinster Square. 
Whilst there is no pay and display and permit parking bay parking bays located on 
Leinster Square, double yellow lines are located on Leinster Square (excluding drive 
ways). Dublin City Council does not provide resident only parking for any street/road 
in the city.  
If the residents of Leinster Square wish to change the operational hours of the existing 
pay and display and permit parking scheme, the residents will need to contact Parking 
Policy and Enforcement, whereupon they can vote for a change in the operational 
times of the pay and display and permit parking scheme currently in place. 
 
There are currently 13 mature trees on Leinster Square on the right hand side as you 
enter from Rathmines Road. 
 
The footpath on the left is approximately 2.5m wide with a utilities trench running 
through the middle of its entire length allowing no space for tree pit installation. 
 
Regarding the possible installation of the suitable pits to allow for planting replacing 
some of the parking bays, Environment and Transport would have to be engaged with 
and the road would need to be assessed in order to confirm location of the 

Page 64



underground services.  Agreement would also need to be sought from residents in 
relation to the resulting loss of car-parking. 
 

Q.34 Councillor Anne Feeney  
To ask the Manager if there are any plans for DCC to work with ESB or others to 
provide more electric charging points for electric/hybrid cars in the South East Area, 
particularly in areas where there is no off street parking for residents to install their own 
charging points. 
 
Reply: 
The four Dublin Local Authorities are aware of the transition to electric vehicles as set 
out in the Climate Action Plan as we prepare to respond to the needs of the citizens of 
the city and county by providing a sustainable urban mobility strategy. The councils 
are also aware that technology is changing rapidly and that a range of different 
solutions will be required to successfully address current and future mobility demand, 
not only in the city, but also across the wider Dublin Metropolitan Area. 
This requires careful consideration and planning to ensure that the council can play 
their part to facilitate the provision of a comprehensive, reliable and interoperable 
electric vehicle-charging infrastructure. This is so that members of the public and 
business community can be confident in making decisions to purchase electric 
vehicles and to use electric vehicles for personal, leisure and business use, for use on 
both short and long journeys. 
In order to inform the four local authorities of the type and number of chargers required, 
the four Dublin Local Authorities, together with SMART Dublin and CARO, have 
commissioned a strategic study. This will allow us examine how the four Councils can 
best facilitate the provision of electric vehicle-charging infrastructure across the Dublin 
region and the scale of investment required. 
Whilst the final draft report is being finalised we are also making submissions/having 
preliminary discussions with ESBN/Department in relation to connection 
solutions/locations/funding as well as other players in this space. This will help to 
ensure that we can facilitate the best possible customer experience for the city and 
across the metropolitan area in line with international experience, rapidly changing 
technology and available resources. 
We hope to be in a position to respond more fully in the near future. 

 
Q.35 Councillor Tara Deacy  

I would like to follow up on this question from last month. Can I get the current painting 
list, so there is some understanding of where all these streets lie? 
 
Q.28 Councillor Tara Deacy 

I have previously asked the manager to repaint and repair the lampposts on the 
following streets: Lismore Road, Ferns, Durrow Road, Aughavanagh Road, 
Glenealy Road, Rathdrum Road. Q20 November 2020 refers. 
  
Received the reply: 
We will examine the poles on Lismore Road, Ferns, Durrow Road, Aughavanagh 
Road, Glenealy Road, Rathdrum Road and if the poles on these roads are 
suitable and painting is required, they will be added to the list for future painting 
programmes subject to available finances. 
 
Were the poles examined and when will they be repainted?   

  
Reply: 

Page 65



The public lighting poles on Lismore Road, Ferns, Durrow Road, Aughavanagh Road, 
Glenealy Road and Rathdrum Road have been examined and they are on the list for 
painting.  
  
All poles that are added to the list for the painting programme are painted in the order 
they were added to the list.  
  
The poles on the roads this question refers to, will be painted in turn, following the order 
they were added to the painting list. 
  
No timeframe can be provided at present for when the poles on these roads will be 
painted as all painting is subject to available finances and to the number of poles that 
are ahead of these ones. 
 
Please see the painting programme list for the South East Area below: 

 

Scheme 
Number of 
Poles 

Morehampton Road All 

Anglesea Road All 

Bessborough Terrace 4 

114A Merrion Road 1 

Merrion Road  All 

Richmond Place All 

Belgrave Square East 4 

Merlyn Park All 

Cowper Drive 3 

Merrion Square All 

Kenilworth Park 
P-1 P-10 & P-
12 

Eastmoreland Place  2 

The Cloisters  All 

Maple Drive All 

Lismore Road All 

Ferns All 

Durrow Road All 

Aughavanagh Road All 

Glenealy Road All 

Rathdrum Road All 

Cloyne Road All 

Blarney Park All 

Tonguefield Road All 

Clonfert Road All 

Kilfenora Road All 

Grove Park 11 

Bangor Circle All 

.  
We will continue to progress through the painting programme list subject to available 
finances. 

Page 66



 
Q.36 Councillor Tara Deacy  

What is the position now in terms of these railings? I submitted questions in 2020 and 
2021 on same.  
 
Q.29 Councillor Tara Deacy 

Further to 12/10/2020 Q.28 asking the manager if broken railings on the green 
space on Cashel Road could be replaced as people are using it as a way to 
illegally dump food on the green space and the hedge around the green on 
Cashel Road is cut back now that the nesting season is completed.  Could this 
be followed up?  

  
Reply: 
Parks had plans to remove both the railing and the hedge some years ago but 
were met with resistance from some local residents which prevented the work 
commencing. 
We will re-examine the situation over the coming period and report directly to the 
councillor. 
  
Contact: 
Brid Brosnan, Executive Parks Superintendent, email: parks@dublincity.ie 

 
Reply: 

The green space mentioned above is subjected to dumping and fly tipping. The hedge 
and railing are considered contributory factors in this regard. Parks would like to 
improve access and use of the green space and are looking to develop a plan for this 
space that would encourage more positive behaviour e.g. path network, improved 
access and additional tree planting.  The councillor and residents will be kept informed. 
 

Q.37 Councillor Tara Deacy  
Can I get some feedback in terms of this question I raised last month?  In terms of 
fines, how any have been handed out.  Residents have been in touch again about this 
junction. 

 
Q.30Councillor Tara Deacy 

 I raised the issue of illegal parking at the junction of Aughavanagh and Clogher 
Roads many times. It was highlighted at the time that this would be monitored 
and if it were to persist further action would be taken. Locals have sent me photos 
on number of occasions and the issue has indeed persisted and in fact gotten 
worse.  Can we now look at the installation of planters as was discussed as soon 
as possible so we can avoid a serious accident in the near future?  - This is still 
a problem. Can we look at addressing this again? 
  

Reply: 
The Dublin Street Parking Services have been enforcing against illegal parking on the 
footpath at the junction of Aughavanagh and Clogher Roads and this enforcement will 
continue as the issue is ongoing. 
  

Q.38 Councillor Tara Deacy  
Can we sweep the gully drains in Derry Park, Lismore Road, Ferns Road, Cloyne 
Road, Sundrive Road (shopping area outside Apache Pizza & Credit Untione)? 

  
Reply: 
Staff in the Surface Water and Flood Incident Management Division are currently 
undertaking gully cleaning in Crumlin and Drimnagh so the majority of the gullies on 

Page 67

mailto:parks@dublincity.ie


the roads listed will be cleaned in the next 2-4 weeks.  Should any defects or problems 
with gullies be identified when they are cleaned they will be passed on to the Drainage 
Services Division to be repaired. 
 
Waste Management Services had the kerbside channels of the above mentioned 
roads swept on the 30th April 2021. 
 

Q.39 Councillor Tara Deacy  
To ask the manager to repaint and repair the lamp posts on the following streets the 
majority of which are rusted. 
 

Clogher Road 
Clonmacnoise Road 
Crumlin Park 
Downpatrick Road 
Fernvale Drive 
Leighlin Road 
Monasterboice Road 
 

Reply: 
We will examine the public lighting columns on the streets listed above and if the poles 
are suitable and painting is required, they will be added to a list for inclusion on a future 
painting programme, subject to available finances. 
 

Q.40 Councillor Tara Deacy  
To ask the manager for a list of the abandoned vehicles removal requests, the location, 
the date requested, date expected to be removed and current status of request, that 
have been reported on the CRM in the last 12 months in the Crumlin/Kimmage area.  
What is the expected turnaround time for removal of an abandoned vehicle?  A number 
of residents have mentioned vehicles not being removed despite requests being sent 
in via CRM. 
 
Reply: 
There is no provision for a list of vehicle removal requests as requested above, nor are 
requests broken down by area. The only status that appears on CRM would be open 
or closed – Open being currently under investigation, closed being removed and 
scrapped, or not deemed abandoned. 
 
The average turnaround for the removal of abandoned vehicles is three weeks. 
 
In 2020 there were 1299 reports of abandoned vehicles, but 8 out of 10 of these were 
found not to be abandoned. 
 

Q.41 Councillor Tara Deacy  
To ask the manager to plant more street trees on Kildare Road on the section between 
Bangor Road and Sundrive. 
 
Reply: 

Parks have checked the available GIS maps, that map underground services, for the 
above mentioned section of road and found that the footpaths have multiple services 
running through them.  This makes retrofitting adequately-sized tree pits expensive 
and difficult.  It may be more beneficial to plant trees on open spaces and within parks 
where there is adequate space for the trees to achieve their full potential.  There is a 
small green space along this stretch of road, but it has multiple overhead services 

Page 68



which makes tree planting unwise.  Any proposal for tree planting would be subject to 
adequate funding being made available. 
 

Q.42 Councillor Deirdre Conroy  
To ask the manager and Litter Management to provide the necessary outdoor bins in 
Rathgar, in local parks and its environs. The outdoor activity of all communities is 
significant over the last 14 months.  
 
This submission states that outdoor activity is also happening on a large scale every 
Friday and Saturday night, and it's making parks unwelcome places for families and 
elderly residents in the area, by day, due to the massive litter left behind.  I am notified 
it is becoming a serious health and safety issue with broken glass being left behind in 
addition to all of the trash.  
 
The photographs are from the Dartry Park on the Dodder on Sunday morning 25 April 
(residents spent 90 minutes cleaning it up).  

 
 
Reply: 
Dublin City Council recently announced an additional 70 new barrel bins for litter 
hotspots. In addition to this 30 new big belly bins have been added in the first half of 
the year in order to cope with increased demand. Parks will be liaising with our 
colleagues in Waste Management to ensure our parks, open spaces and immediate 
environs are kept to a good standard of cleanliness over the coming months. Parks 
staff are continuously working at maintaining our parks and open spaces to a high 
standard.  
 
Waste Management review all stock holding of bins and locations external to Parks, 
Engineers will engage with the Inspector in Rathgar and Rathmines and review in line 
with full city demand, servicing, stock and capacity. 
 

Q.43 Councillor Deirdre Conroy  

To ask the Manager on behalf of residents of Rathdown Park, Terenure to ask Traffic 
Department to replace the 4 large traffic signs on the roundabout (black & yellow 
chevrons with a large separate arrow sign on top of each) described as ‘very unsightly 
and are a magnet for graffiti.’ Resident notifies far smaller chevrons are on main road 
roundabouts and indeed on some motorway roundabouts. 
 
The small amenity tree planting carried out by the City Council to make good recent 
trenching works for water services, which included loss of the tree on the roundabout, 
are completely obscured by the large chevron signs.  As seen in photo submitted by 
enquirer. 
 
Enquirer states that there are yield signposts on the approach to the roundabout from 
all 4 residential roads and query the need for chevron signs at all.   
 

Page 69

x-apple-data-detectors://2/


It is requested to have the large blue arrow signs replaced with smaller arrow signs, in 
keeping with a residential area and allow residents and visitors to Bushy Park see 
recent tree planting.   

 
 
Reply: 

This request (Enquiry Ref: 7020380) will be referred to the Area Engineer for 
assessment and report to the Transport Advisory Group for their consideration.  
 
The Councillor will then be informed of the final recommendations of the Transport 
Advisory Group.  
 

Q.44 Councillor Deirdre Conroy  
To ask the Manager to ask the Traffic Dept. to address the concerns of residents in 
Crumlin on the lack of pedestrian crossing on wide junctions. I have brought these up 
issues up by other residents last year. And it appears to still be an issue.  
 
Clogher Road and Parnell Road, very busy junction, it is only possible to cross safely 
(using a signalised crossing) in one direction i.e. the western crossing.  
Quote from Enquirer “To cross in any of the other three directions requires taking your 
life into your hands.” This is especially the case in relation to the elderly, the less-abled 
and those crossing with young children. It is not uncommon to see people run across 
the road, narrowly avoiding a collision with fast-moving traffic.” 
 
“We have raised this issue on the portal on the Dublin City Council website but have 
received no response. We note that funding has been allocated to improving the on-
road cycle facilities along the canal recently and perhaps this issue (and that of other 
similar inadequate crossings along the canal) could be addressed as part of that 
project.” 

Page 70



  
A less serious but very frustrating issue is the wait-time at the one pedestrian crossing 
provided on Sundrive Road (near the junction with Blarney Park). It often takes over a 
minute for the pedestrian crossing to turn green after the button is pressed.  

 
Sundrive Road 
Enquirer states “Cars are constantly parked in a haphazard way that forces 
pedestrians to weave between them and sometimes to step out onto the road. What 
designated parking spaces there are often provided inside the footpath which means 
that cars have to traverse the footpath to access them. This leads to a complete free-
for-all where people feel they can park wherever they like on the footpath. This is even 
more egregious when there is a car park provided opposite Supervalu Sundrive that is 
often next to empty.” 
Sundrive Road is used as a route to school for many children attending Scoil Mológa 
and Harold's Cross National School on Clareville Road. Along with the above issues 
the width of the road allows for and often encourages speeding, making it a very hostile 
experience for children walking, cycling or scooting to school.  
 
Reply: 
Changes were made to the operation of the signalised junction at Sundrive Road / 
Blarney Park at the end of March in response to a similar query seeking the reduction 
of pedestrian wait times for the pedestrian crossing at this junction. The ITS Officer 
made changes which created a reduction in the pedestrian wait times. The logs for the 
signalised junction were reviewed after the changes were made to determine the 
impact. The logs revealed that the average wait time is approx. 10 seconds during the 
AM peak. Please note the pedestrian wait times vary from junction to junction and 
depend on when the push button is pressed during the cycle. Please note that the 
operation of signalised junctions across the city have been revised during COVID in 
order to reduce the pedestrian wait times. The lower cycle length measure is to stop 
the build-up of pedestrians at junctions and to reduce the pedestrian wait times which 
assists the public observing social distancing guidance. 
 
Dublin Street Parking Services will be asked to enforce against illegal parking on 
footpaths on Sundrive Road. 
 
School Zones have been installed at both Scoil Mológa and Harold's Cross National 
School on Clareville Road to increase safety at the school gate. Recently the 
Government launched the Safe Routes to School Initiative in which all schools 

Page 71



nationwide were invited to apply. Applications are currently being shortlisted.  DCC will 
work in collaboration with the National Transport Authority and Green-Schools to 
implement and successful applications in Dublin City.   
There is currently a school zone in place at Scoil Mológa and Harold’s Cross National 
School to aid parents with school children access the schools in the morning and 
afternoon. There are electronic speed signs on the approaches to Scoil Mológa and 
Harold’s Cross National School on Clareville Road alerting drivers if their driving speed 
is excessive.  
 
Any issues with speeding on Clareville Road is a matter of enforcement by the traffic 
division of the local Gardaí who should be notified as soon as issues of speeding take 
place.  The area engineer will raise this matter with the Gardaí at the next Transport 
Advisory Group meeting. 
  
There are traffic calming measures in place on Clareville Road in the form of speed 
ramps to curb vehicle speeds. 
 
The Environment and Transport Department is progressing the development of 
Grand Canal Premium Cycle Route – Blackhorse to Portobello. The scheme will 
include upgrades to all junctions along the route to provide linking to the local area 
and radial routes. Safe pedestrian and cycling access at all junctions will be delivered 
as part of this junction.  
 

Q.45 Councillor Deirdre Conroy  
To ask the Manager to ask Litter Management to provide additional waste bins in 
Rathmines, and also Rathgar, which I’m advised have the least amount of outdoor 
bins, when there is a massive community spending time outdoors.  
 
I will have to bring this to City Council as well as the enquirers are requesting public 
toilet facilities throughout the city, where there are already public toilets in ‘takeaway 
food and alcohol’ units, the toilets should be accessible. As there is a major issue of 
faeces on roads and lanes [Richmond Mews], and broken glass. 
 
The enquirer states that she had to email the council parks department a number of 
times to come and clean up the nearby park at Mount Pleasant Square, there is only 
one small bin outside the gate.  
Quote “The council refuse to acknowledge a continued request for a bin from me and 
my neighbours who are also frequent park users for additional bins.” 
 
Reply: 
Dublin City Council is calling out to all those partaking in outdoor activity to act 
responsibly by using the bin to dispose of litter and where there is no bin available to 
please bring litter home and being part of the “Leave no Trace” Campaign. 
 
There are currently over 3,200 bins in the City Council area with an additional 70 barrel 
bins in place at litter hotspots to assist with the extra demand with 30 additional big 
belly bin being installed in the first half of the year. Frontline street cleaning staff are 
working around the clock in an effort to deal with all of the litter that is being left behind. 
 
Waste Management Services have a bin at Mount Pleasant Park on Ranelagh Rd 
which is the most suitable location. Parks Department can advise on additional 
potential units internally. 
 
Engineers will be advised of request and review accordingly in line with stock, locations 
and viability.   

Page 72



 
Providing access to toilet provisions in “takeaway food and alcohol units” would be a 
matter for National Government in conjunction with public health restrictions.   
 
Waste Management review all stock holding of bins and locations external to Parks, 
Engineers will engage with the Inspector in Rathgar and Rathmines and review in line 
with full city demand, servicing, stock and capacity. 
 
Mount Pleasant Park is a small historic park that is almost exclusively used by dog 
walkers during Covid. This has resulted in the bulk of the waste comprising of dog 
waste and coffee cups. The vast majority of those using the park do bring their waste 
home and or use the litter bin located on the street outside the park. The park is litter 
picked in the morning by Park staff and inspected regularly and staff have found that 
the park is does not attract the large scale littering that has been seen in other parks. 
Considering the unhygienic nature of dog poo it is difficult for staff to collect and 
dispose of, which is especially true when it constitutes the bulk of the waste. Therefore 
it is not proposed to install an additional bin to service this Park as requested. 
 

Q.46 Councillor Pat Dunne 

Can the manager ask for our Play Development Officer to make contact with (details 
supplied) who is a resident of Innismore in Crumlin Village?  He and other residents in 
this small estate would like to erect a small playground for their children on their small 
green. They would welcome any assistance or advice in this endeavour. 

 
Reply: 
There is a large playground at Willie Pearse Park which is within a 5 – 10 minute walk 
of the location in question.  This playground is fully equipped and well – maintained, 
so there is no requirement for another playground in the area. 
 
If the residents wish, they can meet with the Play Development Officer to discuss how 
they can support local children to engage in opportunities for play nearer to home for 
more informal everyday street play activities.  

  
Q.47 Councillor Pat Dunne 

Can the Area Manager arrange for the grass to be cut on the greens in Innismore 
Estate Crumlin Village?  
 
Reply: 
The grass in the above mentioned area was cut last week. 
 

Q.48 Councillor Danny Byrne 
To ask the manager if the footpath outside details supplied could be fixed as soon as 
possible as there is an elderly resident in the adjacent home and the condition of the 
footpath is causing a problem.  
 
Reply: 
The footpath at this location has been inspected and the defects found have been 
logged in our asset management system for repairs to be carried out. 
 

Q.49 Councillor Danny Byrne 
To ask the manager if the below could be looked:  

 
“ I would be very interested in learning how/if it would be possible to get Dublin City 
Council to plant trees on this Harcourt Terrace, Dublin 2.  Historically, this street was 
a mall that had a row of incredible oak trees down the centre until the council removed 

Page 73



them in the 1970s and replaced the mall with tarmac. It would be great to see trees 
restored to this street either as a mall (i.e. down the centre) or alternatively on the side 
of the road. It would also be great to remove one or two of the parking spaces (these 
are only used by nearby office workers and not the residents of the terrace) and replace 
them with plants such as can be found on St Brigit's Street Upper in Dublin 9. 
 
Reply: 

Any decision to reduce parking spaces will be taken in conjunction with Traffic 
Engineers and Parks Department who may make proposals to alter the existing street 
space with the installation of trees or planters. 
 

Parks, Biodiversity and Landscape Services shall arrange to undertake a survey of the 
Terrace with a view to establishing its suitability for street tree planting. The survey will 
be undertaken during the summer months and the Councillor will be advised of its 
findings in due course. 
 

Q.50 Councillor Danny Byrne 
To ask the Manager if “The Bridge “ changing rooms in Ringsend Park could be put 
into use for the benefit of the local community and students of Ringsend College as 
the previous occupant no longer uses this facility.  
 
Reply: 
This matter will be discussed with the Parks Department and I will revert to the Cllr. 
when I have a response. 
 

Q.51 Councillor Danny Byrne 
To ask the manager if St Matthew’s school, Sandymount could be assessed or 
surveyed in terms of accessibility for school drops for buggies and prams etc., many 
of the junctions could do with being dished.  In addition, there is a lot of overhanging 
foliage on Cranford Place. 
 
Reply: 
St. Matthew’s School has applied for and been approved for a School Zone and works 
will proceed following discussions with the school.  
 
A School Zone is an initiative designed to give priority to students at the school gate 
by freeing up footpaths and reducing vehicle drop-offs, pick-ups and idling. The aim is 
to reduce congestion and increase safety at the front of school, and prioritise active 
travel (walking and cycling) to and from school. 
 
School Zones aims to: 

 Encourage traffic to slow down in the School Zone area 
 Prevent parking on pavements 
 Encourage drivers to make drop-offs outside the School Zone area and not to 

stop in the School Zone area 
 

A School Zone includes: 
 Line-marking stating ‘School Zone’ at either end of the area 
 Colourful circles on the road demarcating the front of school area 
 Pencil-shaped bollards on the footpath to prevent illegal parking 
 These design features assist in creating a safer, calmer, more attractive 

environment at the school gate. 
 

Page 74



Cranford Place footpaths will be inspected and locations where wheelchair dishing’s 
are required will be logged in our asset management system for dishing installations 
works to be carried out. 
 
Hedge cutting notices will be issued to any properties where overhanging foliage is 
causing a hindrance on the public footpath. 
 

Q.52 Councillor Danny Byrne 
To ask the Manager for an update on how often the following streets are cleaned:  
Sandwith Street, Fenian Street, Holles Street and Merrion Square North? 

 
Residents report a lot of dog faeces on these streets, which is unacceptable anywhere, 
but particularly in the environs of a maternity hospital.  
 
Reply: 

Waste Management Services have the above mentioned streets cleaned on a daily 
basis. We will monitor the cleaning of this area to see what improvements can be 
made, particularly in relation to the removal of dog foul. 
 

Q.53 Councillor Danny Byrne 
To ask the manager if consideration could be given to installing “age friendly parking” 
in council owned / operated car parks and streets. 
 
Age friendly parking spaces are courtesy spaces (similar to parent and baby spaces), 
the idea being that the public is asked to respect these spaces and leave them free for 
older people to use. 
 
This would make Dublin city a more age friendly and supportive place to live and visit. 
 
Reply: 
Dublin City Council provide spaces throughout the city for people with disabilities. It is 
not clear what “age friendly parking” requirements are and what specific requirements 
are intended. The definition of an aged person is one over 55 years of age. This large 
cohort together with existing disability spaces and family friendly spaces could possibly 
reduce parking spaces for people outside of these categories to a limited number. The 
Parking Policy and Enforcement Officer is open to receive information on what 
requirements and provisions are needed to meet age friendly parking criteria. 
 

Q.54 Councillor Danny Byrne 

To ask the manager for a report on a lock up on Pigeon House Road, Ringsend 
previously used by the Stella Maris Rowing Club. The club used this lock up for many 
years and was asked to leave it by DCC in 2018. Despite vacating it, the lock up it is 
now unused and the rowing community could really do with the space for the safe 
storage of their boats, trailers and equipment.   Please advise on plans for this lock 
up.  
 
Reply: 
This site was previously utilised by the Stella Maris Rowing Club and in 2018 the 
licence was terminated because it was earmarked for redevelopment.by the Housing 
Department. This redevelopment did not proceed and Housing are re-assessing their 
options and have advised that the site can be leased again to the Stella Maris Rowing 
Club on a yearly licence subject to terms and conditions regarding access (site 
surveys) and the vacating of the site on statutory notice when required. The 
Development Department has been requested to complete the necessary formalities. 
 

Page 75



Q.55 Councillor Danny Byrne 
To ask the manager about the housing position of details supplied.  The applicant is in 
very over-crowded and unsuitable accommodation at present.  

 
Reply: 
The above applicant is on the Housing List with an application date of 12/01/2010, and 
the applicant holds the following positions on this list: 

Area  Bedsize Position 

Area M 2 6 

Area M 3 25 

 
The applicant will be considered for offer when accommodation to meet her household 
need becomes available and according to her position on the list. The applicant’s 
interest in Hanover Wharf has been noted on her file.  
Dublin City Council allocates properties based on time on the list and currently there 
are applicants of longer standing who have to be considered as suitable vacancies 
arise. It is not possible to indicate accurately the prospect of an offer for any applicant. 
The number of vacancies arising will be a determining factor in the length of time 
applicants could expect to be on the waiting list.  
It may benefit the applicant to increase her areas of choice as it may increase her 
chance of being housed in a shorter timeframe. Housing Advisors are available 
(Monday – Friday 2pm – 5pm) to discuss options with the applicant should she wish to 
amend her application to include additional areas of choice. 
The applicant may be eligible for HAP which will provide her with financial assistance 
towards the cost of renting another property. Should the applicant wish to apply for the 
HAP scheme, she should make contact with the Allocations Section with current 
income details where a Housing Advisor can provide information and advice on the 
scheme. 
 

Q.56 Councillor Danny Byrne 
To ask the Manager for an update on the parking scheme at Havelock Square.  The 
residents, having passed this, are waiting an inordinate amount of time for the parking 
scheme to be out in place. 

 
Reply: 

The Transport Advisory Group, at its meeting of 23/2/21 recommended the introduction 
of a Pay & Display and Permit Parking scheme, Hours Mon-Saturday 07.00 – 19.00 
which was accepted at ballot of residents. The result of the ballot was as follows: 
 
75 on the register of electors, 44 votes returned, 34 for, 1 against, 9 spoilt. 
 
This measure will be implemented subject to the completion of the necessary statutory 
consultation process with the Gardaí. This process is currently underway and once 
completed the Parking Policy and Enforcement Unit will be advised they may proceed 
with the implementation of the scheme. There is currently a number of schemes to be 
implemented prior to this one, so it will be a number of months before Havelock Square 
can be implemented. 

 
Q.57 Councillor Danny Byrne 

To ask the manager if I can have an update on the housing position of details supplied.  
 
Reply: 

Page 76



The above applicant is on the Housing Transfer List and in receipt of HAP, with an 
application date of 30/05/2016, and the applicant holds the following positions on this 
list: 
 

Area  Bedsize Position 

Area H 2 400 

Area K 2 457 

Area M 2 282 

 
Based on the above positions, it may be considerable tie before the applicant is 
reached for an offer of housing. The applicant will be considered for offer when 
accommodation to meet her household need becomes available and according to her 
position on the list. The applicant’s interest in Hanover Wharf has been noted on her 
file.  
Dublin City Council allocates properties based on time on the list and currently there 
are applicants of longer standing who have to be considered as suitable vacancies 
arise. It is not possible to indicate accurately the prospect of an offer for any applicant. 
The number of vacancies arising will be a determining factor in the length of time 
applicants could expect to be on the waiting list.  
 

Q.58 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 

To ask the manager if it would be possible to plant trees along Harcourt Street. 
 
Reply: 
Parks, Biodiversity and Landscape Services shall arrange to undertake a survey of the 
Street with a view to establishing its suitability for street tree planting. The survey will 
be undertaken during the summer months and the Councillor will be advised of its 
findings in due course. 
 

Q.59 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 
To ask the manager to increase the number of bins provided in areas where there are 
large numbers of people and to increase frequency of cleansing. 

 
Reply: 
Dublin City Council is calling out to all those partaking in outdoor activity to act 
responsibly by using the bin to dispose of litter and where there is no bin available to 
please bring litter home and being part of the “Leave no Trace” Campaign. 
 
There are currently over 3,200 bins in the City Council area with an additional 70 barrel 
bins in place at litter hotspots to assist with the extra demand with 30 additional big 
belly bin being installed in the first half of the year. Frontline street cleaning staff are 
working around the clock in an effort to deal with all of the litter that is being left behind. 
 
Parks have seen a large increase in footfall over the pandemic with increased litter 
volumes in some areas. To address this Parks have secured a number of additional 
large volume bins for both Herbert Park and Sandymount Green. Parks are litter picked 
every morning with bins within the parks emptied at this time also.  
Dublin City Council recently announced an additional 70 new barrel bins for litter 
hotspots across the city which will be managed by Waste Management Services. 
 

Q.60 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 

Page 77



To ask the manager about the ownership of the small piece of land at the junction of 
South Lotts Road and Bath Avenue Place.  Is there a piece of land here owned by the 
Pembroke Estate and does that impact on the planning permission given to the former 
garage across the road? 
 
Reply: 
The land comprising the wide footpaths with shrub planters thereon north and south of 
the junction where Bath Avenue Place joins South Lotts Road is in the ownership of 
Dublin City Council. 
 
This land was included in the site subject of planning permission DCC Ref. 3068/19 
ABP ref 305927-19 for the redevelopment of the former Alasta Motors premises to a 
grocery store.  As the proposal included lands in the control of Dublin City Council, the 
application was accompanied by letter of consent from the City Engineer. ABP 
condition 4 requires the following: 

4. Prior to the commencement of development, full details of works to the public road 
and public realm shall be agreed in writing with the planning authority. The developer 
shall liaise with the applicable utility provider with regard to the removal/relocation of 
electricity public lighting column adjacent to the site, and the undergrounding or 
relocation of overhead cables. All works shall be carried out at the developer’s 
expense.  
Reason: In the interest of amenity and of traffic and pedestrian safety. 
 
A compliance submission in relation to this condition was lodged on 25/03/2021. 
 

Q.61 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 
To ask the manager to provide infrastructure that would improve safety at the crossing 
from Montague Street to Camden Street.  It is currently quite hazardous to cyclists in 
particular. 

 
Reply: 

The Transport Advisory Groups Capital Works Programme for 2021 has been finalised 
and discussed with local members. The budget for 2021 has been allocated in full. 
This request will be assessed as part of the forthcoming 2022 programme.  The short 
list for 2022 will be presented to Councillors for discussion later this year.  
 

Q.62 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 
To ask the manager to tag bicycles for removal in South Lotts. A few were done in 
recent days but there are a number that have been there for some time and were 
missed.  
 
Reply: 
A number of bikes have been tagged for removal in the South Lotts area on 19th April 
and were removed over the May Bank Holiday Weekend. 
 
Any bikes that are removed are bikes that would be considered to be abandoned. 
There are certain criteria that would normally be associated with abandoned bikes such 
as missing parts, flat tyres, cobwebs etc. Reports are also taken from members of the 
public regarding bikes that may not have been moved for a long time. 
 
If the Councillor has specific locations where there may be additional abandoned bikes 
I will arrange for them to be inspected and tagged, if necessary.  
 

Q.63 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 

Page 78



To ask the manager when the Dublin Bike station at Barrow Street will be reinstalled 
or replaced. The area has been without the stand for a long time with no replacement. 
 
Reply: 
Station 70, Barrow Street was removed to safeguard the welfare of scheme members 
having regard to the significant construction activities taking place in the area. This is 
a temporary station removal. It is planned that the station will be reinstated post 
construction works. The timeline for reinstatement cannot be determined having regard 
to CV19 construction related delays. Alternative stations are located nearby at South 
Dock Road, Grand Canal Quay and Grand Canal Street Lower at Sir Patrick Dun’s 
Hospital. 
 
Attempts have been made to find a temporary or permanent station site in the area 
including on Barrow Street and Ringsend Road to act as a replacement. Unfortunately 
the operational requirements of the scheme and characteristics of road layouts and 
underground utilities preclude the provision of an alternative station in the vicinity.  

 
Q.64 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 

To ask the manager to investigate a number of abandoned cars on Thorncastle Street 
and also to outline the process for dealing with abandoned cars. 

 
Reply: 
A number of cars were investigated on this street. Any found to be abandoned were 
removed.  The remainder belong to local residents who cannot move them due to the 
current pandemic. 
 
Complaints about abandoned vehicles come into us from a variety of sources. These 
include phone calls, CRM (customer relationship management) system, through our 
customer services centre, e-mails, the Gardaí, Parking Enforcement Section, after 
hours office, clamping company and information from staff. 

 
After receiving a complaint, the authorised officer would go out and view most of the 
vehicles based on the information received.  

 
Burnt out vehicles are passed on to our contractors for removal, without being viewed. 

 
For the remaining vehicles we go out to look at them. We photograph them showing 
front, back and both sides of the car usually.  We take close up photographs of any 
damage on the vehicle or inside the vehicle where possible.  Photographs should also 
show whether the vehicle is unlocked.  These photographs can be used as evidence 
in a court case if necessary. We use a powerful digital camera for that purpose and 
then save all the photos on to a PC. 

 
Decisions are based on section 71 of the “Waste Management Act” (1996). Frequently 
information received will specify how long the vehicle is there and if the vehicle is in 
bad shape, and unable to be put back in a roadworthy condition for a reasonable sum 
(compared to the value of the vehicle) then the vehicle will be scrapped immediately. 
The authorised officer may make a decision based on the information presented to 
him/her and dispose of any vehicle that he/she believes is simply abandoned. In many 
cases this would be described as a vehicle of small value left in such a place or such 
a position as to give an indication that the vehicle is not wanted e.g. non display of tax 
and insurance, vehicle illegally parked, unsecured or parked in some place that would 
give no indication that anybody in the vicinity wanted the vehicle. In some cases if the 
vehicle is potentially able to be put back on the road, then we will tow in the car and 
write to the registered owner and follow the criteria in the act, this will usually mean 

Page 79



that there is some indication that the vehicle is wanted and the vehicle would be 
deemed to have a value or be obviously wanted by an owner.  

 
In most cases, looking at a vehicle may not give enough information, so we may 
contact motor tax to get the registered owner’s details and write to the registered 
owner. It is not the responsibility of the local authority to deal with complaints of non-
delivery of post. It is the responsibility of the seller of a vehicle to ensure that the 
transfer of ownership is done correctly. This may help them avoid a fine being issued 
for dumping of a vehicle under the “Litter Pollution Act” (1997), for cars removed. It is 
in the best interests of the owner of the vehicle to ensure that the vehicle is registered 
to them at the correct address (i.e. where the vehicle is normally kept), to ensure they 
do not have any problems with the removal of a vehicle they may want. In some cases 
e.g. foreign registration, a notice is put on the vehicle. 

 
The Abandoned Vehicles Section is not for people who want their parking space 
outside their house left free, or for parking enforcement. The Gardaí also have powers 
to deem a vehicle abandoned. Most vehicles are removed based on the length of time 
they are in place or the condition of the vehicle.  
 

Q.65 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 
To ask the manager to liaise with the relevant authorities for the removal of graffiti 
underneath the rail bridge on South Lotts Road. 
 
Reply: 
The matter has been referred to Irish Rail for attention. 
 

Q.66 Councillor Mary Freehill  

To ask the Traffic Department to examine the school pencils at Clareville Road school.  
I have been contacted by cyclists who say with the narrowing curb on the road it makes 
cycling very dangerous. This needs to be urgently examined before there is an 
accident at this point. 

 
Reply: 
The school pencils were installed on Clareville Road as part of a School Zone to reduce 
the amount of vehicles that park outside the school as a safety intervention. With the 
introduction of these school pencils the road width is 3.5 m which is the standard width 
for an arterial road. 
 

Q.67 Councillor Tara Deacy  

Can DCC have picnic benches installed in Eamon Ceannt and Stannaway Park?  The 
park benches are great, but for outdoor eating in the good weather picnic benches are 
much better for kids and families. OPW and Fingal CC have installed plenty in their 
park spaces during the pandemic. Can this be considered?  

 
Reply: 
Parks can look to install a number of picnic benches at the above mentioned locations. 
 

Q.68 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn  

To ask the Manager for an update on additional public bins in public spaces along the 
Grand Canal and Poolbeg/Irishtown/Sandymount. 

 
Reply: 

Dublin City Council is calling out to all those partaking in outdoor activity to act 
responsibly by using the bin to dispose of litter and where there is no bin available to 
please bring litter home and being part of the “Leave no Trace” Campaign. 

Page 80



 
There are currently over 3,200 bins in the city council area with an additional 70 barrel 
bins in place at litter hotspots to assist with the extra demand with 30 additional big 
belly bin being installed in the first half of the year. Frontline street cleaning staff are 
working around the clock in an effort to deal with all of the litter that is being left behind. 
 
Parks have seen a large increase in footfall over the pandemic with increased litter 
volumes in some areas. To address this Parks have secured a number of additional 
large volume bins for both Herbert Park and Sandymount Green.  Parks are litter 
picked every morning with bins within the parks emptied at this time also.  
Dublin City Council recently announced an additional 70 new barrel bins for litter 
hotspots across the city which will be managed by Waste Management Services. 

 
Q.69 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn  

To ask the Manager for an update on works on the Sean Moore Road Roundabout 
including painting. 
 
Reply: 
The South East Area Office arranged to have wildflowers planted at this roundabout 
and for the edging to be painted and this was funded by the Discretionary Fund 2021. 
This work was completed recently and the flowers should be in bloom by July. 

 
Q.70 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn  

To ask the Manager if works will be undertaken to fix the lighting and paint railings at 
the grotto on Bremen Avenue. 
 
Reply: 

The light at the grotto will be repaired in the coming weeks. 
The ESB has to run a cable underground and when these works are complete new 
lights will be connected up and the painting of the railings carried out.  

 
Q.71 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn  

To ask the Manager if he will resurface the end of the Bremen Ave cul-de-sac by 17 to 
21 Bremen Avenue under the trees with artificial grass or rubber safety matting and 
consider installing benches in consultation with local residents. 

 
Reply: 
Parks, Biodiversity and Landscape services can arrange a meeting with the resident 
group in relation to their request. 
 
The resident group may forward by e-mail their suggestions to parks@dublincity.ie 
where the relevant staff will be glad to assist in any way possible. 
 

Q.72 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn  
To ask the Manager if he will ensure that the grass which is growing over the footpaths 
in the new houses, particularly along Bremen Avenue where the estate border the 
Irishtown Stadium, is pared back and maintained. 
 
Reply: 
The matter will be examined and a report issued to the Councillor as soon as possible. 
 

Q.73 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn  

To ask the Manager for an update regarding the clearing of weeds in the housing lanes 
off Bremen Avenue and Bremen Road. 
 

Page 81

mailto:parks@dublincity.ie


Reply: 
Dublin City Council has carried has undertaken and completed this body of work.  
 

Q.74 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn  
To ask the Manager if the council still installs "Children at Play - Drive Slow" signs and 
if so if he will arrange for the installation of such signs, as well as ensuring the 
appropriateness of cul-de-sac notifications, along Kerlogue Road, in particular towards 
the cul-de-sac end possibly on the lamp post beside 15 Kerlogue Road. 

 
Reply: 
The area engineer will carry out a site assessment on Kerlogue Road, in regard to the 
issues raised by Councillor Ceitinn and issue a report to the Transport Advisory Group 
for their consideration.  
 
The Councillor will then be informed of the final recommendations of the Transport 
Advisory Group.  
 

Q.75 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn  
To ask the Manager for an update on the Portobello public consultation; when it will 
commence and the form it will take. 
 
Reply: 
A meeting took place on the 28th January with SEA Councillors to discuss the proposed 
public consultation for Portobello Plaza. A meeting was then held with City Architects, 
Roads, Planning and Public Realm to discuss how we might proceed. 
 
The architects for the hotel had confirmed that they planned to commence 
development in the summer.  We had sought an early meeting with them.  However, 
they say that their preference is to hold out progressing any meetings until July when 
they will have more certainty over timings for the project. This meeting with the 
architects for the hotel needs to take place before we can commence any public 
consultation. The format of this public consultation has not yet been decided as yet. 

 
Q.76 Councillor Tara Deacy  

Can we install a traffic island at the corner of Clonmac and Sundrive Road?  Residents 
are having serious speeding issues with folks coming off various roads of four roads 
and taking this turn at high speed which has safety concerns for elderly, visually 
impaired and children that try to cross here. 
 
Reply: 
The area engineer will carry out a full assessment at this location. The problematic 
crossing points from Clonmacnoise Road to Sundrive Road for the elderly and visually 
impaired will need to be pinpointed before any traffic calming measures or 
infrastructure is considered.  
 

Q.77 Councillor Carolyn Moore  
To ask the area manager if double yellow lines can be added at the first corner of the 
road inside the Mount Argus Estate in Harold’s Cross to ensure safety and visibility for 
residents and road users. 
 
Reply: 
The Area engineer will carry out a site visit at this location and the Area engineer will 
assess the issues raised by Cllr. Moore. 
 

Q.78 Councillor Carolyn Moore  

Page 82



To ask the area manager to ensure that the delivery of a school zone to Armagh Road, 
which will be designed to deliver elements of a standard school zone suitable for a 
50kmph road, is done in an holistic way that takes account of the other facilities 
accessed by this road and takes full advantage of national funding streams available. 
Armagh Road is home to multiple schools, health centres, a music school, age-friendly 
housing, and two youth clubs, all within a 200m stretch. The pathways here are wide 
and should be considered for segregated cycling to ensure safe routes to school for 
students, and much-needed infrastructure for this busy thoroughfare. 
 
Reply: 
There is a School Zone being installed on Armagh Road within the next 2 weeks. This 
design includes bollards, planters and colourful circles on the road. This School Zone 
does not have a cycle track for students in the design.  The possibility of a cycle track 
will be assessed as part of a larger design for the road. The road is being assessed at 
the moment for larger interventions. 
 

Q.79 Councillor Carolyn Moore  
To ask the area manager if the timing and functionality of the pedestrian crossing at 
the traffic lights outside Lidl in Rathmines can be reviewed. Residents report multiple 
occasions where the lights have failed to provide an opportunity for pedestrians to 
cross. 
 
Reply: 

The Intelligent Transportation Systems section will carry out a review of the operation 
of the traffic signals with regard to pedestrian wait times and will issue a follow up 
response when this review is completed. 
 

Q.80 Councillor Carolyn Moore  
To ask the area manager to ensure that bins are installed on Mount Pleasant Avenue 
and Palmerston Road. There are currently no bins between the canal and Palmerston 
Park for people taking this circa 2km route between two popular amenity areas, and 
littering from takeaway coffee and food is increasing, as is dog fouling. 
 
Reply: 
These streets are not considered main thoroughfares and are primarily residential with 
no significant litter generators. Also the footpaths are quite narrow for a litter bin. Waste 
Management Services have bins at the end of these streets along the canal, one at 
Belgrave Park and another at Palmerston Park and people are encouraged to use 
these. There are no plans to install bins here at this time. 
 

Q.81 Councillor Carolyn Moore  
To ask the area manager if the footpaths at Lavarna in Terenure can be inspected and 
assessed for resurfacing, as uneven surfaces currently pose a threat of fall risk for 
elderly residents in particular.  
 
Reply: 
Footpaths on Lavarna Road and Lavarna Grove will be inspected and any defects 
found will be logged in our asset management system for repairs to be carried out. 
 

Q.82 Councillor Claire Byrne 
To ask the Area Manager can he provide an update on the lamp post charging points 
on Sir John Rogerson’s Quay, can he confirm whether they will ever be switched on, 
and if not will they be replaced with an alternative functioning EV charging point in this 
location.  
 

Page 83



Reply: 
Two twin head 22KV EV Chargers were installed on Sir John Rogerson’s Quay in late 
2019 as part of a SMART Docklands initiative. These were expected to be 
commissioned in 2020.  Due to technical issues and the Covid 19 situation the 
chargers were not commissioned at that time.  In the meantime, a Regional EV 
Charging Group was established and commissioned consultants to draw up a regional 
EV Charging strategy for all four Dublin Local Authorities. Their report is to be 
presented to the 4 C.E.O. shortly.  It has become apparent that local authorities do not 
have the resources to operate, manage and maintain a network of EV chargers.  The 
council has therefore agreed to transfer the EV charging infrastructure to ESB E-cars 
who manage the current stock of on-street EV chargers.  ESB E-cars will take over the 
operation and management of the EV chargers on Sir John Rogerson’s Quay and have 
commenced works on upgrading the four charging points.  
 

Q.83 Councillor Claire Byrne 

To ask the Area Manager can you ask Traffic to re assess the traffic light sequencing 
of the lights at College Green at the junction of Grafton Street and the main entrance 
to Trinity College.  These only ever go green when a Luas or bus approaches from the 
south meaning cyclists are left waiting for a green that will never come. Perhaps a 
cyclist priority light could be installed here.  

 
Reply: 
The Intelligent Transportation Systems Section will carry out a review of the cyclist 
detection on this approach and will issue a follow up response when this review is 
completed. 
 

Q.84 Councillor Claire Byrne 

To ask the Area Manager are there plans to introduce cycle lanes and improved 
pedestrian facilities on Tara Street , which currently only facilitates 3 to 4 lanes of cars. 

 
Reply: 

It was planned to convert this street to have a bus/cycle lane and 2 traffic lanes. The 
design for this was approved via the TAG system in early 2020 but due to COVID this 
work was put on hold. 
It is now being brought back in to a works schedule to facilitate public transportation 
and cycling as restrictions are being lifted and business are returning. It is expected to 
be implemented within the coming months. 
 

Q.85 Councillor Claire Byrne 

To ask the Area Manager for an update on the roll out of safe, secure bin enclosures 
in our housing complexes. 
 
Reply: 

Dublin City Council recognise the importance of providing safe and secure bin 
enclosures in our housing complexes and to that end have commenced the roll out of 
secure bin enclosures in the following complexes:  

 Mercer House  

 Whitefriar Gardens  

 Oxford Court 

 Vincent Street  

 Canon Mooney gardens 

 Charlemont  Court 
 

Page 84



The City Council will continue to roll out bin enclosures across the area subject to 
budgetary measures.  
 

Q.86 Councillor Claire Byrne 
To ask the Area Manager can he please outline the rationale for providing a set of 
traffic lights on Nassau Street located just 10 metres away from an existing set of 
pedestrian lights, and how much did the installation cost. 

 
Reply: 
I believe that the pedestrian crossing you are referring to is at the junction of Nassau 
Street and Dawson Street at the pedestrian entrance to Trinity College.  
 
This site operates as a T Junction with a pedestrian crossing on each arm of the 
junction due to the high volume of pedestrian in the area.   
 
The junction layout was redesigned as part of the Luas Cross City project to 
accommodate Luas operation as part of these works the pedestrian crossing towards 
Grafton Street was offset to allow for better operation of the Luas. The cost of the 
upgrade of this pedestrian crossing was covered under the works for the Luas Cross 
City project.  
 

Q.87 Councillor Claire Byrne 
To ask the Area Manager can he please write to the Gardaí to ask for more 
enforcement of breaking of red lights along the canal from Pearse Street to Leeson 
Street Bridge. 
 
Reply: 

This matter has been raised via written correspondence to the Gardaí and it will be 
highlighted to the Gardaí for enforcement, at the next Transport Advisory Group 
meeting which takes place on a monthly basis. 
 

Q.88 Councillor Claire Byrne 
To ask the Area Manager what are the plans for DCC land adjacent to the old Pigeon 
House Road halting site and the Coastguard Station houses, which is currently vacant.  
Can the Area Manager please allow the Stella Maris Rowing club to store their trailers 
in a lockup on this site temporarily as they have done previously while the site is lying 
idle? 
 
Reply: 

This site was previously utilised by the Stella Maris Rowing Club and in 2018 the 
licence was terminated because it was earmarked for redevelopment.by the Housing 
Department. This redevelopment did not proceed and Housing are re-assessing their 
options and have advised that the site can be leased again to the Stella Maris Rowing 
Club on a yearly licence subject to terms and conditions regarding access (site 
surveys) and the vacating of the site on statutory notice when required. The 
Development Department has been requested to complete the necessary formalities. 
 

Q.89 Councillor Claire Byrne 

To ask the Area Manager can she please address the following issue:  
There is a railway bridge that passes over the street, Cumberland Street just off Pearse 
Street and on the underside of the bridge there is a sort of space enclosed by a grating. 
Pigeons and other birds regularly become trapped inside this space behind the grating 
and become very distressed.  Can the Area Manager please try to address this issue? 

 
Reply: 

Page 85



The matter was reported to Irish Rail on 4th May 2021 for follow up.  Irish Rail may be 
contacted directly at 7033258 or Infrastructure Manager's Office, Iarnród Éireann, 
Pearse Station, Westland Row, Dublin 2.   

 
Q.90 Councillor James Geoghegan 

To ask the South East Area Manager to respond to the issues raised in the following 
email and attached photographs.  
“I am following up on previous message to see if there is anything you can do to request 
the bushes and trees on the green in Ramleh Park/Close are cut back and the green 
area cleaned up and if possible some reseeding of grass as have the green is bald 
and just muck.  
As mentioned in previous message, because it’s so overgrown there are teenagers 
coming and drinking in behind the bushes in the evenings etc. and leaving litter around 
including cans - dangerous for dogs and kids.  
The council have a contract with a company (Peter O Brien / swords ) to cut the grass 
a few times a year but they don’t maintain/seed the grass or cut back any of the big 
trees / bushes. This is the only small green area for all of Ramleh Park and close and 
is used a lot but unfortunately is not in great shape.  
If you could advise how we can get the council to do an annual cutback of the bushes 
and also if they would reseed the grass it would be appreciated. X keen to get the 
green cleaned up as she minds her grandkids in the afternoon and they play out there.”  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
Reply: 

Parks staff have undertaken a programme of work in recent years on the green in 
question during which crown raising and tree removals were carried out. As we are 
now in the closed period for bird nesting season any further cutting work will not 
happen until after September 1st. Parks will review the vegetation in the meantime with 
a view to carrying out work deemed necessary during Autumn/Winter 21/22.  
Any antisocial behavior in the park should be reported to the local gardaí.  
 
Bald patches in the grass can be attributed to the increased footfall and dog walking 
many of our open spaces have experienced during Covid and lockdowns combined 

Page 86



with dry weather. Parks staff will examine the area to assess the best approach to 
getting the grass re-established. 
 

Q.91 Councillor James Geoghegan 
To ask the South East Area Manager to respond to the issues raised in the email 
below: 
“Now that the evenings are getting longer and the weather is better there are children 
playing on the above roads.  Cars turn off Serpentine Avenue, sometimes at speed 
and it is a concern to parents with their children on the street.  Would it be possible to 
engineer traffic calming measures at the Herbert Green/Serpentine Avenue 
intersection to slow down cars as they take the corner?  Also would it be possible to 
introduce children at play signage to educate and warn drivers?  The road also does 
require a resurface and re-marking.” 

 
Reply: 

Herbert Green and Serpentine Avenue are located within a 30km/h speed restriction 
zone.  Existing Slow Zone F 403 signage is erected at the entry points of the speed 
restriction zone, such as at the Serpentine Avenue / Merrion Road junction. The 
children at play signage is already incorporated into the slow zone sign on Serpentine 
Avenue.  As a means of informing the driver of the 30km/h speed zone when entering 
Herbert Green from Serpentine Avenue, it will be recommended that a 30km/h roundel 
be painted at the entrance of Herbert Green. 
 
Serpentine Avenue will be inspected and any defects found will be logged for repair in 
our asset management system. Serpentine Avenue will be put forward for 
consideration for inclusion in our future resurfacing programmes as appropriate.  
 
Traffic will inspect the location in the coming days in relation to the markings only. Any  
Requirement for remarking will be implemented within 30 working days of the SEAC  
Meeting of the 10th of May 21.    
 

Q.92 Councillor James Geoghegan 
To ask the South East Area Manager in respect of Planning REF: 2625/21 if he could 
consider the below email and furnish a reply;  
“We are contacting you about the above, which will involve the demolition of a 
historically important building (Garland House) & the construction of 40 Apartments in 
blocks extending to 5 storeys in height on a small site, located in a poorly accessible 
location. The proposed development will not comply with the current zoning for the 
area (Z2) & has serious implications for the area. 
> We would appreciate it very much, therefore, if you would lend your support to the 
residents of the area in seeking to have this development turned down, please. 
> In addition, as an important starting point, the listing of the Garland House building 
as a Protected Structure is critical. This was built in 1923, is a wonderful building & is 
the site of the former Church of Christ Scientist, founded by Mary Baker Eddy in the 
USA in the early 20th Century. 
As we mentioned, your support in having the building listed & in relation to opposing 
the Planning Application would be appreciated.” 
 
Reply: 
The City Council’s Record of Protected Structures (RPS) comprises more than 8,750 
structures.   
 
However, there remains a large number of nominated additions to the RPS, consisting 
of c. 220 proposals requested by elected representatives and members of the public, 
since 2006, and more than 1,250 statutory recommendations for additions to the RPS 

Page 87



made by Minister since 2014, under Section 53 of the Planning and Development Act, 
2000 (as amended). The Minister’s recommendations arise from a survey of Dublin 
City (mainly within the canals) by the National Inventory for Architectural Heritage 
(NIAH), which has been ongoing since 2012. The Rathmines Park area has been 
surveyed by the NIAH but the results have not been published so far.   
 
The request for this building to be considered for addition to the RPS in order to 
oppose a current planning application for a proposed development, is not a legitimate 
reason for such consideration under the provisions of the Planning and Development 
Act, 2000 (as amended).    
 
Given the large number of requested additions and Ministerial recommendations, and 
the need to prioritise these, it is not intended to consider the proposed addition of 
Garland House, Rathmines Park, Dublin 6 to the City Council’s Record of Protected 
Structures at this time. 
 
The closing date for observations on Planning REF: 2625/21 is the 24th May 2021. 
 

Page 88



1 
 

 
 

 
MINUTES OF THE SOUTH EAST AREA COMMITTEE SPECIAL MEETING 

 
HELD ON TUESDAY 25 MAY 2021 AT 1.3PM 

 
 

 
 
1   Presentation on Strategic Housing Development: SHD0009/21 Location: 

Former Eason's Warehouse, Brickfield House, Brickfield Drive, Dublin 12. 
Order: Noted. 
 

 

 
Councillor Dermot Lacey 
Chairperson 
Tuesday 25 May 2021 

 
 
 
Attendance: 

 
Members: Members: Members: 
Dermot Lacey (Chairperson) Tara Deacy Pat Dunne 
Deirdre Conroy 
Anne Feeney 
Kevin Donoghue 
 

Mannix Flynn 
Daithi Doolan 
 

Mary Freehill 
Sophie Nicollaud 

   
   
Officers   
Brian Hanney John MacEvilly Mary Taylor 
Jennifer Wall Marguerite Cahill John Bergin 
 
Apologies:    
   
 
Non-Members:    
   
 

Page 89





Page 1 of 6

Item Enquiry SP Ref Road PostTopic Request Description SecRequest ByTag Result Tag Comments Received

02/06/2021
South East Area - TAG Meeting Minutes for Noting

(Area Committee Date: 14/06/2021)
22 Items

1 7009584 PIGEON HOUSE
ROAD (SE)

Dublin 4Continuous White
Line

Full white line to discourage
overtaking near Hammond Lane
or Dublin Bay Power.

0Member of
the Public

Recommended The area engineer has recommended Road Maintenance assess
the condition of the road surface on Pigeon House Road and
Hammond Lane.

07/06/2019

2 7010093 CARDIFF LANE (SE) Dublin 2Pedestrian
Crossing

Pedestrian crossing for front of
hotel.

0Member of
the Public

Not
Recommended

SR 7010093 Clayton Hotel, Dublin 2
Not Recommended.
The Area Engineer notes that 92m north east from the Clayton
Hotel at the junction of Cardiff Lane and Sir John Rogerson’s
Quay there is a pedestrian crossing currently in place. Located
83m south west from the Clayton Hotel before the junction with
Misery Hill there is a pedestrian crossing.
The Clayton Hotel is served by both pedestrian crossings
therefore it is the Area Engineer’s Recommendation not to agree
to an additional pedestrian crossing located in front of the Clayton
Hotel.

04/07/2019

3 7011389 KIMMAGE ROAD
LOWER (SE)

Dublin
6W

ITS Right Turn
Filter Light

Filter light for turning right into
Ravensdale Park.

0Member of
the Public

Recommended In terms of the request for the pedestrian crossing, this request
was assessed as part of the Capital Works Programme and
owing to budget restrictions it did not make the shortlist for
implementation. It will however be reassessed in the next Capital
Works Programme.

However minor works were undertaken and the operation of this
junction has been revised so as to apply an early cut off green
time to the inbound traffic from Kimmage Road Lower.  In
practice, this means that the outbound traffic from Kimmage Road
Lower will have a green light for a longer period than those
entering the junction from the opposite side of Kimmage Road,
therefore benefiting road users to turn right from Kimmage Road
Lower onto Ravensdale Park. We will continue to monitor this
junction and make changes where appropriate.

18/09/2019

4 7012338 BLOOMFIELD
AVENUE (SE)

Dublin 8P&D/Permit Park
(Change Hours)

Extend hours to be Mon to Sun,
7 to 24
Section between SCR and
Avenue Road

0InternalRecommended Parking Policy and Enforcement recommend extension of hours
to Mon to Sun, 07.00 to 24.00.  The implementation of this will
ensure all of Bloomfield Avenue has the same hours for pay and
display and permit parking.

11/11/2019

5 7012746 LOMBARD STREET
WEST (SE)

Dublin 8TAG General
Engineer Query

requesting measures to reduce
use of Lombard Street West as a
rat-run.

0Member of
the Public

Not
Recommended

Not Recommended - Dublin City Council has ranked 4th plans to
consider Lombard Street West as a future  Neighbourhood Traffic
Scheme. Due to COVID-19 Public Health Emergency The
Neighbourhood Traffic Scheme has been curtailed as area
engineers have been implementating  Covid Mobility Measures
throughout Dublin City. Once management give the go ahead
area enginers will assess these Neighbourhood Traffic Schemes
for implementation.

03/12/2019

6 7019101 GILFORD ROAD (SE) Dublin 4Bus Stop/Sign
(New)

Bus Stop Signs, Bus Stop
Markings for new No. 1 and No.
47 Dublin Bus Route

0InternalRecommended Temporary Measures made permanent for Bus Stop Signs and
Bus Stop Markings to faciliitate Dublin Bus Routes No.1 and No.
47, on Gilford Road, Park Avenue and St Johns Road.

18/02/2021

P
age 91



Page 2 of 6

Item Enquiry SP Ref Road PostTopic Request Description SecRequest ByTag Result Tag Comments Received

02/06/2021
South East Area - TAG Meeting Minutes for Noting

(Area Committee Date: 14/06/2021)
22 Items

7 7019652 RICHELIEU PARK
(SE)

Dublin 4Parking
Restrictions

DYLs, or other measures, to
ensure vehicular access for 12
Richelieu Park.

0CouncillorRecommended It is recommended to reduce the length of the Pay & Display and
Permit Parking Bay in front of 25 Richelieu Park by 0.6metres and
extend Double Yellow Lines RRM 008 in its place, in order to
facilitate the entry and egress of 12 Richelieu Park.
STAT:
1. Rescind Pay & Display and Permit Parking (7:00 – 19:00, Mon
– Fri) on the north side of Richelieu Park, starting from a point
2metres west of Lamp Standard no.5, extending in the westward
direction for 0.6metres.
2. Extend Double Yellow Lines on the north side of Richelieu
Park, starting from a point 2metres west of Lamp Standard no. 5,
extending in the westward direction for 0.6metres.

25/03/2021

8 7019812 BUSHFIELD
TERRACE (SE)

Dublin 4Children Crossing
Sign

"Children at Play" signage for
Bushfield Terrace.

0Member of
the Public

Not
Recommended

Following the Area Engineer’s site visit, it is confirmed that a Slow
Zone F 403 sign has been erected on the newly installed pole on
Bushfield Terrace at its junction with Marlborough Road.  The
Children at Play sign requested, is already incorporated into the
Slow Zone sign on Bushfield Terrace, therefore no further
recommendations are required.

01/04/2021

9 7019844 PARK AVENUE (SE) Dublin 4Double Yellow
Lines

consideration be given to putting
double yellow lines immediately
outside our property

0Member of
the Public

Recommended Installing Double Yellow Lines RRM 008 outside the vehicle
entrance of 6 Park Avenue, Sandymount is not recommended.  It
is not recommended to introduce parking restrictions where
restrictions are already covered under the law.  Under The Road
Traffic (Traffic & Parking) Regulations, Section 36 paragraph(2)
g; “A vehicle shall not be parked in any place, position or manner
that will result in the vehicle obstructing an entrance or an exit for
vehicles to or from a premises, save with the consent of the
occupier of such premises.” Infringements of the Act should be
reported to Dublin Street Parking Services Ph.01 6022500 for
enforcement under the law.

07/04/2021P
age 92



Page 3 of 6

Item Enquiry SP Ref Road PostTopic Request Description SecRequest ByTag Result Tag Comments Received

02/06/2021
South East Area - TAG Meeting Minutes for Noting

(Area Committee Date: 14/06/2021)
22 Items

10 7019862 WATERLOO LANE
(SE)

Dublin 4Traffic Calming Speed bumps or other measures
to deal with "rat-running".

0CouncillorRecommended Waterloo Lane is located within a 30km/h speed zone.  There is
existing 30km/h signage located at the entrance of Waterloo
Lane, at the Leeson Street Upper / Waterloo Lane junction.  A
speed survey however, was conducted on Waterloo Lane from
April 30, 2021 (7:00am) to May 1, 2021 (7:00am), and it was
noted that the 85th percentile average speed was 27km/h and
traffic flow was less than 60 vehicles per hour.

Based on the speed survey results, the warrant has not been met
for installation of speed ramps.  It is however recommended to
install traffic calming in the form of two painted 30km/h roundels
on Waterloo Lane, as a means of providing further knowledge to
the driver of the 30km/h speed zone.  Roundels shall be painted
on Waterloo Lane at the Waterloo Lane / Leeson Street Upper
junction and on Waterloo Lane at the Waterloo Lane / Burlington
Road junction.

The roundels to be installed as completion of  road resurfacing
works allows.

08/04/2021

11 7020049 LEUKOS ROAD (SE) Dublin 4Disab Park Bay
Residential

outside No. 11. 0Member of
the Public

Recommended Recommended – Provide a disabled parking bay (DPB), the DPB
is to be offset 2.1m from right hand side of the existing indented
parking bay.
To allow access to vehicle a 1.2m buffer zone is required on
driver’s side of DPB.
 Stat – Provide 2.4m wide DPB offset 2.1m from right hand side of
indent parking bay. Provide 1.2m buffer zone on driver’s side of
DPB.

19/04/2021

12 7020128 MOUNT ARGUS
ROAD (SE)

Dublin
6W

Double Yellow
Lines

The provision of yellow lines on
the corner would be resolve the
issue of illegal parking

1TDRecommended Recommended
Provide double yellow lines from driveway of No. 9 Mount Argus
View to extend west for 8.50m to gable end of No.9 Mount Argus
View.
It is illegal to park on a bend within 5m of a junction (where two
roads meet) for example where Mount Argus View meets Mount
Argus Court. Any illegal parking on the bends of Mount Argus
Close and Mount Argus Court should be reported to the Gardai or
Dublin Street Parking Services (DSPS) on 01-602-2500 or email:
info@dsps.ie for enforcement.
Residents on Mount Argus Close and Mount Argus Court can
apply to have a pay and display and permit parking scheme for
these roads. Details are available on the Dublin City Council
website.

Stat Locate double yellow lines on south side of Mount Argus
View commencing west of driveway of No.9 to extend west for
8.50m to end opposite gable end of No.9.

22/04/2021

P
age 93



Page 4 of 6

Item Enquiry SP Ref Road PostTopic Request Description SecRequest ByTag Result Tag Comments Received

02/06/2021
South East Area - TAG Meeting Minutes for Noting

(Area Committee Date: 14/06/2021)
22 Items

13 7020225 CAPTAIN'S DRIVE
(SE)

Dublin 12No Parking No parking signage to prevent
vehicles parking on the corner.

0Member of
the Public

Not
Recommended

Not Recommended - Vehicles parking on existing double yellow
lines opposite No. 2 Captain's Drive is a matter of enforcement by
Dublin Street Parking Services (DSPS) they can be contacted on
01-602-2500.or on the DSPS website www.dsps.ie

27/04/2021

14 7020277 SERPENTINE
AVENUE (SE)

Dublin 4Traffic Calming "Children at play" signage, and
other traffic calming measures,
to slow down traffic turning off
Serpentine Avenue.

1CouncillorRecommended Herbert Green and Serpentine Avenue are located within a
30km/h speed restriction zone.  Existing Slow Zone F 403
signage is erected at the entry points of the speed restriction
zone, such as at the Serpentine Avenue / Merrion Road junction.
The children at play signage is already incorporated into the slow
zone sign on Serpentine Avenue.  As a means of informing the
driver of the 30km/h speed zone when entering Herbert Green
from Serpentine Avenue, it is recommended that a 30km/h
roundel be painted at the entrance of Herbert Green.

29/04/2021

15 7020361 NORTHBROOK LANE
(SE)

Dublin 6Double Yellow
Lines (Extend)

continuation of the double yellow
lines on the right hand side of
Northbrook Lane.

0Member of
the Public

Recommended It is recommended to repaint the Double Yellow Lines RRM 008,
on the west side of Northbrook Lane, where the paint is no longer
prominent.  This location would be the 6metre stretch of the west
side of Northbrook Lane, at its southern end (refer to Site Asset
200,004.00 STAT: Double Yellow Lines 2858).  It is also
recommended to repaint the Double Yellow Lines RRM 008, on
the south side of Northbrook Lane, where the paint is no longer
prominent. This location would be the 5metre stretch of the south
side of Northbrook Lane, at its western end (refer to Site Asset
200,006.00 STAT: Double Yellow Lines 2707).

05/05/2021

16 7020398 PORTOBELLO
HARBOUR (SE)

Dublin 8Double Yellow
Lines

Provide DYLs on south side of
Portobello Harbour requested by
Public Realm

0InternalRecommended Recommended – Extend DYLs on the south side of Portbello
Harbour starting opposite side of the road to No.7  Portbello
Harbour extending DYLS west to join existing DYLs at ESB
Station.
STATS
Extend existing DYLs for 20m west wards from existing DYLs
(opposite side of road  to No.7 Portobello Harbour) on south side
of Portbello Harbour  to join existing DYLs at ESB station.

06/05/2021

P
age 94



Page 5 of 6

Item Enquiry SP Ref Road PostTopic Request Description SecRequest ByTag Result Tag Comments Received

02/06/2021
South East Area - TAG Meeting Minutes for Noting

(Area Committee Date: 14/06/2021)
22 Items

17 7020417 CHELMSFORD ROAD
(SE)

Dublin 6Electric Car Bay Two EV parking bays for
charging point.

0Member of
the Public

Recommended It is recommended to designate 2no. Electric Vehicle Charging
Only bays on the south side of Chelmsford Road, at the ecar
electric charging point, whereby only electric vehicles that are
charging may park at this location.  The Parking Policy &
Enforcement Section has agreed with the proposal.
STATs
1. Install 2no. Electric Vehicle Only Parking bays on the south
side of Chelmsford Road, starting from a point 6m south west of
the 8 & 9 Chelmsford Road common boundary, extending
12metres in the north eastward direction.
The Electric Vehicle charging bay road marking RRM 034 shall
align with Chapter 7 of the Traffic Signs Manual.
2. Install the Electric Vehicle Parking Permitted regulatory sign
RUS 020a with supplementary plate P 053 for Electric Vehicle
Charging Only (10:00 – 16:00 Mon-Fri and 7:00 – 19:00 Sat), on
the south side of Chelmsford Road at Lamp Standard no. 4, in
alignment with Chapter 5 of the Traffic Signs Manual.

10/05/2021

18 7020561 MESPIL ROAD (SE) Dublin 4Coach Parking admendment to STAT records 0InternalRecommended Statutory Measure Update - No Parking with the exception of
Coaches on the northern side of Mespil Road, starting
approximately 1.5 metres east of Public Lamp Standard No. 127
and extending eastwards for approximately 62.7  metres.  Hours
of operation Monday - Sun, 19.00 - 07.00,

13/05/2021

19 7020655 CLAREVILLE ROAD
(SE)

Dublin
6W

Disab Park Bay
General

Additional disabled parking bay
for Harold's Cross National
School.

1Member of
the Public

Recommended Recommended
Provide a disabled parking bay (DPB) opposite house No. 25
Larkfield Grove to assist parents access Harold’s Cross National
School.
Stat – Provide a DPB on east side of Larkfield Grove beginning at
a point 1m south from front gate of No.25 Larkfield Grove extend
for 6m south. Provide associated parking pay symbol and
information signage.

19/05/2021

P
age 95



Page 6 of 6

Item Enquiry SP Ref Road PostTopic Request Description SecRequest ByTag Result Tag Comments Received

02/06/2021
South East Area - TAG Meeting Minutes for Noting

(Area Committee Date: 14/06/2021)
22 Items

20 7020657 SEAFORT VILLAS
(SE)

Dublin 4Double Yellow
Lines (Rescind)

double yellow lines at the side
entrance of his home please be
removed.

0TDNot
Recommended

It is not recommended to rescind the double yellow lines along the
eastern boundary wall of 23 Seafort Villas.  The road that spans
along the eastern boundary wall of 23 Seafort Villas is less than
6.5metres in width, which is the minimum width required by Dublin
City Council for the provision of double sided parking.  As there is
existing Pay & Display and Permit Parking available across from
the eastern boundary wall of 23 Seafort Villas and the road is not
wide enough to enable parking on both sides of the road, parking
restrictions have been established along the eastern boundary
wall of 23 Seafort Villas.  The permitting of parking along the
eastern boundary wall of 23 Seafort Villas, while a vehicle was
legally parked outside 21 Seafort Villas, would result in individuals
parked outside 22 Seasfort Villas being obstructed from exiting
the estate.  The resident of 23 Seafort Villas is not obstructed
from accessing their pedestrian side entrance and can avail of the
Pay & Display and Permit Parking located at the side or front of
their home.

20/05/2021

21 90048041 SP_36900 BEECH HILL DRIVE
(SE)

Dublin 4Traffic Calming Request for additional traffic
calming on the road.

0CouncillorRecommended Beech Hill Drive is located within a 30km/h speed zone; signage
of which is placed in the entrance of these zones from main
arterial and orbital routes within the city.  Beech Hill Drive is traffic
calmed with the provision of ramps and on street parking which
residents avail of.  A speed survey was conducted on Beech Hill
Drive in April 2021 over a 24hour period and it was identified that
the 85th percentile average speed was less than 50 km/h.  Based
on the current measures and speed survey results, the warrant
has not been met for the installation of additional speed ramps on
Beech Hill Drive.  It is however recommended to install traffic
calming in the form of  painted 30km/h roundels on Beech Hill
Drive, as a means of providing further knowledge to the driver of
the 30km/h speed zone.  Roundels shall be painted as follows: on
the west side of Beech Hill Drive, 20metres south of the junction
with Beech Hill Terrace and on the east side of Beech Hill Drive,
20metres north of the junction with Beech Hill Terrace. A third
30km/h roundel is to be painted on Beech Hill Drive at its junction
with Beech Hill Avenue.

09/03/2017

22 90051704 SP_40618 OSWALD ROAD (SE) Dublin 4P&D/Permit
Parking

Introduction of a Scheme on the
road.

0Member of
the Public

Not
Recommended

Pay and Display and Permit Parking scheme rejected at ballot of
residents. 25 on register of electors, 19 votes returned, 8 for, 10
against, 1 spoilt. The pro-rata vote was 8 for and 9 against.

04/10/2017

P
age 96



Document is Restricted

Page 97

Access to this report has been restricted to Members of this Committee only due to General Data Protection Regulations





Document is Restricted

Page 99

Access to this report has been restricted to Members of this Committee only due to General Data Protection Regulations





 

 

      Planning and Property Development Department 
                                                                       Civic Offices 

 
 
                                                                     08/06/2021 
To the Chairperson and Members of 

the South East Area Committee 

 
Meeting: 14th June 2021 
 
Item No: 
 
 
With reference to a proposed grant of a license of the All-weather Pitch at Brickfield 

Park, Drimnagh, Dublin 12 to St. John Bosco FC 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
In 2018 at the instruction of Parks and Landscaping Division, Culture, Recreation and 
Economic Services an 11-month licence of a new All-Weather Pitch at Brickfield Park, 
Drimnagh, Dublin 12 was granted to St. John Bosco Football Club at a nominal rent of €1 (one 
euro) if demanded.   As part of the agreement the Licencee operated the facility on behalf of 
Dublin City Council. 
 
The licence expired on 9th November 2019 and while St. John Bosco have been over holding 
since that date the facility was closed for much of the last year due to Covid-19. 
 
Parks and Landscaping Division was satisfied with the operation of the facility during the term 
of the initial licence and has proposed that a new 10-year licence be granted to St. John Bosco 
Football Club for the continued use of the pitch.  The Chief Valuer has reported that agreement 
has now been reached with the club (the Licensee), for the grant of such a licence subject to 
the following terms and conditions, which are considered to be fair and reasonable: 
 
1. That the subject property comprises an all-weather sports pitch and it is shown outlined in 
red on the map index no. SM-2017-0287-RevB 

 
2. That the licence shall be for a term of 10 years or the life of the all-weather pitch whichever 
is the lesser, commencing on a date to be agreed in 2021. The terms of the agreement shall 
be reviewed annually by both parties within the period with the provision at the end of this 
period of 10 years to review the option to negotiate a second term. 
 
3. That the commercial licence fee shall be a sum of €20,000 (twenty thousand euro), plus 
VAT if applicable, per annum. 
 
4. That the licence fee shall be abated to a nominal sum of €1.00 (one euro) if demanded 
provided that the subject property is used solely as a sporting facility for the benefit of the 
community and in compliance with all clauses. 
 
5. That St John Bosco Football Club (the Licensee) will be responsible for the day to day 
management of the all-weather pitch for the benefit of the community. The Licensee will set 
hourly rates for the hire of the pitch, which will include commercial rates and community rates 
for peak times and off-peak times. Peak and off-peak times will be defined by the licensee and 
the allocation of peak hours in the facility, particularly during the winter months, must be clearly 
outlined in a separate document. The document must also include the hours the facility is 
available to other users e.g. local schools and other sports clubs and will be agreed with the 

Page 101



 

 

Licensor prior to the commencement of the licence. All rates to be charged are also subject to 
the prior agreement of Dublin City Council. 
 
6. That the Licensee will keep the definition of what constitutes a "community rate" under 
regular review, ensuring that an adequate sliding scale applies to disadvantaged community 
groups on a case-by-case basis, thereby maximising the accessibility and social inclusiveness 
of the facility. 
 
7. That all income deriving from the all-weather facility will be held in a dedicated bank account 
by the Licensee and will be used solely for: 
 
(a) All utility costs e.g. floodlighting 
(b) The maintenance costs for the all-weather pitch, the contract for which will be organised                   
by Dublin City Council (note Term 15 below) 
(c) A contribution to a sinking fund to renew the pitch surface after 10 years. 
 
At the end of any trading year, after the utility costs and other costs have been deducted, any 
surplus monies in the account will be transferred by the Licensee to an agreed Dublin City 
Council bank account. 
 
The monies will be used by Dublin City Council for pitch maintenance as contracted by the 
Licensor and an agreed amount towards a sinking fund. Any surplus monies, over and above 
the abovementioned costs will be used for the development and/or improvement of the 
infrastructure for the community. 
 
The maintenance of the Licensee bank account and all associated financial records remain 
the responsibility of the licensee. 
 
8. That the Licensee will maintain a spreadsheet for every three month period identifying hours 
allocated, groups and monies paid in the previous quarter and will provide a copy of this 
spreadsheet to the Licensor. The Licensee shall prepare and produce annual financial 
accounts and other relevant information (including the bank account outlined in Term 7) in 
relation to the all-weather pitch hire. 
 
9. That the Licensee shall operate and run the facility on behalf of Dublin City Council in 
accordance with good business management and practice and will be responsible for the 
following:- 
 

a) Opening and closing of the facility each day. 
b) Switching on/off of floodlights. All activity on the pitches to cease by 21.50 and 

floodlights to be turned off by 22.00. 
c) Routine maintenance of the all-weather pitch including the removal of litter and leaves. 
d) Supervise the all-weather pitch during all hours of use as arranged through them and 

keep the pitch in a tidy and safe condition at all times. 
e) Carry out regular inspections of the all-weather facility to ensure that the facility is free 

from any defect and a register of these inspections must be kept showing the date and 
the name of the persons responsible for the inspection. 

f) Any defect is reported immediately to the Licensor. 
g) The playing surface is inspected before any match or practice or training to ensure 

there are no sharp objects or glass likely to cause injury and to remove these prior to 
play. 

h) Display in a prominent location in the facility that all loose jewelry must be removed 
before use of the facility and that suitable footwear must be worn by any and all 
participants. 

 
11. That the Licensee agrees not to allow to be done or permit any act which is or is likely to 
be or become a nuisance, danger or source of annoyance, inconvenience or disturbance to 
the Council or the occupiers of neighbouring premises or the public at large. 

Page 102



 

 

 
12. That the Licensee shall not erect or exhibit any sign, board, placard, poster or advertising 
matter of any flag or banner on or outside the facility without first obtaining the written consent 
of the Licensor. 
 
13. That the Licensee shall maintain the following levels of insurance: Public Liability 
Insurance indemnifying Dublin City Council in the sum of €6,500,000 for any one incident and 
Employers Liability €13,000,000 proof of which must be provided annually. 
 
14. That the Licensee shall, during the term and at all times, observe and comply in all respects 
with the relevant legislation, regulations and bye-laws as applicable. 
 
15. That Dublin City Council will engage a contractor to carry out scheduled maintenance of 
the all-weather pitch in accordance with the manufacturers, suppliers and installer’s 
instructions. The cost of this scheduled maintenance will be charged to the Licensee on a 
yearly basis. 
 
16. That Dublin City Council shall retain a set of keys to the facility. 
 
17. That Dublin City Council reserves the right to review price structures in line with corporate 
price banding for facilities within its administrative area. Any review/change in respect of the 
hourly rates charged will be subject to the agreement of the Licensor. 
 
18. That the licence does not confer any rights under Landlord and Tenant Law and may be 
terminated by Dublin City Council, giving three months’ notice, for any breach of the conditions 
of the licence. 
 
19. That each party shall be responsible for their own legal fees. 
 
20. That should St John Bosco Football Club formally disband; the all-weather pitch will be 
passed back to the community through the offices of Dublin City Council. Surplus monies, if 
any should be invested in the local community in consultation with Dublin City Council. 
 
21. That the licensee must sign a deed of renunciation prior to the signing of contracts. 
 
22. That the facility shall be open solely for the use in connection with sporting activities. 
 
23. That the Licensee shall not sell, manufacture or permit the consumption of intoxicating 
liquor in or about the leased area. 
 
24. That the licence can be terminated by either party giving three months prior written notice. 
 
25. That upon expiry of the licence, the Licensee shall at their own expense remove all 
materials not belonging to Dublin City Council and shall leave the subject property clean and 
cleared to the satisfaction of the Licensor. 
 
26. In the event of a dispute in relation to any of the above conditions, Dublin City Council will 
be the final arbitrator. 
 
The disposal shall be subject to any such covenants and conditions as the Law Agent in her 
discretion shall stipulate. 
 
No agreement enforceable at law is created or intended to be created until an exchange of 
contracts has taken place. 
 
Paul Clegg_____________                                               8/6/2021____________  
Executive Manager                                                           Date 

Page 103





OSi data :       Ordnance Survey Ireland. All rights reserved. Licence Number 2018 /23/CCMA/ Dublin City Council

O.S REF SCALE

DATE SURVEYED 
PRODUCED BY

INDEX No
     No

FOLDER CODE
  No
DWG REV

FILE NO SM-2017-0287-_0204- C3 - 001 - B.dgn

SURVEY, MAPPING AND RELATED RESEARCH APPROVED

APPROVED

THOMAS CURRAN

DUBLIN CITY COUNCIL

c

INDEX No.
THIS MAP IS CERTIFIED TO BE COMPUTER GENERATED BY

DUBLIN CITY COUNCIL FROM ORDNANCE SURVEY DIGITAL MAPBASE

SM-2017-0287

ACTING MANAGER LAND SURVEYING & MAPPING

Environment and Transportation Department

Survey and Mapping Division

INDEX No CODE
  No
DWG REV

FILE NO

c

INDEX No.

An Roinn Comhshaoil agus Iompair

Rannán Suirbhéireachta agus LéarscáilitheComhairle Cathrach

Bhaile Átha Cliath

Dublin City Council

CITY ENGINEER

CEng FIEI FICE

Dr JOHN W. FLANAGAN

8
9

2

93

Sports  Ground

Tk

Brickfield Park

95

97

Ground

Playground

Sports

S
L
IE

V
E

N
A

M
O

N
  R

O
A

D

Estate

Industrial

22-04-2021 T. Curran

1:10003263-21, 3263-22

All Weather Pitch

BRICKFIELDS PARK

All Weather Pitch

Dublin City Council to St. John Bosco F.C.

Grant of 10 Year Licence

P
age 105





                                                                

Conservation Section, Planning & Property Development Department 
Civic Offices, Wood Quay, Dublin 8  

 
An Rannóg Caomhantais, An Roinn Pleanála & Forbairt Maoine 

Oifigí na Cathrach, An Ché Adhmaid, Baile Átha Cliath 8 
T. 01 222 3927  F. 01 222 2830  

 

 
 

 
Date: 22/04/21 
 
To the Chairperson and Members  
of the South East Area Committee  

 

 
 Initiation of the Statutory Process for the Proposed Addition of 152 Harold’s Cross Road, 
Dublin 6W to the Record of Protected Structures in accordance with Section 54 and 55 of 

the Planning and Development Act, 2000 (as amended) 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

 
Photograph of Structure:  

 

 
 

 
Introduction: 
It is proposed to initiate procedures under Section 54 and Section 55 of the Planning & 
Development Act 2000 as amended to add 152 Harold’s Cross Road, Dublin 6W to Dublin City 
Council’s Record of Protected Structures.  
 
Name and Address of Owner: Via Properties Ltd, 24 Sandyford Office Park, Sandyford,  

Dublin 18. (contact Des Ryan)  
 
Name of Applicants:  

 Eoin Bairéad (local resident) requested 08/03/19 

 Joseph Curtis (local historian and author) prior to 2011 

Page 107



                                                                

 
 
 
Summary of Applicant’s Reasons for Seeking Addition:  
The applicants’ state that the 148-152 Harold’s Cross Road, Dublin 6W appear to be the 18th 
century Yeomanry barracks called the big Bogey (based on information contained in Joe Curtis 
publications’ Harold’s Cross and Harold’s Cross: In Old Photographs). 
 
Building appears to be included in Stage 6 (Phase 14) survey according to map. 
 
Methodology for Assessing Early Buildings  

In November 2019, the Planning & Property Development SPC agreed a methodology to expedite 
the proposed additions/deletions to the RPS in a systematic manner, based on the Architectural 
Heritage Protection Guidelines 2011 and NIAH/Ministerial Recommendations under Section 53(1) 
of the Planning and Development Act, 2000 (as amended).  The methodology agreed to prioritise 
industrial, twentieth century, early buildings and underrepresented typologies.  On foot of this, the 
Conservation Section carried out a screening process for Early Buildings. 148-152 Harold’s Cross 
Road, Dublin 6W were identified as a potential Early Buildings.  
 
Site Location & Zoning Map: 
Nos. 148-152 Harold’s Cross Road are located on the west side of Harold’s Cross Park, north of 
the entrance of Mount Jerome Cemetery.  
 

 
 

Zoning map:  

Page 108



                                                                

 
Fig. 1 Zoning Objective Z1: “To protect, provide and improve residential amenities” in the Dublin 
City Development Plan 2026-2022. The buildings are also located within a zone of archaeological 
interest.  
 
Recent Planning History: 152 Harold’s Cross Road 

Plan Ref. 
No.  

Description  Decision 

2283/97 First floor store over existing store at rear, and re-
roofing of premises. 

GRANT PERMISSION  
Decision Date: 12-Mar-
1998 

2688/20 The development will consist of : Demolition of 
existing buildings on site; • Construction of a 
residential development of 38 no. apartments 
comprising 32 no. 1 bedroom units and 6 no. 2 
bedroom units in a 5-storey over partial lower 
ground/basement level building; • Deck access to the 
rear (west) of the building at ground to fourth floor 
level; • Private open space (gardens) to rear (west) at 
lower ground level and private terrace to rear (west) at 
first floor level; • Communal amenity space at ground 
floor level and at fourth floor level (terrace); • Bicycle 
store, bin store, substation and plant room at ground 
floor; • Ancillary office at lower ground/basement level; 
• Demolition and reconstruction of existing boundary 
wall to rear (west) with colonnade feature along 
western boundary; • All ancillary site development 
works and services. 

 
 
 
 
DCC REFUSE 
PERMISSION 
16-Jul-2020 
 
ABP 307883-20 
REFUSE PERMISSION 
02/02/21 
 

 
 
Recent Enforcement History: 148-152 Harold’s Cross Road, 

Ref. No.  Opened Reason  Closed Reason 

E0370/09 05-May-
2009 

Alleged development works 
and change of use has 
occurred 

21-Jul-2009 Exempted development 

 
Site and Building Inspection: 
Access to the site was requested in a letter dated 10th February 2020. The owners facilitated a site 
inspection by Carl Raftery and Mary-Liz McCarthy of Dublin City Council’s Conservation Section on 

Page 109



                                                                

12th March 2020.  Access was provided to both the exterior and ground floor interior of no. 152, 
with limited ground floor interior access to nos. 148-150 and no access to the lands at the rear. On 
the 14th April 2021, an external site inspection was carried out at 148-152 Harold’s Cross Road, 
Dublin 6W.  
  
Summary Description:   
Two terraced buildings, joined via modern extensions on the rear site. It is unclear why two 
structures have three building numbers however according to recent planning history the building 
to the south was referred to as 152 Harold’s Cross Road (red). Therefore, for clarity sake, the 
building to the north will be referred to as 148-150 Harold’s Cross Road (blue).  
 

 
 
148-150 Harold’s Cross Road  
Exterior: Terraced, two-storey, three-bay cement rendered structure dating from c.1740. Street 
front and principle/east elevation projecting slightly from the adjacent streetline of no.152. 
Originally, a four-storey structure, it now has a flat roof hidden behind a parapet with concrete 
copping. Original, large cement rendered chimneystack to south in party wall with no.152. Tall, red 
brick, chimney stack in party wall to no. 146; possibly a reduced version of the original stack, seen 
in Fig.25, 1815 photograph (below). 
 
The ground floor has a central shop entrance door flanked by two shop display windows, all with 
modern joinery with security shutters. Square-headed window openings to first floor with granite 
cills and modern top hung casement windows.  
 
Interior: 
The building is in poor condition. Access was limited to front shop and rear storeroom at ground 
floor only. The front east end of ground floor has been opened up into one space with shop counter 
and cabinets dating to the latter part of the twentieth century. Remains of corner fireplaces to north 
ground and first floor and south at first floor only. Fireplace removed at ground floor level to south 
with timber in ceiling indicating the positioning of this. Ground floor internal walls removed running 
north-south. Break in ceiling appears to show original line of walls. Sections of east-west dividing 
walls removed at east end, with encased downstand beams supporting floors above. Timber 
tongue-and-groove panelling to ceiling with modern covering applied over. Walls have been lined 
with beauty board. Lino tiles covering to floor. 
 
Stairs centrally placed in rear of building leading to upper floors with timber newel post and infilled 
balustrade. Stairhall flanked by two rear rooms with door openings into front shop. Modern 
concrete block flat roofed storeroom to rear has access into south room through original rear door 

Page 110



                                                                

opening having exposed brick reveals. Viewed from the modern rear storeroom, timber tongued 
and grooved ceiling can be seen in south rear room. The toilet in the modern extension is in a 
similar position to the historic privy as seen on Fig.21, the 1817 OS map (below). Door opening 
connecting to modern storeroom at rear of no. 152. 
 
152 Harold’s Cross Road   
Exterior: Terraced, two-storey, three-bay cement rendered structure dating from c.1740; street 

fronted but slightly set back from nos. 148-150 to the south.  Modern shop front entrance centrally 
placed with blocked original shop door opening to south with adjacent door, now accessing an 
enclosed storeroom, (formally the separate stairhall entrance). Single pitched roof with natural 
slate covering and terracotta ridge tiles (some missing slate and ridge tiles). Note: On the 14/04/21, 
it was observed that the natural slates have been stripped to the front pitch, exposing the roof 
timbers.  Huge, rendered chimneystack shared with nos. 148-150. Exposed cast-iron gutters and 
downpipe visible to front elevation. Water damaged south corner of front elevation has exposed the 
original rubble stone construction with rough lime render from under the modern cement render. 
South gable is constructed in rubble stone, redbrick chimneystack removed but brick flue remains 
in gable end wall. There is brick dressing capping the south gable.  
 
The front elevation windows have tall narrow openings, typical of early eighteenth century 
construction with granite cills of various ages, the openings are boarded up. One remaining early 
window opening to north of ground floor. The southernmost ground floor door opening has a 
modern door and now leads to a self-contained store room, it is likely that originally this would have 
been a separate access to the stairhall and upper floors. Next to this, is a blocked up doorway, the 
original shop entrance as per Fig.25 photograph from 1815. The original display window has been 
altered to create the current shop entrance. The original rear elevation is now internalised which 
has persevered the historic limewash build up on the rough lime rendered rubble stone walls.  
 
There is a disused (now blocked up in the storeroom) timber battened and braced door to the 
original rear site in line with the former hall door on the front elevation. A door opening in line with 
the current front entrance has a brick arch with lath and plaster to the timber lintel. The thickness of 
the early construction is overtly apparent in the depth of the door reveals. A modern concrete block 
single storey, flat roofed, storeroom covers the rear site. A door to the south leads to an overgrown 
yard with a rubble stone boundary wall. A door to the north gives access to the modern storeroom 
at the back of nos. 148-150.  No survey of first floor rear elevation as no access was available.  
 
Interior: 
Only the ground floor of the property was accessible due to the building’s water damaged 
condition. The footprint of the building appears to be one room deep, typical of an early vernacular 
eighteenth century house. The ground floor has largely been opened up into a single shop with a 
partition to the south side dividing the stairhall to the southwest and a store to the southeast corner 
separate from the front shop. Timber battened and braced original rear door at base of staircase. 
Rubble stone construction apparent in rear wall with pigmented lime wash layers on rough lime 
render and areas of exposed stone to the exterior face.   
 
Cast-iron columns and chamfered timber posts support timber-encased beams running east-west. 
Concrete floor to north portion with timber floorboards to south portion, possibly an historic 
suspended floor. Tongue-and-groove panelling to ceiling to south portion and modern suspended 
ceiling to north portion with lath-and-plaster ceiling visible above. 
 
Brick relieving arch above door in west wall; timber lintel to opening with traces of lath and plaster 
attached. Lime-based flat plaster to walls with gypsum layer over to front wall. Window to northeast 
corner with splayed reveals and timber cill; remains of timber frame visible possibly indicating sash 
window, window opening boarded up. 
 

Page 111



                                                                

Enclosed store under stairs has tongue-and-groove panelling. The nineteenth century timber 
staircase to southwest corner has a quarter-turn landing towards first floor; square-profile balusters 
and timber tongue-and-groove panelling to stairs soffit. There is a small square-headed opening to 
a window high up on west wall of staircase. Lath-and-plaster ceiling visible above.  
 
Modern concrete flat roofed extension covers most of rear site with timber battened and braced 
door to small yard in southwest corner. A door to the north gives access to the modern storeroom 
at the back of nos. 148-150.   
 
Summary of Historical Background:  
Charles Brooking’s map, A Map of the City and Suburbs of Dublin and also the Arch Bishop and 
Earl of Meath’s Liberties with the Bounds of Each Parish 1728 identifies the various liberties, which 
are areas of private jurisdiction, outside the walled city of Dublin. The area around Harold’s Cross 
was part of the Earl of Meath’s Liberties. The Earl of Meath let large parcels of land in Harold’s 
Cross, leaving new tenants to build properties, usually for renting. According to early Earl of Meath 
lease maps, the Rathlands (Harold’s Cross) was demised to Hobart Barry on 16th of February 1703 
(Curtis Joe, 2004). Mount Jerome can be seen on Rocques 1760 map. There is a corn mill on the 
River Poddle and buildings can be seen around the common and, in particular, adjacent to the 
entrance to Mount Jerome in the approximate location of nos. 148-152. The building form of no. 
152, consisting of thick masonry walls, large chimney stacks, tall narrow window openings, a single 
room plan and pitched roof with exposed eaves, is indicative of early eighteenth century vernacular 
construction; dating the building to c.1740, if not earlier, as vernacular structures are often difficult 
to date exactly.  
 
Taylor’s 1817 map, shows the development around the common, with the distinctive kink in the 
current building line apparent. By the 1876 OS map (Fig. 24), both buildings are readily discernible. 
It is interesting to note the current position of the toilet in the extension of nos. 148-150 is in the 
same position as the probable privy on the historic maps.  

An image taken in 1815 from the open green opposite the gates of Mount Jerome, shows nos. 
148-152 clearly visible overlooking the common. No. 152 is a simple, solid, three-storey white 
washed building with a shop display window and door, with a separate door to the upper floors.  
The small narrow window present today is still visible on the ground floor, possibly dating to the 
original ground floor configuration of a solely residential property before the shop was inserted at 
ground floor.  

We also get a clear view of the original four-storey form of nos. 148-150. The huge corner 
chimneystack can be seen on the south gable, traces of which remain today, while the north gable 
has two chimneystacks, only a truncated eastern stack remains today. It appears to have a double 
pitched roof and bay windows at ground floor flanking the central entrance. It appears more 
sophisticated in design than its neighbours with a hierarchy of window openings and may have had 
brick elevations judging from the darker appearance in Fig. 25. The cartographic evidence and the 
large chimneystacks and corner fireplaces would date this building to the early eighteenth century, 
c. 1740.  

Harold’s Cross was commonage in 1835, as depicted in the Dublin Penny Journal. The tall four-

storey building (nos.148-150) is purported to be the military barracks according to the Dublin City 
Library annotation on this illustration. (No. 152 has not been included in this pictorial representation 
of Harold’s Cross)  

Joe Curtis in his book Harold’s Cross states that oral history mentions a small Yeomanry barracks 
in nos. 148-152. (Originally attendants in a noble household of the Middle Ages, Yeomanry refers 
to a group of men who held and cultivated small landed estates and in the eighteenth century, in 
military terms, formed a volunteer or reserve cavalry force often raised from their tenants). The 

Page 112



                                                                

three-storey building was called the Little Bogey and the four-storey building the Big Bogey. Joe 
Curtis also refers to accounts of the Uppercross Fusiliers practicing on Harold’s Cross Green in the 
late eighteenth century, another military connection to the area. Unfortunately, none of the historic 
maps substantiate this military function in the buildings though other commercial and public 
buildings are mentioned.   

It is not known when the two-storeys were removed from nos. 148-150 but there still appears to a 
substantial though indistinguishable structure present at the time of the opening of the railed park 
in 1894. The park was designed by William Sheppard who also designed St. Stephens Green.  

Overall, the cartographic and photographic evidence demonstrates that Harold’s Cross has always 
been a vibrant village outside the walls of Dublin City. As a grouping of historic buildings, it has 
comprised manor houses, peasant cottages, multi-storey vernacular houses, mills and industrial 
buildings, terraced houses, shops, civic and commercial premises throughout the centuries. They 
are the fabric of a vibrant community that overlooked a commonage at its centre supporting 
grazing of livestock, a May pole and even a gallows, evolving into a gentile railed park for 
promenading and play over the centuries. Situated to the southwest and at some height above the 
pollution that choked Dublin and the Liberties in particular, Harold’s Cross has long been a 
distinctive village that preserves a myriad of building typologies in its historic grain. 
 
References:  
Curtis. J, 2004, Harold’s Cross and Harold’s Cross: In Old Photographs, First Return Press, Dublin. 
John Rocque’s map of Dublin, 1760. 
Taylor’s Map of Dublin, 1816.  
Ordnance Survey maps of 1837, 1876, 1888-1913.  
Engraving of Harold’s Cross printed in the Dublin Penny Journal (1832), reprinted in Joyce. W. S., 
(1920) 'The Neighbourhood of Dublin'. City Libraries  
 
NIAH Significance/Rating:  

The National Inventory of Architectural Heritage (NIAH) has not yet been carried out for this section 
of the city. However, this area currently being assessed as part of the phase 14 survey at present. 
 
The NIAH uses eight categories of special interest (architectural, historical, archaeological, artistic, 
cultural, scientific, technical & social) and identifies five categories of rating in seeking to rank 
buildings. The NIAH rating values are International, National, Regional, Local and Record Only (I, 
N, R, L, O). Structures which are considered of International, National, and Regional significance 
are deemed worthy of inclusion on the RPS.  
 
Using the NIAH System of rating, No. 152 Harold’s Cross Road is considered to be of Regional 
significance. These are structures or sites that make a significant contribution to the architectural 
heritage within their region or the city/county area.  
 
Using the NIAH System of rating, Nos. 148-150 Harold’s Cross Road is deemed to be of Local 
significance. These are structures or sites of some vintage that make a contribution to the 
architectural heritage but may not merit being placed in the RPS separately. Such structures may 
have lost much of their original fabric. 
 
Assessment of Special Interest under the Planning and Development Act 2000:  
The Conservation Section, following an inspection of the sites on 12/03/20 and 14/04/21 make the 
following recommendation:  
 
No.152 Harold’s Cross Road is considered to be of special interest under the following headings: 
  
ARCHITECTURAL:  

Page 113



                                                                

The architectural interest is attributed to this structure as being an exemplar of a building type, 
plan-form and style of an early eighteenth century vernacular house while also encompassing later 
19th century interventions with the conversion of the original ground floor into a shop. The building 
is a rare example of a multi-storey single-pile early eighteenth century structure with thick solid 
masonry walls, exposed now at gable level but with rough lime render and pigmented limewash 
still surviving on the original rear elevation. The tall narrow window openings along with the 
peculiar positioning of the small rear elevation window, slated (retained to rear) pitched roof, large 
chimney stacks and doors opposite one another are all important evidence of an early construction 
date. The survival of historic internal fabric in the form of lime render finishes along with lath and 
plaster to ceiling and door heads as well as the nineteenth century intervention of tongued and 
grooved ceiling and wall panelling, battened doors and timber newel post, all contribute to the 
layered architectural evolution of this building. Further survey of the first floor may reveal additional 
significant architectural fabric enhancing our knowledge of this significant early 18 th century 
building.  
 
This structure makes a positive contribution to its setting and preserves the historical streetscape 
and vernacular grain of this dynamic historic village. 
 
HISTORICAL:  
Historical interest is attributed to the property as light is thrown on the character of a past age by 
virtue of the structure’s design, plan, original use, materials or location. 
 
The special historical interest exists because of the rarity of this structure in Dublin City. This extant 
structure may be one of the few representative examples of its time that still exists in the greater 
city. This early eighteenth century structure is an intact example of an identifiable vernacular type. 
The rarity of this surviving early vernacular multi-storey building type ensures that a special 
historical interest accrues to it. Later nineteenth century interventions to insert a shop front at 
ground floor further add to its historical character.  While the addition of the modern storeroom in 
the rear site is of no architectural merit,  its existence has, in fact, ensured the survival of centuries 
old layers of historic wall finishes. 
Oral folklore also mentions this building as being the Little Bogey, an eighteenth century Yeomanry 
barracks.  
 
SOCIAL: 
The structure displays vernacular traditions of construction and is set in this historic village which, 
illustrates the social organisation of generations of inhabitants. The archival photographs and 
illustrations of Harold’s Cross locate this structure in a prominent position, on the historic common 
that later evolved into a civic park, and shows that this building has also evolved over the centuries 
while maintaining its essential architectural integrity. This early vernacular building retains 
elements of the original plan-form, making this seemingly ordinary structure a rare and distinctive 
survivor. 
 
ARCHAEOLOGICAL: 
The building is contained within a zone of archaeological interest and may contain fragments of 
early fabric, including carved or worked stone that may have been re-used in the later buildings, 
giving these structures archaeological significance as the current context of historically significant 
material.  
 
Nos. 148-150 Harold’s Cross Road is considered to be of special interest under the following 
headings: 
 
HISTORICAL:  
Originally, this structure would have been a substantial architectural set piece on the village 
green/common at Harold’s Cross. It is said to have been a Yeomanry barracks and there are 
accounts of the Uppercross Fusiliers practicing on Harold’s Cross Green in the late eighteenth 

Page 114



                                                                

century. Therefore, the structure has historical interest as it throws light on the character of a past 
age by virtue of its design, plan and historic use. 
 
ARCHITECTURAL:  
The building has architectural significance as it has elements of early 1700’s construction apparent 
namely the corner chimneybreasts at ground and possibly first floor. However, the architectural 
integrity of the structure has been undermined by the loss of the top two floors and it is not clear 
what fabric remains at first floor as there was no safe access afforded at the time of survey.  
 
ARCHAEOLOGICAL: 
The building is contained within a zone of archaeological interest and may contain fragments of 
early fabric, including carved or worked stone that may have been re-used in the later buildings, 
giving these structures archaeological significance as the current context of historically significant 
material.  
 
Conclusion: 
Dublin City Council Conservation Section has carried out an assessment of 148-152 Harold’s 
Cross Road, Dublin 6W. The section has considered the applicants’ reasons for seeking the 
proposed additions to the RPS and concludes that only 152 Harold’s Cross Road, Dublin 6W, 
merits inclusion on the City Council’s Record of Protected Structures. Having reviewed the site, it is 
recommended that protection be limited to the early eighteenth century, three-storey structure due 
to its 1700’s historic structural integrity which may be further supported by an in-depth inspection of 
the first floor and roof structure. This should be facilitated once safe access is afforded.  
 
The extent of the proposed Protected Structure status and curtilage is outlined in Fig.2 of this 
document (below).  
 
Unfortunately, the architectural integrity of 148-150 Harold’s Cross Road, Dublin 6W, has been 
significantly diminished through the loss of two-storeys along with the original roof structure; 
though it was not possible to fully inspect all the ground and any of first floor to establish if 
significant eighteenth century fabric remains. This should be facilitated once safe access can be 
provided. 
 
The names ‘Little and Big Bogey’ are an important local historical reference and could be 
considered in the naming of a future restoration/regeneration project.  
 
It is now proposed to initiate the statutory process for the proposed addition of this structure to the 
Record of Protected Structures. This includes undertaking a statutory public consultation process 
in accordance with Section 55 of the Act. Following the statutory consultation process, a further 
report will be prepared taking any submissions and observations received into consideration, with a 
recommendation to the City Council to proceed or not with the proposed addition, or with a 
recommendation including amendments to the proposed addition. 
 
Recommendation:  
It is recommended that the statutory process to initiate for the proposed addition of 152 Harold’s 
Cross Road, Dublin 6W, to the Record of Protected Structures, in accordance with Section 54 and 
55 of the Planning and Development Act, 2000 (as amended), be noted. 
 

Recommendation 

Address Description (to appear on RPS) 

 152 Harold’s Cross Road, Dublin 6W   Early eighteenth century, three-storey structure 

 
 
 
 

Page 115



                                                                

 

                          
_______________ 22/04/21_________ 
Deirdre Scully                                                          Date 
Deputy City Planner 
 

Page 116



                                                                

Extent of Protected Structure Status & Curtilage 
 
Fig. 2 The curtilage of 152 Harold’s Cross Road, Dublin 6w, is outlined in red. 
 

 
 
Aerial Photograph showing location of building 

Fig.3 Site location encircled in red. Blue shaded area is the modern storeroom. 
 

 
 

Page 117



                                                                

Appendix 1: Short Photographic Record & Historical Maps: 
Updated exterior photographs dated 14/04/21 

  
Fig.4: 148-152 Harold’s Cross Road, D6W Fig.5: 152 Harold’s Cross Roads, natural slate 

stripped from front pitch 

Dated 12/03/20 

152 Harold’s Cross Road  

 
Fig.6: Front elevation of 150-152 Harold’s Cross Road 

 

 
Fig.7: Huge corner chimney stack shared with No. 

148 
Fig.8: Rubble stone gable end to south with brick 
coursing to eaves and traces of an original brick 
chimneystack 

Page 118



                                                                

  

Fig.9: Open plan shop looking north with chamfered 
post supporting first floor internal walls and chimney 

stack in north wall 

Fig.10: Understairs cupboard 

  
Fig.11: Main shop entrance flanked by cast and 
timber support pillars and timber beams above 

Fig.12: Rear door opening directly opposite main 
entrance lime washed with brick arch and remains of 
lath and plaster to timber lintel 

Page 119



                                                                

 

 
Fig.13: Lath and plaster ceiling in southern section of 

shop 
Fig.14: Timber newel and back door in background 

 

 

Fig.15: Timber staircase running up back wall with 
lime plastered walls with historic paint finish 

Fig.16: Historic layers of lime render and pigmented 
lime was to original rear elevation now enclosed by 

rear store extension 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 120



                                                                

148-150 Harold’s Cross Road 

 
Fig.17:148 Harold’s Cross Road, Front elevation 

  

Fig.18: Ground floor shop with counter looking 
south  

Fig.19: Ground floor shop looking north note 
angles of corner fireplace dashed in red 

  
Fig.20: Roque’s 1760 map of the environs of 
Dublin. Harrolds Crofs as commonage with 
development apparent on the west side of 
common in approx. location of No.140-152  

Fig. 21: Taylor’s map 1817 showing enclosed 
yard to national school at the entrance to Mount 
Jerome and the kinked terrace beyond 
containing nos. 148-152  

Page 121



                                                                

 
 

Fig.22.1847 Ordnance Map of Dublin Fig.23: 1888-1913 Ordnance Survey map of 
Dublin showing nos. 148-152 north of the boys 
school; note possible passage way dividing 
nos.148-150 

  
Fig. 24: 1876 Ordnance Survey of Ireland: City of Dublin: Rathgar and Rathmines Townships. 
Major public and commercial buildings are annotated. According to oral history, these buildings are 
purported to be barracks however there is no mention of a barracks building so it may not have 
had that function at the time. 

Page 122



                                                                

 
Fig.25: Photograph taken in 1815 according to Joe Curtis Harold’s Cross: In Old Photographs) 
From left; entrance to Mount Jerome Cemetery and gate lodge; single storey national school 
behind low wall, single storey cottage; no.152 with original shop and separate door to upper floors; 
nos.148-150 a four storey building having central entrance and fascia to flanking bay windows, and 
two-storey terrace beyond. The green is still open common. 

 

Page 123





Conservation Section, Planning & Development Department 
Civic Offices, Wood Quay, Dublin 8  

 
An Rannóg Caomhantais,  An Roinn Pleanála agus Forbairt Maoine 

Oifigí na Cathrach, An Ché Adhmaid, Baile Átha Cliath 8 
T. 01 222 3927  F. 01 222 2830   

 

31st May 2021 
 
 
To the Chairperson and Members  
of the South East Area Committee 
 

 
Initiation of the Statutory Process for the Proposed Addition of Garland House, 
28-30 Rathmines Park, Rathmines, Dublin 6, to the Record of Protected 
Structures in accordance with Section 54 and 55 of the Planning and 
Development Act, 2000 (as amended).  

 

 
 
PHOTOGRAPH OF STRUCTURE 
 

 
 
Introduction 
It is proposed to initiate procedures under Section 54 and Section 55 of the Planning 
& Development Act 2000 (as amended) to add ‘Garland House, 28-30 Rathmines 
Park, Rathmines, Dublin 6’ to Dublin City Council’s Record of Protected Structures.  

Page 125



 
Request for Addition 

 Rathmines Initiative, dated 11/02/2021. 
 Councillor Mary Freehill, dated 27/04/2021. 
 Councillor James Geoghegan, dated 28/04/2021. 

 
Summary of Reasons for Seeking Addition  

 Rathmines Initiative made a submission to the Pre-Draft Public Consultation 
Strategic Issues Paper for the Dublin City Development Plan 2022-2028 
(Submission Portal Reference DCC-C18-ISSUE-718), dated 11th February 
2021 recommending the inclusion to the Record of Protected Structures of 
the Former Second Church of Christ Scientist (also referred to as Garland 
House), Rathmines Park, Rathmines, Dublin 6. 

 Councillor Mary Freehill made representation, dated 27th April 2021 to Dublin 
City Councils’ Planning and Property Development Department for the 
inclusion of Garland House to the Record of Protected Structures.  The 
representation highlighted the well preserved interior and exterior of the 
building, recommending its inclusion on the Record of Protected Structures in 
light of its historical significance and architectural design quality. 

 Councillor James Geoghegan made representation, dated 28th May 2021 to 
the Dublin City Council South East Area Committee, (reference Q.92 South 
East Area Committee 10th May 2021) for the inclusion of Garland House to 
the Record of Protected Structures.  The representation identified the former 
Church of Christ Scientist at Rathmines Park, built in 1923 as a historically 
important building. 

 
Methodology for Assessing 20th Century Structures 

In November 2019, the Planning and Property Development SPC agreed a 
methodology to expedite proposed additions/deletions to the RPS in a systematic 
manner, based on the Architectural Heritage Protection Guidelines 2011 and 
NIAH/Ministerial Recommendations under Section 53(1) of the Planning and 
Development Act, 2000 (as amended).  The methodology agreed to prioritise 20 th 
century structures in addition to industrial sites, early buildings and underrepresented 
typologies.  On foot of this, the Conservation Section has identified Garland House, 
(Former Second Church of Christ Scientist), 28-30 Rathmines Park, Rathmines, 
Dublin 6 as a 20th century structure and has recommended that a detailed 
assessment of the building be undertaken for its proposed addition to the RPS.   
 
Site Location & Zoning Map 

The site in question is zoned Z2: “To protect and/or improve the amenities of 
residential conservation areas”, in the Dublin City Development Plan 2016-2022.  
Garland House, is located at the southern end of Rathmines Park, a small 19th 
century development located off Rathmines Road Upper in Dublin 6.   
 
The land uses in the immediate area are principally residential, characterised by 
single and two-storey houses.  Rathmines Park is divided east-west by a central tree-
lined grassed reservation having a separate grassed triangular green to its northern 
end.  The subject site is bounded to the south by a laneway to the rear of properties 
on York Road; to the west by the rear gardens of properties on York Avenue; to the 
east by Auburn House (a two-storey late 20th century residential development) and to 
the north by late 19th and early 20th century housing on Rathmines Park. 

 

Page 126



 
Fig.1: Site location and zoning map for Garland House, Rathmines Park, Rathmines, Dublin 6 
(arrowed red).  Z2 ‘Residential Conservation Area’ zoning shown as darker yellow.  The 
lighter yellow areas are zoned Objective Z1 “To protect, provide and improve residential 
ameniteis”.  
 

Relevant Planning History 
 
Planning Ref: Description: Decision: 

1202/88 Change of use to recording and rehearsal studio with 
ancillary use to Park House. 

GRANT 
PERMISSION  
29th Nov 1988 

2402/90 Internal works to provide additional office accommodation 
and office use of Auditorium Area. 

GRANT 
PERMISSION  
19th Dec 1990 

2032/02 Planning permission for maintenance work to the annex 
building of the above address, which includes the removal of 
existing roof and replacement with new roof, demolition and 
replacement of previous extensions and associated site 
works. 

GRANT 
PERMISSION 
23rd Aug 2002  

supported by appeal 
to An Bord Pleanála 
dated 6th Jan 2003 

(ABP 
ref:PL29S.200438) 

1151/08 The development consists of extending existing single storey 
structure to provide a second storey to this proposed 
development, all at South East side of this existing office 
building.  

GRANT 
PERMISSION  
3rd March 2008 

2625/21 Demolition of existing buildings and the construction of 40 
apartments of 4 and 5 storeys in height. 

A decision has not yet 
been made on this 

application 

 
Site Access 
An internal and external inspection of the property and rear site was carried out by 
Dublin City Councils Conservation Section on the 27th May 2021.   
 
 
 
 
 

Page 127



 
Fig.2: Location and layout of structures:   

 Auditorium having corner bays with flat roofed single-storey entrance highlighted in red.   

 Two-storey wing over concealed basement highlighed in purple. 

 Single-storey projection to southwest housing former readers rooms higlited in orange. 

 Sngle-storey link structure bounding west of plan highlighted in blue. 

 Former treasures room highblighted in yellow. 
 19th century single-storey annex (former hall/Sunday school range) higlighted in 

maroon. 

 
Summary Description 
Composition: 
Freestanding triple-height multiple-bay former Second Church of Christ Scientist, 
built 1923, having tiered gabled frontage clasped by lower corner bays set at an 
oblique angle; flat roofed single-storey entrance slightly recessed between flanking 
two-storey bays.  Two-storey wing over concealed basement, built 1923 to northwest 
of plan set at an oblique angle and projecting forward of main façade, linking with 
earlier single-storey former hall/Sunday school range c.1880 (hereafter referred to as 
the ‘annexe’).  Single-storey projection to southwest of plan, built 1923 housing 
former readers rooms, with single-storey link structure bounding west of plan 
providing access to the two-storey wing and the annexe (refer to fig: 2 for layout plan 
of structures).   
 
Exterior: 
Shallow pitched, roof to church auditorium carrying Westmoreland green slate having 
banded glazed rooflights and copper clad ventilator/lantern to centre; Westmoreland 
green slate to remainder of pitches with bituminous felt covering to flat roofs; 
replacement hipped man-made slate roof c.2002 to annexe.  Rendered chimney 
stack to two-storey projecting wing to northwest.  Variety of rainwater goods having 
cast-iron box hoppers with embossed garlands.  Painted roughcast and smooth 
rendered walls.  Pseudo-Lombardic frieze detailing to tiered gables having rendered 

Page 128



pilaster quoins, breaking eaves to form stout pinnacles.  Limestone and cast-iron 
ventilation inlets/grills.  Historic metal lighting sconce to principal elevation.  
Diocletian and lunette windows to upper level over square-headed windows having 
limestone cills.  Original steel-framed casements with leaded cames and ‘figured 
rolled glass’ to principal north elevation; to two-storey wing to northwest of plan; to 
single-storey projection to southwest of plan; and to flat roof link structure bounding 
west of plan.  Replacement painted uPVC windows with leaded-effect lights to 
remaining opes.  Square-headed window openings with granite cills to annexe having 
two-over-two timber sash windows to south and east elevations with timber casement 
windows to remainder.   
 
Principal door surround of Stradbally limestone incorporating mosaic panels to form 
sunburst, surmounted by flat coping and relief cut inscription reading 'SECOND 
CHURCH OF CHRIST SCIENTIST'.  Foundation stone to bottom LHS of door with 
relief cut inscription reading ‘THIS CHURCH IS BUILT / ON THE CORNER STONE / 
OF HEALING / LAID BY CHRIST JESUS / IT DEMONSTRATES / THE TRUTH OF / 
CHRISTIAN SCIENCE / AS REVEALED TO / MARY BAKER EDDY’.  Round-headed 
doorway accessed by three canted limestone steps.  Double leaf varnished oak 
doors having series of vertical panels with full-width studded strap hinges embracing 
half-moon aperture containing ‘figured rolled glass’ in fish-scale pattern.   
 
Interior: 
The principal entrance porch opens onto a large foyer retaining decorative mosaic 
flooring, Austrian oak wall panelling (rising to two-thirds level), timber panelled doors 
with octagonal overlights and a compartmented coved ceiling, (in part responding to 
the form of the raking gallery overhead).  
 
Two sets of double-leaf wooden doors lead from the foyer into the former auditorium.  
This was originally conceived a large double-height space on a square plan having 
chamfered corners.  The space was subdivided c.1992 with the insertion of two 
concrete floors creating three floors of largely open-plan office accommodation with a 
small number of enclosed office spaces.  An enclosed staircase is located over the 
former reader’s platform with a lift shaft inserted to the north of the plan.  The original 
raked floor at ground level has been levelled creating two distinct floor planes. A 
shallow barrel vaulted ceiling (evident at second floor) spans the space having inset 
clerestory windows and decorative plasterwork concealing a steel truss roof 
construction (now partially exposed to perimeter).  The former first floor gallery has 
been subdivided for use as a meeting room and for the provision of additional office 
space.  This is accessed via two flights of dogleg stairs positioned at opposing ends 
of the ground floor foyer.  The floor of the gallery area has been built up in timber to 
provide a level plane – the exposed shuttered concrete construction is evident from 
the service spaces below.   
 
Two ground floor offices located to the southwest of the plan are identified as the 
former First Readers Room and Second Readers Room – these spaces are provided 
with full-length mirrors originally for use by the Readers.  A covered link corridor 
bounding the west of the former auditorium provides access to the two-storey wing to 
the northwest of the plan and to the annexe structure beyond.  A staircase rises to 
the former first floor boardroom.  These spaces retain parquet flooring, wall panelling 
(rising to dado level), in-built presses, running mould plaster cornicing, timber 
panelled doors (some with glazed lights) and steel-framed leaded casements having 
‘figured rolled glass’ and geared pivot lights. Tiled fireplaces and hearths reflecting 
Art Deco and Arts and Crafts inspired detailing are present to the ground floor former 
clerk’s office, the ground floor former treasures office and first floor former 
boardroom.  A separate staircase provides access to the basement area (former 

Page 129



boiler room).  This has board marked shuttered concrete walls and retains early 
service installations and light fittings.   
 
The 19th century annexe comprises two large rooms at ground level in addition to a 
number of smaller rooms, providing office, meeting room and ancillary 
accommodation.  This portion of the structure was largely reconfigured and 
refurbished c.2002 when a replacement roof structure, now incorporating an attic 
floor, was added.  Window openings were altered and a number of accretions to the 
west of the plan were rebuilt at this time.  Much of the finishes to this section of the 
building are modern though some late 19th century timber window linings have been 
retained. 
 
Setting 
Gravel forecourt to front having yew trees, opening on to Rathmines Park with 
tarmacadam vehicular entrance to east.  Tarmacadam carparking to west of site 
having grassed area with mature planting and trees forming party boundary with 
properties fronting onto York Avenue. 
  
Historical Background 

The Church of Christ Scientist also known as Christian Science, was established in 
1879 by Mary Baker Eddy in Massachusetts, USA (b.1821-d.1910).  Eddy taught a 
form of spiritual healing inspired by the curative acts of Christ, as represented in the 
New Testament bible. In 1894 the church established its first settled congregation in 
Boston, Massachusetts, referred to as the ‘Mother church’.  All other congregations 
were to be considered ‘Branch churches’.  Where more than one branch was 
established in a given city or area the title of “First Church of Christ Scientist”, and 
“Second Church of Christ Scientist” was to be given, and so forth, (Duperier, (2008), 
par.27). 
 
The religion rapidly expanded in America and in Europe during the opening decades 
of the 20th century.  By 1900 Christian Science had established a presence in Ireland 
and in April of 1903 formal communication had been sent to Boston announcing the 
foundation of the ‘First Church of Christ Scientist, Dublin’, (Anon, (1912), par.4).  As 
the community of converts grew a second branch church was established on the 24th 
April 1920, under the name of the ‘Second Church of Christ Scientist’ (Anon, (1949), 
par.4).   
 
The new branch church was to be located in the residential suburb of Rathmines 
where a hall on Rathmines Park had been appropriated and ‘put into suitable order 
for a church’ (ibid, par.4).  This is understood to be the portion of the subject building 
to the northwest of the site (now referred to as the ‘annexe’).  The hall had been 
home to the ‘Rathmines Club’ from 1885 (Kelly, (2001), pg.179), though it first 
appears on the 1882 Ordnance Survey map when the site of the present church was 
in use as a skating rink (maps not reproduced here).   
 
Construction of a permanent church commenced in late 1921, (Ivey (2021), on the 
plot of land to the immediate east of the repurposed hall.  Works were complete by 
March of 1923 at a cost of £35,000, (DIA).  The dedication of the building took place 
a quarter of a century later, on Sunday 3rd April 1949, when construction debt for the 
building had been fully paid off (Anon, (1949), par.1).  The new church at Rathmines 
Park reflected the Christian Scientists’ first purpose built place of worship in Ireland, 
predating construction of the sister branch church on Baggot Street, Lower by some 
five years (Anon, (1923) pg.3).  The 1938 Ordnance Survey map records the 
sprawling footprint of the new church on Rathmines Park, which retained and 

Page 130



incorporated the earlier hall to the northwest of the site, now repurposed anew as a 
Sunday school and caretakers residence (Porter, (1933), pg.46-47).  
 
The church was built to the designs of the architect and civil engineer, Edwin 
Bradbury (b.1875-d.1948) who was former President of the Architectural Association 
of Ireland (1908-9, 1917-18) and architect to Pembroke Urban District Council and 
Rathmines and Pembroke Joint Hospital Board, (DIA)1.  The appointment of a 
reputable practice, already well-established in the Rathmines Township may have 
helped lend further credibility to the newly formed congregation of Christ Scientists at 
Rathmines Park.  Bradbury would later join in practice with Robert Edward Evans 
(b.1898-d.1972), a partnership best known for The Clarence Hotel, on Wellington 
Quay of 1937-39.  Some fifteen years its junior, ‘The Clarence’ clearly references 
Bradbury’s earlier work at Rathmines Park through use of both round-headed and 
geometric openings, steel framed leaded windows and Austrian oak panelling 
(fig.11). 
 
Bradbury’s church was constructed in a pseudo-Lombardic style incorporating a 
blend of Art Deco and Arts & Crafts influences, marking this apart from the 
established Roman Catholic and Anglican churches, which generally remained 
conservative in outlook.  When considered in context with other churches of Christian 
Science, Paul Ivy, Professor of Art History at Arizona College of Fine Arts notes that 
the church’s architecture in Europe embraced stylistic diversity reflecting a departure 
from the traditionalist forms more widely adopted in the United States of America 
(Ivey, (2021)). 
 
An article published in the Irish Times dated 14th June 1923 entitled ‘Dublin Church 
Built of Concrete’ records the completion of the new church under the contractor, 

Messrs. J. and R. Thompson Ltd.  This proudly claims that the Second Church of 
Christ Scientist at Rathmines Park was the first in Ireland to adopt modern 
construction techniques for ecclesiastical use.  Thus far, mass concrete and 
structural steel had largely been the reserve of housing and commercial 
developments.   
 

 ‘This particular sphere of industry affords another example where Dublin 
leads the way and …that those engaged in the direction and execution of 
building works in Dublin are pioneers in the use of reinforced concrete in the 
construction of churches. A fine example of the this new type of church 
building is to be found at Rathmines Park, where a new place of worship has 
been erected for The Second Church of Christ Scientist’ (Irish Times, (1923) 
pg.4).  
 

The interior arrangement reflected the liturgical requirements of the church. This 
focused on the delivery of readings by two elected officiants from dual readers’ desks 
with a strong requirement for clear lines of sight and excellent acoustics, (Ivey, 
(2011), Par.14).  Bradbury adopted the auditorium plan favoured by the church in the 
United States of America and which Ivey indicates had been widely elected by the 
branch congregations in Britain (ibid).   
 

                                                 
1 The Dictionary of Irish Architects (DIA) records ‘additions’ to the church under the architect 
William Albert Dixon and executed by the contractor Messers. Hull & Co, as referenced in the 
Patterson Kempster Shortall (PKS) account book dated June 1930.  The Conservation 
Section has consulted the PKS account book for the period and cannot verify this as fact.   
 

Page 131



Research conducted by the Conservation Section suggests that Bradbury’s design 
represented an exceptionally rare example of an auditorium plan church in Ireland.  
The layout comprised a square hall with tiered theatre-style seating affording the 
‘occupant of every seat a clear view’ of the speaker’s platform, (ibid).  The stepped 
concrete gallery was deftly positioned over the ground floor foyer and cloakrooms 
avoiding the need for an overhang and maximising light in the main auditorium.  The 
platform or rostrum formed the prominent feature of the auditorium and was provided 
with finely crafted dual reading desks2, below a curved sounding board (fig.12).  The 
auditorium was spanned by a shallow barrel vaulted ceiling which together with the 
rooms’ chamfered corners served to achieve both acoustic excellence and 
favourable distribution of light.   
 
Decorative treatment was sparing, in line with the church’s teachings which sought to 
avoid visual distraction and refrained from the use of overt symbolism (fig.12).  
Spiritual inscriptions often represented the only form of decorative relief.  At 
Rathmines the walls and the roof of the auditorium were painted ‘without any colour’ 
having Austrian oak panelling to lower level and floors laid of parquet (ibid). A large 
entrance foyer extending across the full width of the building provided a space for 
meeting, before and after services, and gave access to the auditorium and gallery via 
stairs placed at either end.  The Irish Times reported that ‘the entrance is laid in 
mosaic and here is seen the only touch of colour in the building, as all the corridors, 
boardroom, official rooms and cloak rooms are, like the main hall, panelled in oak 
and painted white overhead’ (ibid).   

 
The auditorium was originally furnished with an electric organ by the prominent firm 
of organ builders, Henry Willis & Sons and Lewis & Company Ltd., of London, 
(Bunning (2013) par.3).  The Irish Times reported that the ‘fine, beautiful organ, one 
of the best in Dublin, makes it possible for recitals of organ and vocal music to be 
broadcast’ (Anon, (1949), par.4).  The church continued to be used for RTE 
broadcasts and latterly as a recording studio and rehearsal space until the late 
1980’s. On closure of the church the organ was removed and transported to Australia 
where it was installed in Holy Trinity Anglican Church, Wangaratta, Victoria in 1992-
93.   
 
The church was equipped with all modern conveniences including a high pressure 
heating system and artificial lighting (to facilitate evening services and the regular 
Wednesday night testimony meetings).  Trade publications of the period extolled the 
merits of natural ventilation and at Rathmines Park passive ventilation was provided 
via metal grills and limestone inlets, vented via a decorative copper clad cupola at 
roof level.   
 
By the late twentieth century the congregation had declined in numbers.  In 1983 the 
main auditorium had been vacated and by 1986 the church had been placed on the 
open market.  The building initially found new use in 1988 as a recording studio and 
rehearsal space under the composer and pianist, Frank McNamara, (Reg. Ref: 
1202/88).  Church members had by then reverted to holding services in the former 
Sunday school range, the very structure where in 1921 the congregation had first 
come together in worship.   
 
On the 3rd February 1992, after almost three quarters of century in existence, Second 
Church of Christ Scientist, Dublin formerly consolidated with the First Church of 

                                                 
2 The reader’s desks and chairs together with the chairs from the board room were removed 
from Second Church, Dublin on closure of the church c.1986 and are now housed in the 
current premises of First Church of Christ Scientist, at No.21 Herbert Park Road. 

Page 132



Christ, Scientist, Dublin.  That same year the church on Rathmines Park was 
purchased by Thomas Garland & Partners Consulting Engineers who renamed the 
property ‘Garland House’, (Anon. (2016), par.5).   
 
Garland & Partners refurbished the former church c.1992 as office accommodation 
under planning permission Reg. Ref: 2402/90.  The approved development provided 
two new reinforced concrete (RC) floors within the existing auditorium, supported on 
four new 300x300mm RC columns. A new RC staircase was introduced and 
adjustments were made to the existing raking ground floor and stepped gallery areas 
to make these ‘sufficiently level’.   
 
In 2002 planning permission was granted for replacement of the existing slate roof to 
the former hall and Sunday school range, by then referred to as the ‘annexe’ (Reg. 
Ref: 2032/02).  In 2008 permission was granted for the extension and the provision of 
a second floor to the existing single-storey projection to southwest of the church 
(Reg. Ref: 1151/08).  These works were not executed.  The annexe continues (2021) 
to be used as office accommodation. 
 
References 

 Aerial and satellite photography provided by google maps. 
 Anon. (Unknown date). 1928 First Church of Christ, Scientist Baggot St 

Dublin. Available: https://www.archiseek.com/2013/1931-first-church-of-christ-
scientist-baggot-st-dublin/. Last accessed 7th May 2021. 

 Anon. (1912). Branch Church News - First Church of Christ, Scientist, Dublin, 
Ireland. Available: 
https://journal.christianscience.com/shared/view/1dbwa85n0rk. Last accessed 
7th May 2021. 

 Anon. (1923). First Church Belfast Ireland. The Christian Science Monitor, 
pg.3. 

 Anon. (1949). Church Dedications - Dublin, Ireland (Second Church). 
Available: 
https://sentinel.christianscience.com/shared/view/10i17xx1bbe?s=e. Last 
accessed 7th May 2021. 

 Anon. (2016). A History of Garland House. Available: 
http://www.garlandconsultancy.com/news-and-resources/news/2016/03/10/a-
history-of-garland-
house/#:~:text=It%20was%20built%20by%20A,Thomas%20Garland%20%26
%20Partners%20in%201989.. Last accessed 7th May 2021. 

 Branch Church Committee Meeting Minute Books, Second Church of Christ, 
Scientist, Dublin (1989 – 1992).  Courtesy of Mr. Rodney Senior of First 
Church of Christ, Scientist, Dublin.  

 Bunning, T. (2013). Holy Trinity Anglican Church Wangaratta. Available: 
https://www.ohta.org.au/confs/Albury/WangWillis.html. Last accessed 10th 
May 2021. 

 Dictionary of Irish Architects (DIA). 
 Dublin City Archive. 
 Duperier, L. (2008). DC Historic Presentation Review Board. Available: 

https://planning.dc.gov/sites/default/files/dc/sites/op/publication/attachments/F
irst%2520Church%2520of%2520Christ%2520Scientist_0.pdf. Last accessed 
7th May 2021. 

 Gordon, K. (2009). (Former) Seventh Church of Christ, Scientist. Available: 
https://www.seattle.gov/documents/Departments/Neighborhoods/HistoricPres
ervation/Landmarks/RelatedDocuments/DesRpt7thChurchofChrist.pdf. Last 
accessed 13th May 2021. 

Page 133



 Member of Board of Directors, Second Church of Christ Scientist, Dublin. 
(Undated). The Inauguration and growth of Second Church of Christ, 
Scientist, Dublin Ireland. The Mary Baker Eddy Library. 

 Porter, F. G.. (1933). Reminiscences of the Inception of Christian Science in 
Ireland. The Mary Baker Eddy Library Reminiscence File, 1870-Present, p46-
47. 

 Irish Architectural Archive (IAA). 
 Irish Times Article dated 14th June 1923, Available at: 

https://www.irishtimes.com/newspaper/archive/1923/0614/Pg004.html (Last 
accessed: 6th May 2021). 

 Ivey, P. (2011). American Christian Science Architecture and its Influence. 
Available: https://www.marybakereddylibrary.org/research/american-christian-
science-architecture-and-its-influence/?cn-reloaded=1. Last accessed 7th 
May 2021. 

 Ivey, P. (2021). Personal communications with Assistant Architectural 
Conservation Officer 10th May 2021. 

 Kelly, D (2001). Four Roads to Dublin – A history of Rathmines, Ranelagh & 
Leeson Street. Dublin: The O’Brien Press. 179. 

 Ordnance Survey Mapping. 
 The Mary Eddy Baker Library. 

 
NIAH Significance/Rating 
Correspondence from Barry O'Reilly, Architectural Heritage Officer NIAH, DHLGH, 
dated 29th April 2021 confirms that the National Inventory of Architectural Heritage 
(NIAH) has recorded Garland House under the current ongoing survey phase (phase 
15) of the Dublin Survey.  Ministerial Recommendations for phase 15 of the NIAH 
Dublin survey are due to be issued to Dublin City Council in 2022.  
 
Assessment of Special Interest under the Planning & Development Act 2000  
The Conservation Section, following inspection of the site on 27th May 2021, 
considers that Garland House (Former Second Church of Christ Scientist), 
Rathmines Park, Rathmines, Dublin 6’, is of special interest under the following five 
special interest categories as outlined by the Architectural Heritage Protection 
Guidelines for Planning Authorities (2011):  
 

 ARCHITECTURAL:  
- The church was built to the designs of the well-established architect and 

civil engineer, Edwin Bradbury (b.1875-d.1948) who was former President 
of the Architectural Association of Ireland (1908-9, 1917-18) and architect 
to Pembroke Urban District Council and Rathmines and Pembroke Joint 
Hospital Board, (DIA).  Bradbury would later join in practice with Robert 
Edward Evans (b.1898-d.1972), a partnership best known for The 
Clarence Hotel, on Wellington Quay of 1937-39.   
 

- Designed in a pseudo-Lombardic style, the church is of distinct character 
and architectural detailing which incorporates both Art Deco and Arts & 
Crafts references, fashionable at the time.  Bradbury’s scheme is 
characterised by stylistic diversity and stands apart from its Roman 
Catholic, Anglican and non-conformist piers who largely continued to 
favour a more traditionalist architecture.  The church at Rathmines Park 
most closely aligns with other celebrated branch churches of Christian 
Science, such as First Church of Christ, Scientist Belfast (built 1937 to 
designs by Bertram Clough Williams-Ellis (b.1883 d.1978)). 

 

Page 134



- Concealed from the principal thoroughfares of Rathmines Road Upper 
and Rathgar Road, the Second Church of Christ Scientist on Rathmines 
Park presents an unexpected and valuable contribution to this established 
residential neighbourhood.  The church, which terminates views along 
Rathmines Park (west) represents a prominent focal point in its immediate 
setting.  The church is architecturally impressive with stucco 
embellishments, textured wall treatments and an abundance of Diocletian 
and lunette windows, (reflecting the churches need for well-lit services).  
Bradbury’s tiered composition, which steps down to the northwest of the 
site, responds to the domestic scale of the adjacent two-storey red brick 
housing serving to integrate the building into its suburban context. 
 

- The building retains a significant amount of internal historic fabric despite 
refurbishment c.1992, to include the insertion of two additional floors 
within the main auditorium and the adjustment of the raking ground floor 
level. The principal ceiling, evident at second floor, retains historic 
plasterwork concealing the steel trussed superstructure which enabled 
Bradbury to span the auditorium without interruption.  The foyer, former 
boardroom, clerk’s room, reader’s rooms, treasurer’s office and link 
corridor are remarkably complete and are little altered.  These retain 
mosaic and parquet flooring, timber panelled doors, wall panelling and 
steel framed and leaded lights closely aligned with the Arts & Crafts 
aesthetic.  The interior joinery and fenestration treatment of Second 
Church, Rathmines was later referenced by Bradbury, in partnership with 
Robert Edward Evans, at The Clearance Hotel on Wellington Quay of 
1937-39 (fig.11).  The Clarence Hotel is on the current Record of 
Protected Structures (RPS ref: 8361) and has been assigned a ‘Regional’ 
rating by the National Inventory of Architectural Heritage (NIAH ref: 
50020034). 
 

- The main hall was designed as an exemplar of the ‘auditorium plan’ with 
tiered seating, favoured by the Christ Scientists and widely employed by 
the congregation in the United States of America.  Research suggests that 
Bradbury’s design represented a rare example of the ‘auditorium plan 
church’ in Ireland.  This reflected the liturgical requirements of the church 
which focused on the delivery of readings by two elected officiant’s from 
dual desks to the front of the hall.  Despite the removal of the readers 
platform and raking seating c.1992 the building remains of interest as a 
rare example of a former ‘auditorium planed church’ in Ireland. 
 

- However, it is considered that the 19th century single-storey annexe 
(former Sunday school and caretaker’s residence) retains little internal 
historic fabric and has been significantly altered through the provision of a 
new roof and attic floor c.2002.  This section of the building retains some 
window linings and timber sash windows. This structure is not considered 
to be of special architectural interest.   

 

 ARTISTIC:  
- The Stradbally limestone door surround with relief-cut inscription plaques 

and mosaic sunburst detailing demonstrates high quality and skilled 
craftsmanship.   
 

- The interior has been designed to a high standard demonstrating fine 
craftsmanship and a use of quality materials.  The most elaborate 
treatment was reserved for the entrance foyer where the use of rich 

Page 135



Austrian oak panelling, textured leaded lights and mosaic detailing 
combined simplicity with sophistication.  The foyer of the former Second 
Church, Rathmines is considered, alongside Bradbury’s later work at The 
Clarence Hotel on Wellington Quay, to represent one of the finest Arts & 
Crafts inspired interiors in the city. 
 

 TECHNICAL:  
- The Second Church of Christ Scientist is among the earliest ecclesiastical 

structures in Ireland to employ mass concrete and steel construction.  
Contemporary newspaper reporting described the building as ‘pioneering’.  
Prior to this, the use of mass-produced industrial materials and 
construction techniques had most commonly been associated with 
commercial and residential architecture.  At Rathmines, the innovative use 
of modern construction techniques in an ecclesiastical context enabled 
Bradbury to provide uninterrupted spans in pursuit of the perfect 
auditorium plan form, favoured by the church in America. 

 

 HISTORIC:  
- The church at Rathmines Park is of historic interest as the first purpose 

built church of Christian Science in Ireland - a branch of protestant 
Christianity which was founded in the United States of America in the late 
19th century by Mary Baker Eddy.   As such, the church represents an 
important component of Ireland’s early twentieth-century ecclesiastical 
heritage which testifies to the development of the American non-
conformist tradition on the island. 

 
- The construction of the church at Rathmines Park formed part of a larger 

international building movement reflecting the growth of Christian Science 
during the early 20th century as this sought to promote itself as a credible 
religion and meet the needs of an expanding worldwide community of 
converts.   
 

- Survival of Christian Science Church buildings, when viewed against other 
non-conformist churches in Ireland, is comparatively rare and 
disproportionately so when considered against the established Roman 
Catholic and Anglican building stock.  Of the four branch churches to have 
been built in Ireland only former Second Church Rathmines Park, Dublin, 
former First Church Belfast and former First Church Cork survive, making 
the church at Rathmines Park one of only three representative examples 
that still exists on the island and only one of two in the Republic of Ireland.  
 

 SOCIAL:  
- On a national level the former church at Rathmines Park is of social 

significance as the first purpose built place of worship for Christian 
Scientists in Ireland. In a regional context the building remains an 
essential reference for Christian Science in Dublin.  Following demolition 
of the sister branch church on Baggot Street, Lower in 1975, it now serves 
as the only tangible reminder of the early Christian Science congregation 
in the capital, as this organised itself as a credible non-conformist 
presence in the city.  
 

- The 19th century single-storey annexe (former Sunday school and 
caretaker’s residence) is of some social interest as having served as the 

Page 136



as the temporary church for the congregation in 1921, prior to construction 
of Bradbury’s purpose-built church in 1923.   

 
Conclusion  
Dublin City Council’s Conservation Section has carried out an assessment of 
‘Garland House, (Former Second Church of Christ Scientist), Rathmines Park, 
Rathmines, Dublin 6’, and has also considered the applicants reasons for addition. 
The Conservation Section considers Garland House, (Former Second Church of 
Christ Scientist), to be of ‘Regional’ significance in line with the Architectural Heritage 
Protection Guidelines for Planning Authorities (2011) and concludes that the 
structure merits inclusion on the Record of Protected Structures. 
 
The 19th century single-storey annexe to the northwest of the church retains little 
historic fabric and although of some social significance, does not merit being placed 
on the RPS.   

For purposes of clarity the former treasurer’s office, adjoining the 19th century single-
storey annex, is considered to be of special interest and as such shall be included in 
the protection (refer to fig:2 for location plan). 

 
The extent of the proposed Protected Structure status and its curtilage is outlined in 
Fig. 3 of this document (below).  
 
It is now proposed to initiate the statutory process for the proposed addition of this 
structure to the Record of Protected Structures. This includes undertaking a statutory 
public consultation process in accordance with Section 55 of the Act. Following the 
statutory consultation process, a further report will be prepared taking any 
submissions and observations received into consideration, with a recommendation to 
the City Council to proceed or not with the proposed addition, or with a 
recommendation including amendments to the proposed addition. 
 
Recommendation 

It is recommended that the statutory process to initiate the proposed addition of 
‘Garland House (Former Second Church of Christ Scientist), Rathmines Park, 
Rathmines, Dublin 6’, including former treasurer’s office, but excluding the 19th 
century single-storey annexe, to the Record of Protected Structures, in accordance 
with Section 54 and 55 of the Planning and Development Act, 2000 (as amended), 
be noted.  
 

Recommendation 

Address Description (to appear on RPS) 

 28-30 Rathmines Park,  
Rathmines,  

Dublin 6 

Garland House  
(Former Second Church of Christ Scientist), 

including former treasurer’s office, but 
excluding 19th century single-storey annexe. 

 
 

      31/05/2021  
_______________ _________________ 
Paraic Fallon                                                         Date 
Senior Planner 

Page 137



Conservation Section 
Extent of Protected Structure Status & Curtilage 
 

 
Fig.3: The extent of the protected structure and its curtilage is outlined in red.   

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 138



Appendix 1: Short Photographic Record 
 

 
Fig.4: Principal/south elevation of Garland House (former Second Church of Christ Scientist).  Note the 
yew tree to the front site which appears on early archival images dating to c.1929. 

  
Fig.5: Aspect of Garland House (former Second 
Church Christ Scientist) taken from the southwest. 

Fig.6: Aspect of 19th century single-storey annexe 
with replacement roof (c. 2002) within the 
curtilage of Garland House and not proposed for 
protected structure status. . 

Page 139



  
Fig.7: Ventilator/lantern to roof of auditorium. Note 
the Westmoreland slate roof and in-line band of 
rooflights mid-pitch. 

Fig.8: Cast-iron box hopper and early electric 
lighting sconce. 

  
Fig.9: Painted steel frame and leaded light window 
with limestone cill. 

Fig.10: Stradbally limestone door surround 
incorporating mosaic sunburst detailing.  

Page 140



  
Fig.11: Interior image the foyer at Garland House to designs by Edwin Bradbury (left) and archival image 
of the tea rooms at The Clarence Hotel, Wellington Quay built 1937-39, also by Bradbury in later 
partnership with Robert Edward Evans (right).   Note similarities to include the use of geometric forms at 
ceiling and window/door opes, panelled wall linings and leaded fenestration.  Image to right reproduced 
courtesy of the G&T Crampton Photographic Archive, UCD Digital Library 
(https://digital.ucd.ie/view/ucdlib:47068).     

 
Fig.12: Image of interior of church as featured in the sales brochure c.1986. Note the chaste decorative 
scheme and organ by Henry Willis & Sons and Lewis & Company Ltd.  The speaker’s platform to the front 
of the auditorium incorporated a gently curved sounding board which was echoed in the gentle curvature 
of the matching reading desks. Image reproduced by kind permission of the Irish Architectural Archive. 

 

Page 141





Housing, Community & Emergency Services Department 
South East Area Office 

 
 
To the Chairperson and Members of the  
South East Area Committee 
 

 
Report of the Director of Services, South City 

 

City Recovery 

Multiple interventions have been put in place to facilitate outdoor dining in the South East 
Area, including build outs and zebras. We continue to have a high volume of applications for 
street furniture, which are carefully considered by the internal working group set up for this 
purpose. 
 
Portobello Harbour Square 
The Plaza at Portobello was closed off for 4 weekends inclusive of the Bank Holiday weekend 
to reduce anti-social behaviour in the area and we will continue to engage proactively with An 
Garda Siochána in regard to Portobello. 
 
Grand Canal  
A meeting was held in January 2021 with Waterways Ireland representatives and Councillors 
to discuss ongoing management and maintenance of the canals in the city and to agree a new 
structure for quarterly interaction between Waterways Ireland and DCC. The latest quarterly 
meeting was held on 25th May 2021 via Microsoft Teams and the next meeting is due to be 
held in September 2021. 
 
Portobello Harbour Square 
A meeting took place on the 28th January with SEA Councillors to discuss the proposed public 
consultation for Portobello Plaza. A meeting was held with City Architects, Roads, Planning 
and Public Realm to discuss how we might proceed. The architects for the hotel confirmed 
that they plan to commence development in the summer. A meeting will be arranged with City 
Architects and hotel architects and other internal departments to discuss arrangements for 
managing the build and the renovation of the square. This meeting is unlikely to take place 
until July 2021 when developer’s project team is in place. A further meeting will be arranged 
with Councillors soon afterwards to set out in some detail how the initial phase of public 
consultation will proceed. 
 
A further mural along Portobello Harbour side of the site has been completed. A mural 
celebrating 30 years of the Polish Embassy in Ireland will be delivered in June along a section 
of the canal side of the hoarding. The mural will be a collaboration between a Polish and Irish 
artist and arranged by Waterways Ireland. 
 
Rathgar Village Improvement Plan (VIP) 
Herzog Park, Rathgar – Final Phase  
The Rathgar Village Improvement Plan (VIP) was approved by the South East Area 
Committee in January 2015. One of the main objectives that emerged during the formation of 
the plan was the redevelopment of Herzog Park. The South East Area Office undertook local 
consultation and worked with Redscape and Park Services to create a plan which was brought 
to Part 8 and approved at the January 2017 meeting of the City Council. The final phase of 
the works planned for 2021 include the re-alignment of the front boundary of the park and the 
revised car park layout, as set out in the Part 8 permission. It was proposed that the tender for 
the car park works would issue by end of Q1 2021, but this has been delayed due to resourcing 

Page 143



issues in Road Construction section. Boundary treatment and further landscaping inside the 
park will be required as part of the works to finish the project in 2021. 
 
Ranelagh Gardens Park  
Works to light / enhance the main entrance archway were completed in February 2021. 
Renewal of display boards at entrances to the park will be carried out in 2021 using 
Discretionary Funds.  
 
 
Ringsend Irishtown Local Environment Improvement Plan (LEIP)  
The Ringsend Irishtown Local Environment Improvement Plan (LEIP) was adopted at the June 
2017 South East Area Committee meeting. Following that it was proposed to prepare planning 
applications under Part 8 of the Planning and Development Regulations, 2001, for the 
redesign of (1) Library Square and (2) Cambridge Road. 
 
*Both of these projects are now listed on the Capital Programme 2021 – 2023 and have been 
awarded funding from the Urban Regeneration and Development Fund (URDF). 
 
Library Square: (Mitchell & Associates) Meetings with internal stakeholders were held during 

September and October 2018. A meeting was held with local businesses to discuss parking / 
loading arrangements on 5th December 2018. A presentation was made to area councillors 
on 13th February 2019 and a preliminary draft design was brought to a public meeting for all 
stakeholders on Thursday 21st March 2019 in the Ringsend Irishtown Community Centre 
(RICC). Following a period of consultation up to 19th April 2019, submissions were received 
and were reviewed by the project team. A revised design was brought before the Public Realm 
Working Group on 22nd October 2019. A meeting of all internal stakeholders was held on 28th 
November 2019 and further meetings were required with key departments. Due to resourcing 
issues Roads Design and Construction Section will not be able to oversee completion of 
project to Part 8 stage. We are therefore preparing a tender brief to appoint consultants to 
address all outstanding issues and bring the project to Part 8 stage in 2021. In the meantime 
we are engaging with internal stakeholders to identify all outstanding issues. Councillors and 
community will be briefed before we commence the formal Part 8 process.  
Cambridge Road: An initial public workshop in relation to Cambridge Road was held on 
Thursday 30th August 2018 in the RICC. Meetings with Redscape Architects and internal 
stakeholders took place in September and October and designs were drafted based on 
consultations which were brought to a second public workshop/meeting on 28th November 
2018. Pre Part 8 report and drawings issued in December 2018 did not meet the requirements 
of E & T Department, however. Further information was required in relation to road design and 
drainage requirements for the proposal in particular. In 2019 Road Design & Construction 
Section, E & T Department, agreed to take on the completion of the project to Part 8 stage. 
Detailed meetings took place between Roads Design & Construction and internal departments 
with a view to agreeing an overall design before commencing Part 8 planning process. Parks 
Services Department has requested that a Ground Penetrating Radar (GPR) survey be carried 
out prior to Part 8 to identify location of underground services and any impact on tree planting. 
Drainage Department welcomes the provision of additional greening providing a SuDS benefit 
and a proposed new surface water main is being considered in conjunction with Irish Water. 
Agreement of the final design for the road has been delayed as we wait for the NTA to finalise 
the route for the East Coast Trail (ECT) which will either traverse Cambridge Road or run 
along part of Cambridge Road from Canon Mooney Gardens to Thorncastle Street. Work on 
preparation of tender for GPR survey and preliminary design of new surface water main will 
continue as we await final decision on ECT route from NTA. Due to resource constraints in E 
& T Department it is likely we will have to employ a consultant to bring this project to Part 8 
planning application stage. It will be necessary also to bring new design back to local 
consultation prior to lodgement of the Part 8. 
 

Page 144



The Cabbage Garden 
It is envisaged that refurbishment work on the football pitch will commence at the end of June 
and will take about 4 weeks to complete. An archaeological licence has been applied for to 
allow the work to proceed. 
 
Grand Canal  
Meetings took place between An Garda Siochána, Councillors and residents regarding anti-
social behaviour in the vicinity of Grand Canal Dock. 
 
Pearse House Regeneration 
Dublin City Council has received Stage 1 approval from the Department of Housing, Local 
Government and Heritage for the commencement of the first phase of regeneration of Pearse 
House. This initial approval allows for the engagement of an integrated design team who will 
consider the options available for regeneration. This first phase will concentrate on Blocks L, 
M, N and P, known locally as the ‘small flats’. The next step is the procurement of a design 
team, which will start shortly with a tender process and will take 4-6 months to finalise the 
appointment. This first phase of regeneration is due to take four years.  
The programme for the overall regeneration of Pearse House will be completed on a phased 
basis. Lessons learnt in each phase will be of immense value to subsequent phases, 
especially as Pearse House is a protected structure.  It is anticipated that overall regeneration 
of Pearse House will take approximately 12-15 years to complete. 
 
Rosary Hall 

After receiving extra funding of €240k which was approved at the April City Council meeting 
(as well as €125,000 already allocated) it has been decided to retender the entire proposed 
works.  Meetings took place with both main Community Groups and Consultant Architects in 
early May to outline the proposed works which include mechanical & electrical works, fire 
safety works, remedial works and lift replacement. Tender documentation regarding the full 
works is currently being prepared. 
The Area Manager is also engaging in meetings with both community groups regarding 
governance of the facility and a draft management plan for the running of the facility is being 
progressed. 
It is proposed that the Area Manager in conjunction with two members of both the Harold ’s 
Cross Football and Youth Club and the HXVCC will form the overarching committee to 
adjudicate on usage and optimise community involvement. 
A further meeting with both community groups took place on June 2th to review new drawings. 
 
Age Friendly Initiative Harold’s Cross 
The inaugural meeting of the Age Friendly Committee took place on January 28th 2020 and 
was well attended.  A draft report was submitted by the Harold’s Cross Village Community 
Council (HCVCC) in conjunction with Rob Chester, Area Community Officer and it was agreed 
to progress a number of these proposals funding permitting. In tandem, it is proposed to hold 
a workshop to further engage with the residents and ensure particularly any elderly resident 
who was not consulted has an opportunity to contribute to the process and be included. A 
further meeting took place March 10th and was well attended and the plan to date was 
reviewed. 
Obviously with ongoing restrictions the facilitation of a workshop to get the views of the wider 
community remains deferred till guidelines permit. 
A subgroup under the Housing SPC has been convened to look at the City-wide Age Friendly 
Strategy.  Under this structure, submissions for funding may be advanced, including the 
Harold’s Cross project. 
Due to the current government guidelines and restrictions, all physical meetings are currently 
postponed until further guidelines allow for larger meetings. Meetings are currently taking 
place online. 
A defibrillator has been installed in Harold’s Cross as part of the Age Friendly Initiatives. 

Page 145



The committee congratulated the HX Grow Hub for winning a City Neighbourhood Award and 
the group continues to grow in numbers 
It has been agreed by the elected members that further monies (€7,500) will be allocated to 
this Age Friendly initiative in the Discretionary funding for 2021. 
8 IT Age Friendly tablets have been distributed to residents and have been very well received. 
Cliff Run Media have supplied over 1000 units to established Age Friendly Projects across the 
country.  The tablet comes with one year’s free WI-FI and is dignity proofed to make access 
as easy as possible.  Funding of €2,000 from the HX Age Friendly project, €1,000 from the 
Central Age Friendly fund, and a final €1,000 from our community budget was utilised to 
finance this initiative.  A list of recipients was prepared in conjunction with HXVCC. 
 
It is anticipated that when the works are completed on Rosary Hall that it can play a pivotal 
role in age friendly activities going forward. 
 
A further meeting took place on May 26th and the committee decided to advance a further 
round of tablets for residents. 
 
Rutland Grove/ Eamonn Ceannt Park 
Meeting took place on 30th January with traffic engineers, Les Moore from Parks, Area 
Manager and staff and Cllr. Pat Dunne.  It was agreed at the meeting that Traffic Section would 
look again at the feasibility of putting dedicated parking as per Part 8.  Should it be possible 
to implement, the design would need to progressed and costed.  Parks are also prepared to 
look at enhancements at the entrance with additional trees etc. 
Traffic have indicated that staff are currently seconded to be involved in DCC’s Covid Mobility 
Interventions and are working on very fast rapid interventions throughout the city.  Therefore, 
they have very little spare resources at present to be involved with any possible Rutland Grove 
parking changes, as other Covid Mobility projects are taking priority. 
 
The Area Manager and Public Domain Officer met with the secretary of Rutland Grove 
Association to discuss ongoing levels of anti-social behaviour.  As a result, signage is to be 
upgraded at the entrance to the bring centre to assist with prosecutions. Extra security 
measures are also being considered at this entrance. 
Planters were installed at the entrance to Rutland Grove to enhance the environment and 
assist with ongoing Illegal parking at the entrance and have been well received by the 
community. 
A meeting took place between the Area Manager, the Parks Section and the secretary of the 
residents’ association on Friday 26th March to initiate discussions around the best utilisation 
of the co-funded €20,000 for the improvement works. 
The presentation of the proposed works at the Parks Depot upgrade took place on May 13th.  
The consultant outlined the plans to Councillors and community groups and welcomed input 
into finalising the design. 
It is proposed to have a further meeting on June 29th to update the Councillors and community 
groups on further changes to the drawings and Parks Section have agreed to meet on site 
with the Rutland Residents’ Association in the interim.  
The next ‘Friends of Eamonn Ceannt’ meeting has also been scheduled for June 10th. 
 
St. Pancras, Mount Tallant 
Keys for 11 units were handed over to the area office on 28th May. These units have not been 
fully snagged, but are very close to completion. Selections have been completed and estate 
management checks are almost complete on the selected applicants. Viewings have been 
taking place with applicants since 29th May and we would expect all of the units to be ready 
for occupation by the middle of June.  
 
Choice Based Lettings  

Page 146



Further vacant units in Rathmines Avenue flats will be advertised shortly under this scheme. 
We also expect to be in a position to advertise a number of bedsit units in Lissadel Court over 
the next few weeks. 
 
CCTV Benbulben Road 
Following on from the provision of Discretionary Funding for the installation of CCTV at 
Benbulben Road, we continue to try to progress the matter. Adhering to advice from DCC’s 
Data Protection Office, a letter was sent to the Garda Commissioners Office on the 11th March 
2021. This letter requested written authorisation from the Garda Commissioner for Dublin City 
Council to install CCTV at the location, which is a public area and not within the bounds of a 
Dublin City Council complex. The current DCC code of practice for installation of CCTV in 
public places requires such authorisation from the Garda Commissioner. The office of the 
Commissioner replied on the 11th May and submitted a number of documents, including An 
Garda Siochána’s Code of Practice for Community Based CCTV Systems. The documents 
submitted are at variance with DCC’s code of practice for CCTV in public places and do not 
seem to take into account that DCC are installing the CCTV rather than a Community based 
organisation. Discussions took place last week with locally based senior Gardaí in order to try 
and reconcile the differing positions and we are expecting a response outlining how they 
believe the matter can be progressed. Given that this camera will be placed in a highly 
trafficked and utilised area, which contains shops and services, there is significant potential 
for queries to be raised from a data protection perspective. It is therefore essential that there 
is full clarity and comprehension of the requirements to meet DCC’s obligations under data 
protection legislation before we can move forward with this project.  
 

Blarney Park Allotments and Riparian Watercourse Enhancement Scheme 

Utilising a grant received under the Local Authority Waters Programme, we are supporting an 
innovative project to review and enhance the watercourse and surrounding environmental 
amenity of the River Poddle at the Blarney Park Allotments and environs. A study and baseline 
plan based on the eco-system will be collated in the following months, the project is being 
driven by Donal O’Laoire (HX Grow Project). 

 

Cabbage Garden & Cathedral Lane 

Monthly meetings with various local stakeholders led by Brian Hanney continue with an aim 
to improve the local environment and develop activities in the park.  A Cabbage Garden 
Quarter Newsletter is currently being produced by the group and it is hoped to issue this on a 
quarterly basis.  The football pitch is due to be relaid shortly and forms of play facilities are 
being examined.  The proposal for a mural for Cathedral Lane is progressing with local 
consultation now taking place.  

 

Community Grant Scheme 2020/21 

On request from the central Community Grants Section, contact was made with 25 of our local 
community groups to facilitate payments of grants applied for under the 2020 Community 
Grants Scheme.  All groups who applied under this scheme in October/November 2019 should 
have received payment by early June. The 2021 Community Grants Scheme is expected to 
be advertised in June. 

 

Community Music Programme 

Our Community Music/Garden Gigs Programme will continue into June. Music Acts are being 
provided for the local residents of Moyne House, Eastwell Ladies Home, Orwell Men’s Shed 
(Orwell Healthcare), Merrick House, Stannaway and Lorcan O’Toole Court. Given the current 
restrictions and that fact most of these facilities are private, it is not possible to advertise these 
events in advance. Other locations will be looked at once further restrictions are lifted. 

 

Covid-19 Community Meals & Care Packs 

Page 147



We are continuing to support the valuable Meals Services and Care Packages which are 
delivered to vulnerable residents over bank holiday periods.  Ranelagh Community Response, 
St. Andrews Resource Centre, the Iveagh Trust (no meals) and Ringsend & Irishtown 
Community Centre are all involved in this service and are currently planning for the 
forthcoming June bank holiday weekend.  As an example, dinners and care packages were 
delivered to over 200 older and vulnerable people in the Ringsend area for the May bank 
holiday weekend with Goody bags also given to the crèche.  

 

Covid-19 Community Response 

We are still receiving referrals from older residents looking for low level assistance, including 
grocery collection, delivery of pharmaceuticals and other items. Local Community Groups 
continue to support the project with the provision of Volunteers. 

 

Covid-19 Supports 

Utilising our Covid-19 support programme we are assisting some Community Groups, Clubs 
and Projects to re-open safely with the provision of items like sanitiser and enhanced signage. 
So far projects assisted include Terenure Guides/Scouts, St. Josephs Parish Hall, The Loreto 
Centre, Bru Crumlin and Harold’s Cross Youth Football Club.  Other equipment including 
gazebos, tables and chairs are also being sourced for groups such as those at the Carmelite 
Centre/Aungier Street, Beggars Bush Court, Canon Mooney Gardens and Ranelagh 
Community Response to assist with future safe, outdoor activities and events. 

 

Crumlin Community Clean Up 

The Community Team are supporting the group in a wide range of activities across the whole 
Crumlin area including:- 

 Weekly Clean Ups (in all weathers) 

 Survey of Residents on best usage and plans for the open spaces 

 Provision of professional supports (Fiann O’Nualláin – Organic Gardener) 

 Identification and review of laneways and antisocial dumping 

 

Crumlin Walking Trail and Map 

This project has restarted after a lengthy hiatus during the lockdown period. The Crumlin 
Historical Society have provided a range of locations and details to our designer who is 
working on a draft of the brochure. We envisage a launch of the project later in the summer, 
subject to the ongoing lifting of restrictions. 

 

Environmental Projects (Ongoing) 

Much focus this year has centred on environmental and greening projects. We have been 
reaching out to Friends of Green Spaces Projects, Tidy Towns Groups and other 
Environmental Groups with a number of other requests for assistance received.  The following 
is an updated list of Friends of Green Spaces/Planter Projects/Greening Projects which we’ve 
supported (or are in the process of supporting) so far this year.   

 

1. Ballsbridge Village/Tidy Towns 

2. Bath Avenue/Londonbridge Road 

3. Beech Hill Court 

4. Beggars Bush 

5. Beggars Bush Court 

6. Boyne Street 

7. Bremen Avenue 

8. Bremen Road 

9. Carmelite Centre/York Street Area  

Page 148



10. Charlemont Court 

11. Charlemont/Ffrench Mullen  

12. Cowper 

13. Derrynane Gardens/O’Connell Gardens/BADRA 

14. Donnybrook Village/Tidy Towns 

15. Dunville Avenue 

16. Durrow Road/Lismore Road 

17. Eblana Villas  

18. Elm Park Terrace, Terenure 

19. George Reynolds House 

20. Gheel Autism, Milltown  

21. Harold’s Cross Village/Tidy Towns 

22. Heskin Court (being examined) 

23. Home Villas/Pembroke Cottages, Donnybrook 

24. Irishtown Village/Tidy Towns 

25. Island Villas 

26. Iveagh Trust 

27. Kevin Street/New Bride Street (being examined) 

28. Lansdowne Park 

29. Leinster Road 

30. Leo Fitzgerald House 

31. Leukos Road, Ringsend 

32. Long Lane 

33. Lower Rathmines Road 

34. McDonagh House 

35. Military Road 

36. Milltown Parish Centre  

37. Mount Argus Grove/Church Park Estate 

38. Mount Pleasant 

39. Nicholas Street/Bride Street (being examined) 

40. Northbrook Avenue 

41. O’Rahilly House 

42. Palmerston Grove  

43. Pearse House (through St. Andrew’s Resource Centre) 

44. Pearse Street/Neighbouring Flat Complexes (through St. Andrew’s Resource Centre) 

45. Portobello/Tidy Towns 

46. Powers Court 

47. Powers Court Sheltered Housing 

48. Ranelagh Close 

49. Ranelagh Village/Tidy Towns 

50. Rathgar Village 

51. Rathmines Park 

52. Ringsend Village/Tidy Towns 

53. Ross Road 

54. Sandymount Tidy Towns 

55. Smock Alley 

56. South Georgian Quarter  

57. St. Andrew’s Resource Centre 

58. Swan Grove 

59. Terenure Village 

60. The Grotto, Bremen Avenue (Different to ‘Bremen Avenue’ above) 

Page 149



61. The Pumphouse, Irishtown 

62. Verschoyle Court 

63. Whelan House 

64. Whitefriar Gardens 

65. Wilton Terrace-Canal 

66. Woodstock Court 

67. York Road, Ringsend 

68. YWCA, Baggot Street 

 

Gardening Courses Online 

 

We are continuing to support the online Gardening Course which are provided under the 
following projects:- 

 HX Grow Project – Harold’s Cross 

 ‘Let’s Have a Chat’ Gardening Programme – Terenure 

 Food Growing on 27th May, organised by Pearse Street Library 

 

Due to the online nature of these programmes, attendees are encouraged from across the 
area. 

 

Harold’s Cross Virtual Festival 2021 

The Virtual Festival took place from the 8th – 15th of May with a comprehensive list of art, 
music, interviews, documentaries and other events. The festival was hugely successful with 
highlights including the Children’s Art Competition (150 entries) and Pandemic Pets (200 
entries).  

 

Hope Springs Art Project 

We are supporting the Hope Spring Art Project which is based on the railings of the Holy Trinity 
Church in Rathmines. Art works were provided by children from Kildare Place National School 
and various other local residents of all ages. A visit to the site is thoroughly recommended! 

 

New born Knitting 

New born knitting packs comprising wool, needles and patterns continue to be distributed to 
residents of Beech Hill Court, Beggars Bush Court, Cambridge Court, Charlemont Court, 
Heskin Court, Powers Court, Ranelagh Close, Verschoyle Court and Woodstock Court 
sheltered housing complexes.  A first box of cardigans, hats and teddies for new born babies 
and their older siblings have now been sent to refugee camps on the Greek island of Samos. 

 

Older Person’s Activity Packs 

Following on from a successful pilot project, a further 600 Activity packs for older people are 
due to be distributed from the end of May onwards, organised in partnership with the Social 
Inclusion Unit/Healthy Dublin City Programme.  Packs will include jigsaws, puzzles books, 
vegetable seed, colouring books and other items.  Such brain activities have been proved to 
help reduce anxiety, develop focus, increase creativity and enhance motor skills.  Book 
reading/library type areas are also being promoted at selected sheltered housing complexes 
with other ideas at the planning stage. 

 

Plant Giveaways 

Given the challenges presented with the restrictions only being partially lifted, we are delighted 
that the Plant Sales/Giveaways were such a huge success across the SE Area. Dozens of 
community groups, local residents and environmental projects were given planting materials 
for planter boxes, open spaces, window boxes and other public spaces.   

Page 150



 

Poo Bags 

We have received a large quantity of Dog Poo Bags (biodegradable) and will be distributing 
to various local groups and businesses that requested them. If any group wishes to call to the 
Crumlin Area Office they can receive some bags, please note it is on an appointment only 
basis. 

 

Ringsend & Irishtown Community Centre 

We are continuing to provide support to the Movie Club, Bingo Club, Youth Service and Friday 
Night Family Quarantine Quiz which are currently taking place virtually.   

 

Ringsend Together Again/Stay Day Festival 

This annual May Day Festival, organised by the Ringsend & Irishtown Community Centre with 
support from the South East Area Office and local stakeholders, took place online this year.  
Local schools/crèche/afterschool club, youth groups, resident associations, sports groups, 
active retirement group and nursing homes all got involved in advance by providing “Messages 
of Positivity” which hung from the trees and railings of the Community Centre.  Over 400 Goody 
Bags were delivered to local flat/housing complexes and community.  The finale comprised 
an online showcase of local talent featuring music, magic, poetry, comedy and other 
entertainment on the bank holiday Monday. This event proved particularly popular with many 
former Ringsend residents tuning in from around the world. A feature on the event appeared 
on the RTÉ News. 

 

Village Traders Groups 

We are continuing to work with Trader Groups to assist in improving the public amenity in our 
villages with a view to the reopening of local businesses. Linear Planters at some vacant 
premises and planting materials for standard Planters have been provided for Rathgar. 
Terenure have agreed a package for the provision of new hanging baskets for the entire 
village. Kimmage Traders are still in discussion with us, we have offered them the same 
enhancements as other villages including hanging baskets and custom planters. We are 
fielding a huge number of proposal regarding outdoor spaces for play equipment, outdoor 
dining and seating (both permanent and ‘ad hoc’), however the majority of these requests are 
not proofed against best practice and refused. 

 

Terenure Enterprise Centre 

Given the sizeable number of training packages and other community development projects 
undertaken at the Centre, we are assisting with some strategic planning on how to enhance 
the programmes we already deliver in the area and connect to other local service providers. 

 

In what has been very difficult times for Local Community Groups and Volunteer 
Organisations, we are very grateful to all those involved in the above for their 
commitment and efforts. 

 

 
Waste Management / Environmental Services 

 Mural in Portobello. Graffstop applied  

 Graffiti : Removal ongoing 

 Support of Community Clean up groups  

 City Centre Street Audit Complete  

 Weed Control commenced in South East Area 25th May 2021 
 
Abandoned Bike Removal  
6 bikes removed for the month of May . 

Page 151



141 in total year to date 
 
Joint Policing Subcommittee 

Next meeting scheduled for Thursday 24th June at 9.15a.m.  
 
  

Page 152



SOUTH EAST AREA COMMITTEE  

DUBLIN CITY SPORT & WELLBEING PARTNERSHIP REPORT 

JUNE 2021 

 

  

 
 
 
Face to Face delivery of DCSWP programmes across communities in the Central area has 
now resumed. Delivery of programmes remains subject to Government, HSE and Sport 
Ireland Return to Sport guidelines.   
Online/Social Media Supports: 

 
 Twitter: @dccsportsrec   
 Facebook: DublinCitySportandWellbeing 

 
 Instagram: @dublincitysportandwellbeing 

 
Dublin City Sport & Wellbeing Virtual Hub 
Dublin City Sport & Wellbeing Partnership Virtual Hub support continues virtually via 
dcwsphub.ie 
 
South East Area Highlights June 2021 
 

 Green Scene is a DCSWP aimed at maximising use of outdoor/green spaces around 
the city for the delivery of programmes during the summer months.  The following 
outdoor Zumba programmes is aimed at underactive female adults and is a 
continuation of Change for Life, the flagship 8-week programmes delivered across 
March and April 2021 via the DCSWP virtual hub.   

 
Date/time and location: Tuesdays from 8:30am in Harold’s Cross Park.  
Partners:   Local Home School Liaison Officer 
Estimated Number of Programme Participants (per session): 14 Participants 
Programme Start Date: 18th May  
Programme End Date: 27th July 
 

 The outdoor Men on the Move fitness programme is delivered in partnership with the 
HSE/DCSWP Health Improvement Officer and is aimed at improving fitness levels and 
increasing physical activity among older males in the South East Area (age 55+).  

 
Date/time and location: Tuesday and Thursday 7pm in St Joseph’s School, Terenure 
(outdoor) 
 
Estimated Number of Programme Participants per session:  14 participants 

 
Programme Start Date: 18th May  
 
Programme End Date: 29th July 
 

Page 153

https://twitter.com/dccsportsrec
https://www.facebook.com/DublinCitySportandWellbeingPartnership/
https://www.facebook.com/DublinCitySportandWellbeingPartnership/
http://www.dcswphub.ie/


 DCSWSP continues to provide online supports in the South East area. This online 
pilates class is aimed at mixed adults every Monday over the next period: 

 
Date/time and location: Monday 6:30pm (Online)  
Estimated Number of Programme Participants (per session):  30 participants 
Programme Start Date: 14th June 
Programme End Date: 26th July 

 
 Forever Fit is DCSP’s core programme which supports older adults in communities to 

stay fit and active. This outdoor chair yoga class is aimed at mixed older adults and is 
an adaptation of traditional yoga: 

 
Date/time and location: Friday 11:30am Bushy Park Padel and Tennis Club, Terenure  
Estimated Number of Programme Participants:  14 participants 
Programme Start Date: 4th June 
Programme End Date: 25th June 
 

 Multiple activities will be taking place in primary schools across the area in June to 
celebrate Active Schools week 2021. Activities will include frisbee, orienteering, 
cricket, fitness, and basketball.  

 
Date/time and location: Harold’s Cross, Terenure, Rathmines, Baggot Street 
Estimated Number of Programme Participants (per session):  25 participants per session 

in pods of 15.  Estimated Total: 500-600 participants across the week.  
Programme Start Date: 14th June  
Programme End Date: 18th June 
 

 Champions is the core programme dedicated to providing opportunities for people with 
physical, intellectual and sensory disabilities to partake in sport & physical activity.  
This multi-sport programme is aimed at young adults, aged 18-21 years, and is 
delivered in partnership with St Michael’s House, Turas, Rathmines and DCSWP 
Boxing and Rugby Officers.  

 
Date/time and location: Tuesdays (times various TBC) St Michael’s House/Turas Rathmines 
Estimated Number of Programme Participants (per session):  14 participants 
Programme Start Date: 8th June  
Programme End Date: 20th July 
 

 Youth Fit summer  programme focus on providing young people in the area with outlets 
to enjoy sport and physical activity during the school break between June and August:  
will be delivered from June to July with the possibility of extending delivery depending 
on demand:  

1. Youth Fit programme: Teenage Girls Tag Rugby  
 
Date/time and location: Tuesday 2-3pm Pearse Street Recreation Astro Pitch 
Estimated Number of Programme Participants (per session):  14 participants 
Programme Start Date: 1st June 
Programme End Date: 29th June  

 

2. Youth Fit programme: Riccy’s Youth Services Summer Programme (10-21 years) 
 

Page 154



Date/time and location: Various times and Locations including Phoenix Park, Dublin 
Mountains, the Grand Canal and Ringsend Park. 
Estimated Number of Programme Participants (per session):  6-12 participants depending 

on activity type 
Programme Start Date: 18th June 
Programme End Date: 29th July  
 

3. Youth Fit programme: Riccy’s Youth Services Summer Programme/St. Andrew’s 
Youth Services  Programme & Aungier St. Youth Services Programme (10-21 years) 

 
Date/time and location: Various times and Locations including Phoenix Park, Dublin 

Mountains, the Grand Canal and Ringsend Park. 
Estimated Number of Programme Participants (per session):  6-12 participants depending 
on activity type 
Programme Start/End Date: 18th June – 29th July (Riccy’s Youth Services) 
Programme Start/End Date: 6th June – 26th July (St. Andrew’s Youth Services) 
Aungier St. Youth Service dates TBC.  
 
Sport inclusion & Integration Update 
 

 Sports Ability is a weekly adapted and inclusive water sports programme. Individuals 
from across Dublin age 12-17 years and 18 years plus will participate in the programme 
including participants from the South East Area.  The following groups and 
organisations will be participating: 
 

 CRC Raheny/Clontarf 

 St. Michael’s House 

 Vision Sports Ireland 

 St. John of Gods 

 Brothers of Charity, St. Vincent’s Centre, 

 CDETB 

 NLN: National Learning Network 

 Down Syndrome Dublin  
 
Date/time and location: Tuesdays East Wall Watersports Centre & Ballyfermot Youth 
Services Adventure Centres. Times TBC 
Estimated Number of Programme Participants (per session):  6 participants 
Programme Start Date: 14th June  
Programme End Date: 10th August  
 

 The Sports Ability Adapted Rowing programme is delivered in Islandbridge Municipal 
Rowing Centre.  Individuals with Disabilities from across Dublin age 18 + years will 
participate in Rowing including participants from the South East Area.  The following 
groups and organisations will be participating: 

 

 CRC  

 St. John of Gods 
 
Date/time and location: Thursdays, Rowing Centre, Islandbridge. Times TBC. 
Estimated Number of Programme Participants (per session):  6 participants 
Programme Start Date: 1st July   
Programme End Date: 12th August  
 

Page 155



 The Sports Ability Adapted Multi-sports is targeted at individuals with Autism from 
across the city age 18+ years.  
 

Date/time and location: Tuesday afternoons, Donaghmede Park, Dublin 13. 
Estimated Number of Programme Participants (per session):  12 participants 
Programme Start Date: 15th June 2021 
Programme End Date: 20th July 2021 

 
 The Sports Ability Summer Camp aimed at children with physical disabilities involves 

a week of multiple adapted sports for children aged 6-12 years. 
 
Date/time and location: IWA Sport Clontarf, St. Anne’s Park and East Wall Watersports 
Centre. Monday 5th July – Friday 9th July 2021 
Estimated Number of Programme Participants (per session):  12 participants 
Programme Start Date: 5th July 2021 
Programme End Date: 9th July 2021 
 

 The Sports Ability Summer Camp for visually impaired children is a two week adapted 
multi-sport event for children aged 6-12 years. This will be delivered virtually with 
DCSWP Sport Inclusion and integration Officers SIIO’s providing online videos and 
activities for children with Vision Impairments. 

 
Partners (If any): Child Vision 
Date/time and location: Monday 5th July – Friday 11th July 2021 (Virtual Event) 
Estimated Number of Programme Participants (per session):  12 participants 
Programme Start Date: 5th July 2021 
Programme End Date: 11th July 2021 

 
 The Sports Ability ‘Learn 2 Cycle’ programme is aimed at individuals with physical 

disabilities, mental health difficulties, ethnic minority groups and women from the 
Travelling Community from across the city age 6 upwards.  SIIO’s are delivering this 
programme in conjunction with Cycling Ireland. Due to popular demand extra courses 
had to be facilitated. There remains a large waiting list for this course.   
 

Date/time and location: Tuesdays 1.30- 2.15pm (Disability), 2.30pm- 3.15pm (ethnic minority 

group), 4pm-4.45pm (Disability) 
Wednesdays 11am-11.45am, (Travelling community) 
Estimated Number of Programme Participants (per session):  6 participants.  
Programme Start Date: 15th June 2021 
Programme End Date: 27th July 2021 
 

 Other highlights include ongoing online Sports Ability Education & Training in 
partnership with CARA. 

 

Co-Funded Officer Update 

Athletics, Cricket, Football, Rowing and Rugby school programmes continue before the 
summer break after which officers will be delivering their annual summer camps.  
 

 In Cricket Schoolyard sessions continue in the South East are being delivered in St. 
Joseph’s Terenure every Wednesday from 10am – 1pm aimed at children age 7-12 
years and in St. Patrick’s BNS, Ringsend every Monday from 11am – 1pm . 

 In Football the UEFA Football Chance Programme, a 40 session team building 
initiative aimed at 14 and 15 year olds June 8th – 11th and June 14 – 17th from 10 – 

Page 156



2pm in Irishtown stadium and Ringsend Park. Other area football highlights highlights 
include the resumption of Football for All (Disability) Programmes, Youth Mentoring 
programmes, After-school sessions, Coaching sessions and upcoming FAI soccer 
camps.  

 In Rowing on the water sessions have resumed and upcoming summer camps 
commence on 28th June. 

 In Rugby highlights include the Give it a try programme aimed at widening participation, 
the new ‘Tag4EveryMum’ initiative which encourages mothers of young players to get 
involved, better understand the game and get back into sport, upcoming Tag Blitz’s 
and the Bank of Ireland summer camps which commence in July.  

 
For full details on the above programmes and summer camps please contact Dee O’Boyle. 
Contact details below.  
 
General: 
Keep Well/ Keep Active Campaign 
 ‘Keep Well’, the Healthy Ireland and Central government backed national campaign was 
launched in October last year.  The campaign aims to highlight the critical importance of 
minding ourselves both physically and mentally during these uncertain times.  Keep Well is 
described as a ‘call to action’ to everyone across society whether at individual, organisational 
or voluntary level to support people in discovering the many ways we can work together to 
build community resilience. 
DCSWP received funding from Sport Ireland for three specific programmes, two of which were 
halted temporarily due to Covid restrictions but are now due to be delivered.  
 
Orienteering  
In late 2020 DCSWP teamed up with Orienteering Ireland to support young people, families 
and adults of all abilities to take up something a little different. Orienteering provides great 
opportunities for everyone to develop important life skills, build self-esteem and learn the 
benefits of teamwork in the great outdoors. Training workshops delivered by Orienteering 
Ireland in October 2020 have provided DCSWP Sport Officers with the knowledge and 
practical understanding of teaching the basic skills of orienteering to get groups up and 
running.  
DCSWP has also worked closely with Orienteering Ireland around the use of technology to 
map parks and locations across the Dublin region that can potentially play host to orienteering 
programmes and maximise the delivery of this very positive outdoor initiative in parks and 
green spaces in the city.  
DCSWP continues to engage with Orienteering Ireland around the roll out and delivery of the 
programmes. Trial programmes are ongoing in parks across the city.   
 
Training 

 

 Online Safeguarding Training to support compliance in local clubs and organisations 
resumed with Safeguarding 1 Training on 15th February.  Training is provided by 
DCSWP Officers. Safeguarding 2 & 3 will be advertised following this and further 
programmes will be delivered on an on-demand basis.  

 
 In partnership with CARA, the online Disability & Inclusion and Autism in Sport training 

programmes launched in 2020.  This is part of a series of online Disability in Sport 
training programmes already in operation. The programme for 2021 is delivered on the 
first Tuesday of every month on an ongoing basis. 
 

  Dublin City Sport & Wellbeing Partnership has recently been invited to apply for the 
CARA ‘Xcessible’ Bronze medal award.  Through the Xcessible programme CARA 
enables Local Sports Partnerships to provide meaningful opportunities for people of 

Page 157



disabilities to take part, sustain participation and excel in sport and physical activity. 
DCSWP has 12-18 months before providing evidence of our work and journey to the 
Xcessible committee. DCSWP Sport Officers and Administrative staff are currently 
completing their Xcessible training to support the application.  

 
Sport for Young People – Small Grant Scheme 2021  
Sports clubs operating within the administrative area of Dublin City Council and affiliated to a 
National Governing Body have been invited to apply for financial assistance from the Sport for 
Young People – Small Grant Scheme (4-21 years of age) which is funded and administered 
by Sport Ireland and the Dublin City Sport & Wellbeing Partnership. 
The scheme, its purpose and information on the application process, was advertised on 31st 
March on the DCC website and all social media platforms.  It was also communicated via 
email to National Governing Bodies and over 180 clubs on the DCSWP club database.  Clubs 
across the city were then afforded three weeks to submit applications before the closing date 
of Friday 23rd April.  
Decisions on the 170 applications received for 2021 will be submitted in due course. 
 
Upcoming in the South East Area: 
Other upcoming highlights for the summer programme include Women in Sport Golf 
Programmes in Ringsend Park, Women in Sport General Fitness programmes in Irishtown 
stadium and Children’s Yoga in the Park in Herbert Park.  Full details will be included in the 
July report.   

Page 158



 
CONTACT DETAILS: 
 

Name Role Contact Information 

Shauna Mc Intyre General Manager, DCSWP shauna.mcintyre@dublincity.ie 

Aideen O’Connor Programmes & Services 
Manager, DCSWP 

aideen.oconnor@dublincity.ie 

Colin Sharkey Office Manager, DCSWP Colin.sharkey@dublincity.ie 

Michelle Malone Sport Officer, DCSWP Michelle.malone@dublincity.ie 

William Morris Sport Officer, DCSWP William.morris@dublincity.ie 

Marie Louise 
Reilly 

Sport Officer, DCSWP Marylouise.reilly@dublincity.ie 

David Phelan HSE Health Promotion & 
Improvement Officer 

Davidphelan6@mail.dcu.ie 

Lisa Kelly Sport Inclusion & Integration 
Officer, DCSWP 

Lisa.Kelly@dublincity.ie 

Nuala O’Donovan Sport Inclusion & Integration 
Officer, DCSWP 

Nuala.odonovan@dublincity.ie 

Colette Quinn Development Officer, Athletics colettequinn@athleticsireland.ie 

Gerard O’Donnell Development Officer, Athletics gerardodonnell@athleticsireland.ie 

Jonathan Tormey Development Officer, FAI Jonathan.tormey@fai.ie 

Chris McElligott Women’s Development 
Officer, FAI 

chris.mcelligott@fai.ie 

Ken Knaggs Rugby Development Officer Ken.knaggs@leinsterrugby.ie 

Larissa Muldoon Rugby Development Officer Larissa.muldoon@leinsterrugby.ie 

Fintan Mc Allister Development Officer, Cricket Fintan.mcallister@cricketleinster.ie 

Michael Carruth Development Officer, Boxing Michael_carruth@ymail.com 

Aoife Byrne Development Officer, Rowing Aoife.byrne@getgoinggetrowing.ie 

 
 
 
 
REPORT BY: 

Dee O’Boyle  

Dublin City Sport & Wellbeing  

dee.oboyle@dublincity.ie 

 

 
 
 

 

  

Page 159

file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/shauna.mcintyre@dublincity.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/aideen.oconnor@dublincity.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Colin.sharkey@dublincity.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Michelle.malone@dublincity.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/William.morris@dublincity.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Marylouise.reilly@dublincity.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Davidphelan6@mail.dcu.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Lisa.Kelly@dublincity.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Nuala.odonovan@dublincity.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/colettequinn@athleticsireland.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/gerardodonnell@athleticsireland.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Jonathan.tormey@fai.ie
chris.mcelligott@fai.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Ken.knaggs@leinsterrugby.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Larissa.muldoon@leinsterrugby.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Fintan.mcallister@cricketleinster.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Michael_carruth@ymail.com
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Aoife.byrne@getgoinggetrowing.ie
file://///dccdata/cande/Shared/EandC/Sport%20&%20Wellbeing%20Partnership/Communications/Area%20Committee%20Reports/Reporting%202020/Reporting%20Post%20March%202020/Central%20Area%20Reports/dee.oboyle@dublincity.ie


 
 
Mary Taylor 
Director of Services, South City    Dated: 9th June 2021 

Page 160



 
Parks, Biodiversity & Landscape Services, 

Civic Offices, Wood Quay, Dublin 8, Ireland 
 
 

 
To the Chairperson and Members  
of the South East Area Committee 
 

 
Re:  Proposed Street Tree Maintenance Programme for 2021 and Tree 

Planting undertaken for 2021 in the South East Area 
 

 
Street trees located on the following roads and parks in the South East Area will be 
prioritised for work in 2021.  Works will primarily involve tree pruning but may require 
additional work based on the condition assessment undertaken by the tree surgeon. 
 
The exact numbers of trees to be pruned will be determined by the value of competitive 
quotations received by competent tree surgeons.  
 

NO. TREE LOCATION TREE SPECIES NO. OF  
TREES 

WORKS TO BE 
CARRIED OUT 

1. 2 Ailesbury Road 
 

London Plane 1 Crown reduction 

2. 11 Malone Gardens 
 

Malus sp. 3 Crown raise 

3. Holybank Road Lower 
 

Birch 25 Crown raise 

4. Richview Park 
 

Malus sp. 12 Crown reduction 

5. Cowper Downs 
 

Lime 5 Crown reduction 

6. Larkfield grove 
 

Lime 6 Crown reduction 

7. Melvin Road 
 

Acer sp. 4 Crown reduction 

8. Belgrave Road 
 

Lime 7 Crown reduction 

9. St Kevin’s Park 
 

London Plane 7 Crown reduction 

10. Olney Crescent 
 

Lime 4 Crown reduction 

11. Olney Grove 
 

Lime 2 Crown reduction 

12. 38 Rathdown Drive 
 

Elm 1 Removal 

13. 1 Merrion View 
 

London Plane 1 Crown reduction 

Page 161



14. 30,32,34 Merlyn Road 
 

Lime 3 Crown reduction 

15. 2 Merlyn Drive 
 

Lime 1 Crown reduction 

16. 14 Ailesbury Drive 
 

Cherry 1 Removal 

17. Holyrood Park London Plane 2 Crown reduction 
 

18. Park Avenue Acer sp. 28 Crown reduction 
 

19. Mount Drummond 
Square 

Carpinus sp. 14 Crown reduction 
 

20. Rosary Terrace 
 

Lime 3 Crown reduction 

21. Albany Road Carpinus sp. 3 Crown reduction 
 

22. Grand Parade  Popular sp. 5 Crown reduction 
 

22 Church Park Court Variety 4 Removal 

23 Church Park Court Acer spp 1 Inspect cavity to 
determine 
removal/prune 

25 Mount Argus Road Fraxinus spp 3 Removal 
 

26 Mount Argus Park Various 2 Removal 
 

27 Windmill Park  Acer spp 1  Dead tree removal 
 

28 Derry Road Prunus 1 Dead tree removal 
 

29 Willie Pearse Park Variety 3 Dead tree removal 
 

30 Downpatrick Road Prunus 3 Removal 
 

31 Clogher Road  Tillia 50 Pruning 
 

32 Parnell Road Tillia 41 Crown raise/prune 
 

33 Brickfield Park Various 71  Removal due to 
variety of issues 
(41 removed winter 
20/21, 30 to be 
removed in 
autumn/winter 
21/22). 70 
replacements will 
be planted. 

 

Page 162



Approximately 86 No. trees were felled and removed during 2020/21 in the South East 
Area. This was primarily due to disease, old age in the case of mature tree stock and 
vandalism/drought in the case of younger trees.  
 
In excess of 216 No. trees were planted as replacements and as new planting along 
roadsides, in public parks and open spaces as succession planting so as we ensure that 
the city tree canopy is maintained for future generations. 
 
 
 
 
-----------------------------____________________________ 
Michael Noonan, 
Senior Executive Park Superintendent. 
South City Parks 

Page 163





 

 

 

Ringsend Park & Playground Upgrading Programme Report 
 

Arts, Culture & Recreation Strategic Policy Committee (SPC) June 2021 
 
Introduction  
The overall aim of Dublin City Council’s Parks & Landscape Services Play Strategy is to 
support and uphold UNCRC Article 31; the child’s right to play by providing high quality play 

facilities and supporting everyday play opportunities for children and young people as a rights 
based issue.  A key measure has been the adoption and implementation of the principle of 
‘Play Sufficiency’ which involves the provision of high quality and adequate quantity of a 
citywide infrastructure of play facilities and opportunities for play throughout Dublin city.    
 
Background                                                                                                                                                                                  
Dublin City Council Annual Playground Capital and Upgrading Programmes are an ongoing 
priority for the city.  This involves public engagement that includes children and young people 
in re-imagining existing and the design and planning of new play facilities.  During 2020 
Ringsend Park Senior Playground has been the focus for a major playground upgrading. 
Ringsend Park is operating for over 70 years and includes: 
 

- 2 x Playgrounds; 1 x junior and 1 x senior.  
- 1 x Full Size Synthetic football Pitch 
- 1 x 7-a-side Synthetic Pitch 
-  A Number of Soccer Pitches 
- 1 x GAA Pitches 
- 4 x Tennis Court 
- 1 x 400m Athletics Track (part of stadium) 
- 1 x Orienteering Circuit 
- 3 x Outdoor Gym Circuits 
- 5 x All Weather 5-a-side Football Pitches (part of stadium)  
- 1 x Basketball Court 
- Community Allotments 
- DCC Sports & Leisure Centre 

 
During 2020 it was identified that the senior playground was in need of upgrading and repair 
and a major renewal works programme was developed to include opportunities for play for 
older children/ teenagers. And as much as is practicable also includes accessible and have 
inclusive play elements.  
 
Progress to date 

 
Public Engagement 
The extent and uncertainty of Covid 19 restrictions has presented many challenges with regard 
to ensuring the involvement and participation of children and young people in the design and 
planning of new and upgrading of existing play facilities. This has influenced how the city 
council carried out the 2020 AND 2021 Playground Upgrading Programmes. In order to 
overcome these issues, notice and details of upcoming works as well as facilitating the 
opportunity for comments are provided. As much is was practicable, engagement with local 
residents is carried out through online information on DCC Parks Facebook page, DCC 
website as well as articles in local newsletters and e-zines in addition to providing signage at 
playgrounds locations where works are due to commence. The design brief for each project 
was based on information gleaned from previous consultations with children and young people 
living within the project catchment area and results of DCC Citywide Play Strategy Online 
Survey ‘Have Your Say About Play’.  One of the key issues that came up within this survey 
was the provision of play and recreational space and opportunities for older 
children/teenagers, equality of access in terms of opportunities for inclusive play and provision 

Page 165



 

 

 

and access to natural environments as part of play provision in order to facilitate sensory, 
tactile, and open-ended play experiences.  
 
Engagement with Ringsend College Students regarding ‘Project Park Proposal’ 
During the development of the design plans for the upgrading of Ringsend Park Senior Play 
Area, two students from Ringsend Technical College had been developing a proposal for the 
redevelopment of the overall park.  The students were encouraged by the successful 
consultation process of another DCC Playground project; the final design and installation of 
the new playground at Sean Moore Park, and wanted to engage in a similar process for 
Ringsend Park. The initial aim of the project was to look at the play and recreational facilities 
for older children/teenagers, but as the project developed, the students have taken into 
consideration the benefits of a more intergenerational approach that will benefit the wider 
community.   
 
Following on from this, as Play Development Officer I had a number of meetings (virtually) 
with the students, local councillors, teachers and Google community liaison officer. This 
resulted in the students gaining the opportunity to present their ‘Project Park’ proposal at the 
2021 April South East Area Committee Meeting where it was received with great positivity by 
all councillors etc. I have also agreed to continue to work with the students as key liaison and 
realise as much of their proposal as is reasonably practicable and in alignment with DCC 
Parks and Landscape Services overall parks upgrading programme and associated Budgets 
for Ringsend Park. It is also hoped that there will be some collaborative work with Ringsend 
Tech, Google etc. 
 
The outcome to date has been in identifying similarities in elements of the student’s proposal 
to those included in the upcoming ‘Youth Space’, street workout/ninja warrior, trampolines and 
hang out spaces etc. and also identifying additional elements for inclusion in the design 
proposal for the overall Ringsend Park Upgrade and the Senior Playground Renewal.  
 
Additional Funding 
The Ringsend Park Senior Playground Renewal Project was allocated a substantial budget of 
€114,000 in order to provide a high quality play facility for older children/teenagers. However, 
a review of tender submissions has presented the benefits of additional funding with regard to 
completing a second phase of this project in order to include additional elements to further 
enhance and complete this type of facility – Youth Space. This is part of an ongoing process 
that will see the park become a destination site for older children that will provide age 
appropriate challenging and exciting opportunities for play for this age cohort.  Therefore an 
opportunity to secure additional funding was provided by Department of Children Equality, 
Disability, Integration and Youth (DECDIY) with regarding to capital funding for play facilities. 
The funding application   ‘Play Sufficiency Phase 4 – Teenage Kicks at Ringsend Park’ was 
completed by DCC Play Development and submitted to DECDIY. Subsequently, the amount 
of €16,833 has been awarded to provide some of the outstanding elements for Ringsend 
Senior Play Area which in turn will take on board some of the elements within the Ringsend 
College ‘Park Project’ proposals.   
 
The tables below set out comparative elements of both DCC Ringsend Park Senior 
Playground Upgrade, DCC Annual Parks & Upgrading Programmes and Ringsend College 
Students ‘Park Project’ proposal. 
 
Comparative Table Re: Elements of Ringsend Park Senior Playground Upgrading & Ringsend 
College Students ‘Project Park’ Proposal 

Page 166



 

 

 

Elements of DCC Ringsend Park 
Senior Playground Upgrading 
Proposal 

Elements of 
Ringsend College 
Students ‘Project 
Park’ Proposal  

Comments 

Street Workout Area - JWO-0103 
Configuration Street Workout 3                                                                   
Parkour Wall                                                                          

Going forward this equipment has 
the potential to be extended  

Ultimate Warrior 
Course which could 
inspire which could 
inspire people to 
improve fitness and 
increase course 
completion times 

This has been researched 
and is similar if not the same 
equipment as requested in 
@Project Park Proposal. 

Amphitheatre seating around the 
trampoline play unit plus which 
includes oak sleepers to create an 
informal social of viewing space for 
teenagers (seats approx. 16 
people)                                       4 x 
JME-0001 Leaf Seats                                                    
Picnic Benches 

New benches with 
charging ports and 
maybe even WIFI 

Does not include charging 
ports but this may be 
something that can be 
explored in the future 

Modulus Circle 60; Large Circular 
Trampoline with 6 x components 

 

Built in trampolines 
and/or rock climbing 
wall 

Similar idea of trampoline 

No rock climbing wall but 
idea can be reviewed and 
agreed pending sufficient 
budget and further 
consultation. 

Additional Equipment – V-Bridge; 
additional element to existing 
space net 

N/A Similar idea as climbing units 
provide dynamic active play 
for teenagers 

Hammock swing including entry 
post; additional element to existing 
space net 

N/A Play for teenagers or dual 
purpose of informal seating  

Ancillary Items: bike rack, bins, 
fencing, gates,  

Incorporating natural landscape in 
overall design 

General Upgrading of 
the overall park 

Providing ancillary items and 
improving and utilising 
existing parkland contributes 
to overall park improvement 

 
  

Page 167



 

 

 

Comparative Table Re:  Elements outstanding from ‘Project Park’ Proposal and alignment with 
DCC Annual Park & Playground Upgrading Programmes 
 

Elements Outstanding Re: 
Ringsend College Students 
‘Project Park’ Proposal  

DCC Annual Park & 
Playground  
Upgrading 
Programmes 

Comments 

Built in Volleyball or Spike Ball  
nets – inclusive 

Concrete Foozeball 
(concrete outdoor – 
inclusive ) 

Both Proposed elements can 
be reviewed and agreed 
pending additional funding 
(DCEDIY) and  further 
consultation 

Built in Concrete Ping Pong 
tables(Concrete Outdoor – 
inclusive ) 

Teq One Table 
(Curved table 
tennis/soccer table – 
inclusive) 

Both Proposed elements can 
be reviewed and agreed 
pending additional funding 
(DCEDIY) and  further 
consultation 

N/A Inclusive Interpretive 
Boards  

Can be provided through 
2021/2 DCC Playground 
Upgrading Programme. 

N/A Inclusive Percussion 
and musical element 

Can be provided through 
2021/2 DCC Playground 
Upgrading Programme. 

Skate Park or Skate Bowls Additional Parkour 
Elements for senior 
and junior play areas  

Requires further research  
see ‘next steps’ 

New Gym Equipment specifically 
for the elderly with build in wipes 
and sanitizers 

Possibility Requires Further Research  
see ‘next steps’ 

Splash Pads – inclusive  

 

Possibility  May require further research; 
If the splash pads are the jet 
fountains DCC would be 
unable to install as the cost 
for construction and 
maintenance of the pumps 
would be significant and not 
appropriate to the park. 
These are normally seen in 
urban plazas where they are 
designed as part of a civic 
space with the added value 
of being interactive for play.  

Fountain Possibility See above 

 
Overall the newly designed ‘Youth Space’ will creatively maximize the potential of Ringsend 
park to provide the addition of challenging, interesting , accessible and partly inclusive play 
experiences for older children/teenagers aged approximately 12 – 16 years and provide a 
springboard for similar projects in the city’s park and public spaces. Please see preferred 

Page 168



 

 

 

tenderer ‘Creative Play Solutions’ final design proposal for the first phase of this upgrading 
programme attached.   
   
Next Steps 
 

- DCC Play Development Officer will continue to liaise with Ringsend College Board and 
students to move this project forward. This will involve:  

o Further consultation with children and young people and the wider Ringsend 
Community 

o DCC will carry out an in-house scoping exercise to confirm and agree the 
potential for further upgrading element.  

o The students – Darrel Poole and Malcom Denby will continue to be involved in 
this project and are also key contacts for Ringsend Youth Club where they 
volunteer and it is planned to include this group in future consultation. 

 
Debby Clarke –  
Dublin City Council Play Development Officer  
June 2021 

 

Page 169





Design Proposal: Ringsend Park - Senior Play Area

Legend               
Tarmac
Grass
Woodfibre
Tiger Mulch
Existing Fence
Fence Relocation
Play Area Signage
Street Workout Signage
Images used for illustration purposes

10

Street Workout Area9

Parkour Run-Off Wall

Hammock Swing2

V Bridge3

Modular Trampoline7

Leaf Seat x 41

8

11

1 2

3
6

5

11

10

4

9
Mound 

0.6m High

12

Bike Rack4

Scooter Rack5

Amphitheatre Seating in 
Oak Sleepers6

7

8

9

13

12

13

P
age 171





Question to the Chief Executive    South East Area Committee  
        Meeting 14th June 2021 
 
Q.1 Councillor Dermot Lacey 

To ask the manager if he will have the crash barriers along the approach road to the 
East Link Bridge parallel to the boat clubs to be repaired/replaced as a matter of 
urgency, given their very deleterious and potentially dangerous condition. 

 
Q.2 Councillor Mary Freehill 

Would the manager please give me an up to date on progress on motion I got passed 
over a year ago requesting replacement of road sign at Parnell Avenue, D12?  Please 
let me know the reason for delay and when it will be installed. 
 

Q.3 Councillor Dermot Lacey 
To ask the Manager if the works requested in the email below can be carried out as 
soon as possible. 

 
“The footpaths around the area of Mountpleasant Upper/Lower and Gulistan Terrace 
are yet again in a terrible state.  Weeds are growing everywhere again - we were 
promised last year that this would be dealt with regularly” 
 

Q.4 Councillor Paddy McCartan 
To thank the manager for the installation of the new bin on Park Avenue, Sandymount 
and to request that it will be emptied on a more regular basis. 

 
Q.5 Councillor Paddy McCartan 

To ask the manager to respond to the issue raised by a constituent enclosed in the 
following email. 
 
He writes: 
 
"Traffic calming- Herbert Green/Oaklands /Park/Drive, Sandymount 
Now that the evenings are getting longer and the weather is better there are children 
playing on the above roads. 
 
Cars turn off Serpentine Ave, sometimes at speed and it is a concern to parents with 
their children on the street. 
 
Would it be possible to engineer traffic calming measures at the Herbert 
Green/Serpentine Ave intersection to slow down cars as they take the corner? 
 
Also would it be possible to introduce children at play signage to educate and warn 
drivers?  
 
The road also does require a resurface and re-marking." 
 

Q.6 Councillor Paddy McCartan 
To ask the manager to have the bins located on the walkway adjacent to the Dodder 
and Aviva Stadium emptied on a regular basis. 
 

Q.7 Councillor Deirdre Conroy 
To ask the manager why are Bushy Park toilets in the sports dressing rooms still 
closed?  I have asked for them to be opened last month and when will these necessary 
toilets be opened for children playing sports ASAP? 

 

Page 173



Q.8 Councillor Deirdre Conroy 
To ask the Manager if the Bins that have been removed from Harold’s Cross Park can 
be replaces as soon as possible due to the number of people sitting in the park and 
not enough bins available. 

 
Q.9 Councillor Deirdre Conroy 

To ask the Manager, repeat of my question from last year, when will the Bushy Park 
side parking space on Rathdown Avenue and the roads around Bushy Park be altered 
in order to avoid danger of ambulance not getting access, cars speeding on a two lane 
where there is only room for one way. I have seen the major issue when I visited 
Saturday Market at Bushy Park recently. 

 
Q.10 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager issue a full report and update on the ongoing situation of the 
development and regeneration possibilities of Andrews Court Flat complex?   

 
Q.11 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager outline how DCC intend to manage the new pedestrianised areas in 
the South East Area?  This report to include times of opening and closing, times that 
alcohol is served and not served. Who is responsible for the cleaning of these areas? 
And whether all the restaurants, and cafes in these public areas can put out their tables 
and chairs?  Or is this process of outdoor dining/pedestrianisation just for one particular 
premises? 

 
Q.12 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager confirm whether the restaurants and bars and others on Camden 
Street and Wexford Street have made applications for outdoor dining or any such 
facilities?  
 

Q.13 Councillor Mannix Flynn 
Can the manager issue a full report and list of all those that have made applications in 
the SEA for street furniture, outdoor dining facility infrastructure and pedestrianisation 
of any areas?  

 
Q.14 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager give a full list of all staff that are available for the enforcement of 
street furniture licensing laws and outdoor dining and drinking laws? This report to 
include what staff are available in the evening time or on any 24hr basis and how do 
DCC intend to manage this particular initiative in a proactive manner.  
 

Q.15 Councillor Mannix Flynn 
Can the manager as matter of urgency have a further meeting with the residents group 
around the ongoing issues of antisocial behaviour and the safety of the Ffrench Mullen 
Housing complex and residents and the ongoing issue of the security lighting? 

 
Q.16 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager liaise with Parking Enforcement with regards parking for the 
residents at details supplied?  This residence has had long term parking available at 
their residence they are owners of a private landing and a basement that runs under 
their premise and are therefore legally entitled to park here without any issue.  Recently 
these people have been clamped causing major distress as they are car dependent 
due to ill health and mobility issues.  Can the manager issue a full report with regards 
resolving this particular issue? 
 

Q.17 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Page 174



Can the manager issue a full report with regards the status of the application by the 
Temple Bar Traders company for multi outdoor seating and dining facilities within the 
Temple Bar Cultural Quarter? 

 
Q.18 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager issue a report with regards the roll out of weeding control within the 
SEA?  Could the manager see fit to dealing with the major weed issue in and around 
the Portobello/St Kevin’s Area? 

 
Q.19 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager initiate a plebiscite for the residents of Leinster Square to deal with 
the issue of on street parking and residential parking issues?  This area is generally 
chaotic when it comes to parking with many of the residents deeply frustrated about 
the ad-hoc arrangements where many of them have to drive around for hours to find a 
parking space.  It would help enormously if a plebiscite was initiated and a desirable 
outcome for the residents achieved. 

 
Q.20 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager issue a full report with regards DCC’s intention to remove the bring 
containers, clothing containers and bottle containers on Milltown Road bring bank?  It 
was indicated recently that these containers would be relocated to a much more 
appropriate location.  There is a constant issue of dumping at this location which is 
now having a negative impact on the location, residents and the many people who use 
the bring centre and its car park.  Many people complained recently of a smell of rancid 
alcohol coming from the bottle bank.  On a recent visit by myself, I discovered many 
items of discarded clothing and cardboard thrown about the place.  See photos. 

 
Q.21 Councillor Mary Freehill 

Would the manager please outline what process is in place to protect street furniture 
i.e. footpath slabs when they are lifted for maintenance work?  There was a case on 
Grove Road recently where slabs were not put in a place of safety during ESB work 
and new ones had to be laid.  This involved extra cost and shade variation. 

 
Q.22 Councillor Anne Feeney 

To ask the Manager to have the badly broken off pavement outside (Details supplied) 
removed and the path repaired. The broken off piece is at least 2 foot x 10 inches.  An 
elderly lady nearly had an accident on it over recent days, because it is out on the 
road.  It also presents a danger for cars on this busy road.  
 

Q.23 Councillor Anne Feeney 
To ask the Manager to have the badly broken pavements on Greenlea Terenure 
repaired.  They are particularly bad on Greenlea Avenue, Greenlea Park and Greenlea 
Drive. 

 
Q.24 Councillor Anne Feeney 

To ask the Manager to provide an update  in relation to why the single yellow line at 
details supplied have not been put back to a pay and display. 

 
Q.25 Councillor Danny Byrne 

To ask the Manager to have the signage at Irishtown Nature Park painted.  These 
signs are in bad need of being painted. 
 

Q.26 Councillor Danny Byrne 
To ask the manager if the crash barriers at the Stella Maris Rowing Club and Poolbeg 
Boat Club Could be renewed. The crash barriers are currently in very poor condition 

Page 175



and a health and safety risk given how busy this road is beside the East Link Toll 
Bridge. 

 
Q.27 Councillor Danny Byrne 

To ask the manager for a report in the housing case of details supplied. 
 
Q.28 Councillor Carolyn Moore 

To ask the area manager if something can be done about dangerous and illegal 
parking on the Harold’s Cross Road at the corner of St. Clare’s Avenue, which has 
resulted in accidents. Cars parking on the footpath and on the double yellow lines are 
completely blocking the view of oncoming traffic. Residents need an intervention that 
will help them exit their street safely, and people with mobility issues require 
unhindered access to the footpath.  

 
Q.29 Councillor Carolyn Moore 

To ask the area manager if the footpath at 39-40 St Martin’s Park can be repaired. A 
deepening crack in the surface of the pavement presents a trip hazard.  

 
Q.30 Councillor Carolyn Moore 

To ask the area manager if additional bins can be provided in Herzog and Dartry parks 
where excessive levels of litter continue to be left behind in parks each weekend.  

 
Q.31 Councillor Carolyn Moore 

To ask the area manager if the green on Cashel Road (nearest Kildare Road), can be 
rolled to level the ground and flatten the tyre tracks from scrambler use to prepare the 
grass for mowing. 

 
Q.32 Councillor Carolyn Moore 

To ask the area manager why the Astro pitch in Herzog Park is closed and what the 
projected duration of the closure might be?  

 
Q.33 Councillor Carolyn Moore 

To ask the area manager what can be done to prevent drivers from regularly breaching 
the one-way requirement of Maxwell Road, where drivers are turning off Frankfort 
Avenue, despite the clear signage, and driving the wrong way up Maxwell Road to 
access Maxwell Lane. This is a residential street with high levels of on-street parking 
and breaching the one way requirement is both illegal and dangerous. 

 
Q.34 Councillor Carolyn Moore 

To ask the area manager what management plan is in place to control the crowds 
gathering to drink at the Dropping Well on evenings and at weekends.  

 
Q.35 Councillor James Geoghegan 

To ask the Manager if he can write to the NTA and BusConnects exploring whether all 
traffic lanes on Nutley Lane as currently proposed are absolutely necessary as per the 
latest iteration of the BusConnects proposal.  

 
Q.36 Councillor James Geoghegan 

To ask the Manager if he could address the issues outlined in the email below;  
 
“I have reached out to the council and some local authority reps but heard nothing 
back...so hoping you can help 
 
1. A few areas we'd like to bring to attention are the use of laneways behind the houses 
between elmwood avenue, elmpark avenue by homeless people for drinking or use as 

Page 176

https://scanner.topsec.com/?t=de52744e6ac1ef6151f9f68cc295d4d29b2e1148&d=1962&u=back...so&r=show


a bathroom...it raises serious safety concerns. The lanes are looked after by 
the council and kept relatively clean but recently I have seen it being used as a toilet 
and drinking spot (which the gardai cant do anything about..) I worry because right 
outside my back courtyard is one of the spots used and I dont feel very safe with a 
door opening onto it. Similar laneways have been gated off and this would be 
something we would love to see happen. 
 
2. The general acceptance of all day works happening. This is a residential street 
adjacent to Lidl yet they are out cutting and grinding at 1.30 in the morning. They use 
our street for illegal parking during works etc. Surely this is not in the public interest. 
Are permits being granted for this? Would be good to be informed. 
 
3. Also given the close proximity to shops there is obviously a need to live side by side 
with businesses. However on at least 10 occasions in the last 3 months, alarms have 
been sounding all night between Milano's, Galvin lettings and more recently Lidl... I 
don't know if other people cant hear or just don't speak up but I have called the gardai 
and businesses about this and nobody is monitoring any of the alarms so we are left 
listening to noise disturbances all night. Surely someone can be held more accountable 
if noise disturbances occur?  
 
4. On the same point Rita’s pizzeria is a constant stop off spot on our street. Cars park 
anywhere they please for delivery collection and we have o leave the blinds shut every 
Friday and Saturday as the turnaround is literally non stop. Perhaps more patrolling for 
illegal parking would help. Also given this is a residential street Rita’s being the only 
commercial property we have just spotted seating on the footpaths outside across from 
our windows. Again I am concerned that this is business 1st residents 2nd Rita’s 
severely lets down the street with drinking while waiting pizza box litter. Traffic and 
now outdoor seating. I would ask that it be checked are they permitted to have outdoor 
seating and if so would object as this is a residential street now having our basic privacy 
depleted. 
 
5. Last point (I promise!) have asked the council to have the tree outside number 2 
reinstated. The road boasts  lovely mature trees but this is missing....It would serve as 
a great way to get privacy from the Main Street and Rita’s. A divide between 
commercial and residential. If nothing else can you help me get this replanted” 

 
Q.37 Councillor James Geoghegan 

To ask the Manager if he could address the issues outlined in the email below;  
“ 
Good evening, 
I wish to formally put on record my serious safety concerns for Comans Public House 
Rathgar, Rathgar Village.  
In particular the roof and chimney seems to be hazardous and extremely unsafe. 
Attached please find photographic evidence of cracks in the said structure. 
Please confirm receipt of this email and that remedial action will be immediately taken 
to avoid harm and possibly loss of life.” 

 
Q.38 Councillor James Geoghegan 

To ask the Manager if someone from the Parks Department could physically meet with 
Terenure Rangers club to explore the possibility of additional recreational space.  

 
Q.39 Councillor James Geoghegan 

To ask the Manager if he could consider the possibility of Mornington Road, Ranelagh 
being made permanently a one way road.  

 

Page 177

https://scanner.topsec.com/?t=d92fa2a3e3be1041e0e78cbd763b5e05d0b50248&d=1962&u=bathroom...it&r=show
https://scanner.topsec.com/?t=481ccb1410303e0bc8242f178d4fc825c9a08261&d=1962&u=missing....It&r=show


Q.40 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 
To ask the manager the level of engagement with an Garda Siochána and Tuath in 
respect of anti-social behaviour at Ffrench Mullen house and to clarify who is 
responsible for the walkway along there.  

 
Q.41 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 

To ask the manager to replace the AstroTurf in South Lotts Park. 
 

Q.42 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 
To ask the manager to provide cleansing of the large bins in Greenore Court. 

 
Q.43 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 

To ask the manager if literature explaining changes to Camden Street regarding Covid-
recovery, parking etc. could be distributed to residents and businesses in that area. 

 
Q.44 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 

To ask the manager to clear the storm drains in the laneway on Londonbridge Road. 
There is a blockage in the laneway.  
 

Q.45 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 
To ask the manager to repair the broken street and the broken shore at Fairview 
Avenue, Ringsend details supplied: 
 

Q.46 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 
To ask the manager to repair the broken stone bollard at the corner of City Quay and 
Petersons Court. 

 
Q.47 Councillor Tara Deacy 

Following up on previous emails sent can in relation to this issue, can tree pruning 
outside 5 and 6 Derry Drive take place as a matter of urgency? The residents are both 
elderly and have health issues and are very worried that they might slip or fall and the 
trees are obstructing their view. Can we address this ASAP?  It wasn’t carried out last 
year and needs attention.  

 
Q.48 Councillor Tara Deacy 

Following up on previous emails sent in relation to this can you let me know why the 
Astro pitch in Herzog Park has been closed and when is it due to re-open? 

 
Q.49 Councillor Tara Deacy 

Can the footpath at 404 Clonard Road be repaired?  It is a trip hazard for residents 
and needs to be fixed.  

 
Q.50 Councillor Tara Deacy 

What powers do DCC have in terms of a derelict privately owned home? The garden 
is completely over grown and neighbours suspect there may be a vermin issue.  Can 
DCC do anything in this case? 
 

Q.51 Councillor Tara Deacy 

During discussion of Motion 15 Councillor Danny Byrne to March’s SEAC meeting: 
 
 “To ask the manager to provide communication boards to be installed in playgrounds 
throughout Dublin City.  These boards allow children who are non-verbal or have 
challenges communicating to express themselves, increasing inclusion and 
independence” Cllr. Byrne commented that he prefers the low tech. option, because 
some people accompanying children with communication difficulties may be digitally 

Page 178



excluded, for whatever reason, and may not be able to use or access more IT based 
solutions.   
 
Please see below the response from Debby Clarke, Play Officer: 
 
 “Communication boards would be a useful addition to playgrounds however the 
feasibility and practicality of installing boards or other media in 67 playgrounds 
throughout the city requires further research. The Play Development Officer will consult 
with agencies e.g. the Disability Equality Specialist Support Agency (DESSA) (the 
national community development organisation working to support the full and equal 
participation of disabled people in Irish society by creating inclusive and non-disabling 
communities). Engagement with key user groups will also be undertaken in order to 
determine the benefits and costs. This could lead to a pilot project in a small number 
of playgrounds.” 
 
I had planned on submitting a similar motion for the June meeting. In light of the reply 
Cllr. Byrne has received can I ask that the Crumlin/Kimmage area be prioritised in the 
pilot, working alongside local groups who have sought such boards for some time? 

 
Q.52 Councillor Tara Deacy 

Can DCC sweep the gully drains in Derry Park, Lismore Road, Ferns Road, Cloyne 
Road, Sundrive Road (shopping area outside Apache Pizza & Credit Untione)? 

 
Q.53 Councillor Tara Deacy 

At the church end of the Mount Argus apartments there is a small building with a sign 
that says community. It does not appear to have been open or used yet but appears 
to contain spaces that would be ideal for local businesses. Do we know who will 
operate this space and whether it will be available for community activities? 

 
Q.54 Councillor Danny Byrne 

To ask the manager to have the foliage cut back at Glovers Court to help with the 
control of vermin in the complex. 

 
Q.55 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn  

To ask the Manager if he will arrange for a short fence around the tree of hope recently 
planted in George Reynolds flats to protect it. 

 
Q.56 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn  

To ask the Manager if additional measures against anti-social behaviour, such as 
fencing which was discussed with the residents group, have been installed for Ffrench 
Mullen House, the reason why a fence cannot be installed by DCC, and if he will update 
on other planned measures.  

 
Q.57 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn  

To ask the Manager if the external parts of the Whitefriar Gardens flats will be repainted 
and the area cleaned and restored to a satisfactory level. 

 
Q.58 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn  

To ask the Manager if additional measures have been deployed to tackle rat 
infestations in the inner city flats and if he will report on the additional measures which 
the City Council have resourced in the last 12 months after the previous report to 
Council. 

 
Q.59 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn  

Page 179



To ask the Manager the number of defibrillators installed at each of the City Council’s 
tenancy complexes which have more than 5 residents and if the City Council has plans 
to subsidise or fund the installation of more defibrillators. 

 
Q.60 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn  

To ask the Manager for an update on the installation of additional bins along Poolbeg 
peninsula and the surrounding area.  

 
Q.61 Councillor Claire Byrne  

To ask the Area Manager can he please assist the following family (details supplied)  
They have a serious overcrowding issue in their household and have been waiting 
many years for a transfer. Any assistance would be appreciated. 
 

Q.62 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn  
To ask the Manager if he will consult with the residents of Peterson’s Court and 
Dowling Court regarding the installation of play facilities for children in the area and on 
measures to tackle dog fouling. 

 
Q.63 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn  

To ask the Manager for an update on the Portobello Harbour public consultation and 
plans to advance same. 

 
Q.64 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn  

To ask the Manager if he will outline the conditions for prioritising city council flat 
complexes for regeneration and if he will list the flat complexes which have been 
prioritised and the complexes which may qualify or are being considered for priority in 
regeneration in the South East Area. 

 
Q.65 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn  

To ask the Manager if he can arrange for the repainting of the outdoor window frames 
of the Smock Alley flats. 

 
Q.66 Councillor Claire Byrne  

To ask the Area Manager if she can fix the pathway and roadway on Adelaide Road at 
the junction of Leeson Place as it floods during when it rains (see photo). 

 
Q.67 Councillor Claire Byrne  

To ask the Area Manager for an update on the redevelopment of the old public toilets 
at the junction of New Street, Patrick Street and Kevin Street. 

 
Q.68 Councillor Claire Byrne  

To ask the Area Manager can he please contact the owner of (details supplied: no. ?? 
Portobello Road - this building has been vacant for many years, and is completely 
overgrown and is now being used as a dumping ground for other people's waste and 
is causing rat problems for the neighbouring households. Can the Area Manager 
please take some action to resolve this issue?  

 
Q.69 Councillor Claire Byrne  

To ask the Area Manager what is the ownership status of the vacant, fenced off 
overgrown space on Liberty Lane and are Dublin City Council aware of any 
redevelopment plans in relation to this space?  

 
Q.70 Councillor Claire Byrne  

To ask the Area Manager what can be done to address an ongoing noise pollution and 
vibration issue caused to the householder of (details supplied There is a speed ramp 

Page 180



adjacent to this house which is causing very severe vibrations and shaking the home 
when vehicles cross it. This is especially true when heavier vehicles like large vans 
and lorries or when cars travelling at speed. Can the Manager please examine the 
situation with a view to finding a resolution so that this resident, who has some health 
issues, can get some peace? 

 
Q.71 Councillor Kevin Donoghue  

To ask the manager to clear weeds and moss that have built up along City Quay.  

Page 181




	Agenda
	1 Presentation on Strategic Housing Development SHD0010/21: Location: Maxol Filling Station and a vacant motor sales/service garage (formerly Michael Grant Motors), Beach Road, Dublin 4.
	2 Presentation regarding D12 Bike Bus
	3 Minutes of the South East Area Committee Meeting held on 10th May 2021
	4 Minutes of the Special Meeting of the South East Area Committee held on 25th May 2021
	5 Environment and Transportation Department Matters
	6 Planning and Property Development Department Matters
	Report on Proposed Disposal Grant of Licence - Plot adj 1 Strand Terr Milltown Map
	Report on Proposed Disposal- Brickfield Park to St John Bosco
	Report on Proposed Disposal- Brickfield Park to St John Bosco Map
	RPS Initiation Report to SEAC Add 657 148-152 Harolds Cross Rd
	RPS Initiation Report to SEAC Add708 Garland House 28-30 Rathmines Park Rathmines Dublin 6

	7 South East Area Office Matters
	8 Culture Recreation and Economic Services Department Matters
	2021 JUNE SEAC RINGSEND PARK  REPORT
	Ringsend Park Playground 2020 Proposal Combined Phases

	10 Questions for the Chief Executive 14th June 2021

